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• SAP                                 Systems, Applications & Products
• SCM   Supply Chain Management
• SHEQ   Safety, Health, Environment and Quality
• SLA   Service Level Agreement
• SO   Strategic Objective
• SS   Secondary School
• UW   Umgeni Water
• SOC   State Owned Company
• YTD   Year To Date
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Organisational 
Overview
1.1 Report Profile

This report outlines an integrated reporting on Msinsi strategies 
and activities for the financial year from 01 July 2018 to 30 June 
2019.

It focuses on key developments and material issues in the 
business environment. It further encompasses financial and 
non-financial information, including the organisational and 
strategic overview, divisional reports and organisational 
performance. 

The corporate governance report presents individual Board 
Members’ profiles and meeting attendance whilst 
organisational performance presents performance against 
predetermined objectives and financial reports. 

The performance content of this annual report presents Msinsi 
Holdings’ progress towards meeting predetermined objectives 
as per the Annual Performance Plan of the period under review.

The Annual Financial Statements presented in this report were 
audited by The Auditor General (SA). 

Msinsi Holdings’ annual report complies with the statutory 
disclosure requirements of the Public Finance Management Act 
(Act 1 of 1999) and Companies Act. Furthermore, it is aligned 
with the recommendations of King IV regarding integrated 
reporting.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the 
integrity of this annual report.  This annual report addresses all 
material issues and fairly presents the performance of the 
organisation. The assurance of the annual report for both 
performance and financial information is provided by Internal 
Audit and the Audit and Risk Committee of the Board. 

The Board confirms to have approved the release of the 
2018/2019 annual report.

Additional information pertaining to this report and its contents 
can be obtained from Msinsi Holdings Head Office at this 
address:

Physical Address:
Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Ltd
Unit 1 & 2, Block C, 
18 Old Main Road,
Hillcrest, 
3650

Postal Address:
Private Bag X 1020, 
Hillcrest, 
3650

Telephone number: +27 (31) 765 7724
Fax number: +27 (31) 765 7704
Email: info@msinsi.co.za
Website: www.msinsi.co.za

Company Secretary
Mr Sibusiso Madonsela 
Umgeni Water Head Office
P.O. Box 9,
Pietermaritzburg,
3200

Tel: +27 (33) 341 1544 /1066
Fax: +27 (33) 342 8895

Company Registration Number: 1992 / 003933/30
VAT Number: 443 0133 779
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1.2 Organisational Profile

1.2.1 History

Msinsi Holdings SOC Limited, trading as Msinsi Resorts and 
Game Reserves, was established on 13 July 1992; and 
underwent a name change from Shongweni Resources Reserve 
(Proprietary) Limited to Msinsi Holdings (Proprietary) Limited on 
25 March 1994. The company converted from a Proprietary 
(PTY) Limited to a State-Owned Company (SOC) Limited with 
effect from 23 June 2014.

1.2.2 Msinsi’s functional areas

Msinsi continued to ensure a structure that is aligned to its 
mandate and functions. Msinsi’s operations are categorised into 
two broad areas which include:
• The Services Provided to Umgeni Water as part of the   
 Service Level Agreement or Primary Function,
• Nature Based Tourism or Secondary Function
Msinsi’s functions are presented in the Figure below:

Msinsi Holdings 
SOC Ltd

Secondary Function

Nature based tourism 
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Primary function:
Water resource management

Biodiversity 
Management

Pollution
Control



a) Primary function: Water Resource Management 

The primary function of Msinsi is to manage the water resources 
of Umgeni Water owned dams and the dams that Umgeni 
Water manages on behalf of the Department of Water and 
Sanitation.  Effective management of the water resources 
contributes significantly to the value chain of water service 
delivery.  Therefore, Msinsi, through its activities, implements 
the dictates of the National Water Act; Act 36 of 1998 i.e. that 
national water resources are protected, used, developed, 
conserved, managed and controlled in an efficient and 
sustainable manner.  These dictates are consolidated into three 

strategic objectives of the National Water Resource Strategy 2 
(NWRS2) viz.: 
• Water supports development and reduction of 
 poverty and inequality.
• Water contributes to the economy and job creation.
• Water is protected, used, developed, conserved,   
 managed and controlled in an equitable and 
 sustainable manner.
The water resources management function is achieved through 
performing the following activities:
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• Roads ,Slipways , Buildings and 
Grounds

•  Fence Maintenance
•  Visitor Facilities, Campground and              
    Picnic Sites access control
•   Visitor Safety and Protection
•   Visitor Education 
•   Entrance Fee Collection
•   Logistics management

•   Accommodation 
•   Special events and activities

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT PARKS MANAGEMENT HOSPITALITY  MANAGEMENT

BIODIVERSITY MANAGEMENT POLLUTION CONTROL

• Alien plant eradication 
• Fire management
• Wildlife and Habitat Management
• Resource Utilization
• Land and Resource rehabilitation 
• Environmental Impact Assessment
• Manage neighbour relations
• Inspections and security patrol
• Water quality monitoring
• Fence Maintenance

• Waste Management

b) Secondary function: Nature Based Tourism

The ecotourism management function is achieved through performing the following activities: 



STRATEGIC
OVERVIEW

2
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Strategic  Overview
2.1 Vision, Mission, Strategic Intent, And Benevolent Intent 

Msinsi’s vision, mission, strategic intent and benevolent intent is illustrated below:

To be the water resource management agency of 

choice in the Water Sector.

VISION

STRATEGIC INTENT

Key Partner that enables Umgeni Water to deliver 

efficient and effective water services.

BENEVOLENT INTENT

Provide  water resources and environmental management 

services to improve quality of life and enhance local 

economic development.

MISSION

We manage the water resources and the environment 

around dams, to ensure their protection, 

development, effective use and ecological sustainability.
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2.2 Balanced Scorecard  

2.2.1 Strategic Goals

The company’s strategy and performance focused on four strategic goals during the year under review.

2.2.2 Balanced Score Card Perspectives

The following figure illustrates the balanced scorecard perspectives and the applicable  strategic objectives.

Improve services 
and be a key partner 

in the provision of 
sustainable 

environmental and 
biodiversity 

management 
services around 
water resources 

Improve funding 
and financial
management 

Strategic Goal 1: Strategic Goal 2:

Improve efficiency 
of all inputs

Strategic Goal 3:

Strengthen and 
develop quality 

human resources,  
water resources, 

infrastructure 
capacity and 

sustainability to 
support growth.

Strategic Goal 4:

Customer 

and 

Stakeholder  

Perspective

Financial 

Perspective

SO1: Increase services and        
          customers
SO2: Increase customer and                
          stakeholder value

SO3: Improve financial viability
SO4: Improve financial ratios

SO6: Improve infrastructure                  
          assets
SO7: Improve skills and                
          competency

Process 

Perspective

Organisational 

Capacity 

Perspective

SO5: Improve all key systems
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 2.3 Values

The following figure illustrates Msinsi’s Values.

We value and respect all people equally, cultivate accountability and 
engage the will of all people.

Respect 

We will nurture the creative potential of all our people.Creativity

We commit ourselves to the highest ethical conduct.Integrity

We adhere to courtesy, honesty and responsibility on our day to day 
engagements & service delivery. 

Professionalism 

We will partner with Umgeni Water, communities and other stakeholders to provide 
sustainable solutions to benefit customers and stakeholders

Customer 

Centric

We are committed to protecting our diminishing natural resources. Environmentally 

Conscious 
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2.4 Msinsi’s Mandate

Msinsi Holdings SOC Ltd is a Schedule 3B Public Entity under the 
PFMA, by virtue of it being a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Umgeni Water. The mandate of Msinsi is primarily to manage 
the water resources and secondarily to manage nature-based 
tourism at Msinsi’s operational sites.

The water resources management function comprises of the 
following activities:

• Biodiversity management (to protect the aquatic and   
 associated ecosystems and their biological diversity);
• Pollution   control (to   reduce   and   prevent   pollution    
 and   degradation   of   the   water resources);

Nature-based tourism management function comprises of the 
following activities:

• Facilities Management
• Parks Management
• Hospitality Management 

The legislative mandate; scope; reporting requirements and 
operating processes of Msinsi are guided by the following South 
African legislation: 

• The National Water Act (No. 36 of 1998)
• National Treasury Regulation of 1999
• King IV Report on Corporate Governance of 2009
• The Companies Act (No. 71 of 2008) 
• International Financial Reporting Standards
• National Environmental Management Act - NEMA 
 (No. 107 of 1998)
• NEMA: Protected Areas Management Act 
 (No. 57 of 2003)
• NEMA: Biodiversity Act (No. 10 of 2004)
• Firearms Control Act (No. 60 of 2000)
• Public Finance Management Act (No. 1 of 1999)
• Veld and Forest Fire Act (No. 101 of 1998)
• South African Labour Laws

2.5 Functions And Business Model

Msinsi Holdings 
SOC Ltd

Secondary Function

Nature based tourism 

Primary function:
Water resource management

Biodiversity 
Management

Pollution
Control
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Msinsi currently manages the following water resources on behalf of Umgeni Water:
• Albert Falls Dam   • Nagle Dam
• Inanda Dam   • Hazelmere Dam
• Spring Grove Dam

The list of dams, capacities and land size are indicated in the table below.

Office of the Managing Director: 

Overall Accountability and 

Strategic Effectiveness 

Operations:

• Water Resource Management

• Biodiversity Management

• Pollution Control

• Visitor Management and 

 Access Control  Management

Corporate Services

Finance:

Accounting & 

Financial 

Management

Human 

Resources

Supply Chain Management

Marketing

Internal Audit, Risk Management, ICT and Engineering support 

by the Parent Company  

Name Of  Dam GPS 
Coordinates

Year Of 
Acquisition

Dam Size 
In Ha.

Land Size
In Ha.

Total Size 
In Ha.

Albert Falls Dam & 
Game Reserve was 
acquired from EKZN 
Wildlife

29.4500° S, 
30.4000° E

2274 3090 plus 684 ha. 
Leased = 3774

37741996

Bon Accorde Resort 
was acquired from Bill 
Chalmers 

29.4344° S, 
30.4269° E

Inclusive at 
Albert Falls

31 31 
(land only)

2005

Nagle Dam & Game 
Reserve

29.5836° S, 
30.6169° E

184 2288 24721994

Inanda Dam & Resort 
was acquired from 
EKZN Wildlife

29.7003° S, 
30.8669° E

1469 63 15321996

Hazelmere Dam & 
Resort was acquired 
from EKZN Wildlife

29.6003° S, 
31.0417° E

329 132 4311996

Spring Grove Dam 29.3240° S, 
29.9437° E

1022 1345.1 2367.12013

Total Coverage 10 607.1

Table 2.1: Dam and land size
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Figure 2.1: Graphical presentation of the dam and land size
The figure below illustrates the location of Msinsi managed dams.
 

% of Total

Dam and Land 

Size

Albert Falls Dam & 
Game Reserve, 

Bon Accorde Resort

36%

Hazelmere Dam & Resort

4%

Nagle Dam & Game Reserve
23%

Inanda Dam & Game Reserve
15%

22%

Spring Grove Dam

MSINSI MANAGED DAMS
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The following operational sites were added to the scope of work 
of Msinsi Holdings: 

 Nungwane Dam;
 Mhlabatshane Dam;
 EJ Smith Dam;
 Umzinto Dam;
 Lower Thukela system;
 Mvutshane Dam
 iXopo

Water resources management function shall be executed at 
these sites commencing in the 2019/20 financial year.

Revenue Streams
Msinsi earns revenue from two streams, namely the Water 
Resource (Environmental) Management Fee and Nature-based 
tourism. Msinsi performs water resource management 
functions on behalf of Umgeni Water on the basis of the service 
level agreement.  Umgeni Water pays a management fee to 
Msinsi for services rendered in respect of the water resource 
management functions.  This revenue is based on the business 
plan that Msinsi presents annually to Umgeni Water for consid-
eration and approval. In this regard, the cash flow of this 
revenue stream becomes predictable during the financial year.  

Nature-based tourism revenue is generated from utilising the 
dams and other facilities for recreation purposes. Revenue from 
this stream is unpredictable due to dependence on factors such 
as economic conditions, seasons, and weather conditions 
among others. There are various initiatives that Msinsi under-
takes in order to enhance revenues of this stream. Such 
initiatives include continued partnership with SANParks for the 
Wild Card loyalty product.  Msinsi earns a significant share of its 
sales from the Wild Card product.  
 



Hazelmere Dam
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Organisational Structure (Management)
The current organisational structure is as follows: 

Managing Director

Board Chairman

Reserve Manager: 
Albert Falls

Reserve Manager: 
Inanda Dam

Reserve Manager: 
Nagle Dam

Reserve Manager: 
Hazelmere Dam

PA To Managing
Director

Divisional Head: 
Corporate Services 

Executive Secretary

Divisional Head: 
Operations

Finance Manager Human Resources & 
Admin Manager

Marketing & Stakeholder 
Manager



I am pleased to present the Chairman’s Report for the year 
ended 30 June 2019.
  
In this report I am presenting the strategic overview of the 
company performance, as well as some of the highlights of the 
year 2018/19. 

The core business of Msinsi is to support Umgeni Water to 
achieve its mission to “provide innovative, sustainable, effective 
and affordable bulk water and sanitation services”. To this 
extent, the primary function of Msinsi is to manage the water 
resources.   We are pleased that the water levels in the dams 
have improved as compared to the same period of the previous 
financial year.    The entity continues to be vigilant in its effort to 
protect the water resources through initiatives such as pollution 
prevention and alien invasive plant eradication among others 
and thus contributing to the improvement of the quantity and 
quality of the water resources. 
  
The entity achieved overall performance of 87% of the targets 
set in the Annual Performance Plan for the 2018/2019 financial 
year. I am pleased to report that the entity has posted a total 
comprehensive surplus of R 2.5 million for the period under 
review and this is significant performance improvement when 

compared to the previous year.  The revenue for the secondary 
function viz. tourism met 67% of the target and management is 
focusing on implementing initiatives to improve performance 
in this regard. The improved water levels in the dams is 
expected to increase numbers of people visiting our facilities for 
water recreational activities.  Good progress was made in 
achieving the non-financial objectives as reflected in the overall 
organisational performance of 87%.

The year under review is the first full year since the handover of 
the Shongweni operations to the Department of Rural 
Development and Land Reform.   To date the Board has 
identified the need for organisational growth and this is 
informed by the entity’s Expansion Plan.  Furthermore, the 
Board identified the need for the entity to align and optimise its 
resources and processes towards achieving organisational 
growth.  It is for this reason that the Organisational Design 
project was initiated and it is expected to be completed in the 
second quarter of the 2019/20 financial year.  
  
During the year under review, the office of the Auditor General 
(SA) took over the audit assignment of Msinsi.  The Board is 
pleased to report that Msinsi received an unqualified audit 
opinion of its annual financial statements as per the audit 
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2.6 Chairman’s Report



conducted by the office of the Auditor General (SA).   Although 
the organisation has missed the target of a clean audit, audit 
findings will be addressed in order to improve on the external 
audit opinion in the future and the Board will be providing the 
necessary oversight on management’s plans to deal with the 
findings in a satisfactory manner.  

Msinsi’s status as a ‘going concern’ is dependent on the Annual 
Management fee it receives from Umgeni Water.  We are 
grateful to Umgeni Water for providing the Annual Letter of 
Support to Msinsi to confirm its going concern status.

The Board had to bid farewell to Board Member Mr. Steve 
Gillham who retired in January 2019.  Furthermore, the Board 
welcomed Ms M Pillay and Ms N Mkhize as Board Members of 
Msinsi with effect from December 2018.  We look forward as the 
Board to benefit from the experience of the members to 
continue strengthening the effectiveness of the Board. 

In conclusion, I would like to thank my fellow board members 
for their support in guiding governance and the performance of 
the organisation. The Board values the continuous support from 
all stakeholders that interact with Msinsi in the execution of its 
mandate. 
 
My gratitude also to the Management and the staff of Msinsi for 
their hard work and commitment and I urge them to continue 
to improve organisational performance and deliver on 
organisational mandate.  

Mr TB Hlongwa CA(SA)
Chairman: Msinsi Holdings SOC Ltd
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This report details the performance of Msinsi Holdings SOC Ltd 
for the 2018/19 financial year. The Annual Performance Plan for 
the year under review comprised 7 strategic objectives and 45 
annual measurable result indicators, which informed the 
organisation’s performance. Management executed the Annual 
Performance Plan and monitored performance against 
predetermined strategic objectives. Detailed performance 
report is included in chapter 10 of this annual report. The 
predetermined strategic objectives are aligned to the four 
Balanced Scorecard perspectives, being Customer and 
Stakeholder, Finance, Processes, and Organisational Capacity. 

Msinsi achieved an overall performance of 87% during the 
2018/19 financial year.  This is improved performance when 
compared to the overall performance of 84% achieved in 
2017/18

The break-even position was the financial performance target 
for the period under review however Msinsi reports a 
comprehensive surplus of R 2 514 849 for the year ended 30 
June 2019 compared to the comprehensive losses of R 1 091 489 
for the year ended 30 June 2018. It should be noted that the 
loses for the year ended 30 June 2018 is a restated figure from 
the prior year reported surplus of R 177 000.  The restatement 

was as a result of having to implement the new accounting 
standards (IFRS 15) on revenue recognition.  Hence the 
comprehensive losses for the year under review are accounting 
losses.

The tourism-based revenue was 68% of budget and represents 
a 4% year-on-year tourism-based revenue increase. It is pleasing 
to notice that the Bon Accorde Conference Centre has met 99% 
of its revenue targets in its first full year of operation.  It is expect-
ed that this revenue stream will to grow as our 
operations continue to be optimised. The Wild Card loyalty 
product continued to be the highest revenue generating 
product followed by accommodation and gate revenue 
forming the top 3 revenue generating products for the entity.

The operating expenses were 12% below budget and this 
performance is attributed to the effectiveness of the cost 
containment plans of the entity.   The revenue enhancement 
and cost containment plans have also contributed to the 33% 
year-on-year growth in current assets with the cash and cash 
equivalents contributing 82% of the overall increase in current 
assets.  

2.7 Managing Director’s Report
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The 7.4% increase in current liabilities is mainly due to 
reclassification of Leave Pay from Provisions to Trade Payables.   
The decrease in noncurrent assets is mainly due to depreciation 
whilst the 26% increase in biological assets is due to additions 
and fair value adjustments.  Investment in PPE and intangible 
assets is the planned area of focus for the 2019/20 financial year.   

Reasonable success has been achieved in respect of water 
resource management activities as stipulated in the Service 
Level Agreement (SLA) with Umgeni Water.  Forty nine (49) out 
of 51 SLA obligations were achieved as per the review 
conducted with Umgeni Water’s Executive Committee.  In this 
regard, Msinsi is pleased to have continued to deliver on its 
obligations to Umgeni Water. 

On the biodiversity side of the business, Msinsi continues to 
review reserve security plans in order to mitigate loss of wildlife 
through poaching. As a result of high risk of rhino poaching, 
Msinsi’s rhino was disposed off by selling its only remaining 
rhino to a game lodge that was better equipped to protect it 
from being poached.
  
Progress to address the findings of the “Management
Effectiveness Tracking Tool” baseline audit has been satisfactory 
with 100% and 94% short-term and medium term findings 
closed; respectively.   Adoption of the aforementioned best 
practice has improved Msinsi’s approach towards biodiversity
management.   
  
Msinsi continued to engage and collaborate with various 
stakeholders that are key to its operation.  A stakeholder event 
was held at Msinsi’s Bon Accorde Conference centre with the 
purpose of networking and establishing business opportunities 
with the stakeholders.  The event was successful and one of the 

significant outcomes of the event was Msinsi signing a 
memorandum of collaboration with the uShaka Marine World.  
This partnership is expected to grow and realise the 
expectations of the collaboration.   
 
All stakeholders that Msinsi has engaged with during the year 
under review have added value to Msinsi’s operations.  In this 
regard, Msinsi acknowledges the following stakeholders:

• Amakhosi in our areas of operation for their support   
 towards achieving stability of Msinsi’s operations   
 within their areas.

• Municipalities for supporting Msinsi both as 
 stakeholder and customer.

• Tourism Bodies for collaboration and exchange of   
 ideas to achieve growth among members in the   
 Tourism Sector
• Media for support in enhancing Msinsi’s brand

• The Board of Msinsi for directing the entity to remain   
 relevant to its mandate 

• NEHAWU and Msinsi employees for their commitment  
 and effort towards achieving Msinsi’s objectives

_____________________
Mr Mboniseni Dlamini

Managing Director
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Introduction
Msinsi is committed to sound corporate governance and high 
standards of business integrity. The Board recognises the
 importance of governance structures and processes in ensuring 
the efficiency, effectiveness and sustainability of the entire 
organisation. The strong governance structures and controls 
and an unwavering commitment to ethical conduct 

continuously aid the organisation to mitigate risk, ensure 
accountability and deliver against the strategy and mandate 
from the shareholder (Umgeni Water).

The Corporate Governance structure is as follows:

Corporate 
Governance Overview

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Operations
Committee

Governance 
Committee

Ethics Committee 
(within Umgeni Water Group)

Company Secretary

Board
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3.1 Board Charter

The Board charter (reviewed in September 2017) provides the 
Board with the framework of responsibilities and fiduciary 
duties. 

The Board of Msinsi acknowledges the need for a Board Charter 
as recommended in the King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance in South Africa. The purpose of this Charter is to set 
out the Board’s role and responsibilities as well as the 
requirements for its composition and meeting procedures.

In discharging its responsibilities, the Board adhere to the 
following principles:
• Accountability;
• Transparency;
• Responsibility;
• Disclosure; and
• To  the  extent  required,  the  Board  further  adheres  to   
 the  guidelines,  policies  or directives set by the   
 Department of Water and Sanitation (hereinafter   
 referred to as “DWS”) for entities that fall within the   
 Minister of Water and Sanitation’s authority.

  
The role of the Board as outlined in the Board Charter is: 

• To provide effective leadership and control in terms of  
 approving Msinsi’s strategy and ensuring control over   
 its operational implementation. The Board is 
 accountable and must take responsibility for both its   
 success and failure. 
• To represent and serve the stakeholder’s interests by   
 overseeing and appraising the strategies, policies and   
 the performance of Msinsi. 
• To ensure that Msinsi continues to operate as a viable   
 and sustainable going concern for the benefit of its   
 customers, employees, the communities it serves and   
 the shareholder. Therefore, it must ensure that it   
 exercises effective control and provides leadership on   
 material decisions which have an impact on Msinsi. 
• To provide oversight on the human, operational and   
 financial resources available in Msinsi to achieve the   
 strategic objectives. 
• To play a key role in setting, reviewing and monitoring  
 compliance with Msinsi’s values. 
• To ensure that the shareholder is kept informed of the  
 organisation’s performance and any major 
 developments.

3.2 Functioning Of The Board 

Disclosure, Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct

Potential conflict of interests are appropriately managed to 
ensure that the entity and its associates and stakeholders have 
no conflicting interests between their obligations to the 
organisation and their personal interests.

During the year under review the disclosure took place on 
various occasions amongst others viz.:

• As part of Human Resource Management practice   
 during the recruitment and selection process, 
 members of the selection panel are also required to   
 declare their relationship or any potential conflict of   
 interest which may arise from knowing, or previous   
 association with, candidates being assessed. 
• The Board and Executive Committee members are also  
 required to disclose any interests prior to the    
 commencement of the meeting proceedings.
• Employees complete an annual disclosure or upon   
 appointment.
• Suppliers also complete the disclosure of interests.
• The progress on the disclosure of interests is reported   
 quarterly in the Ethics Committee of the Board.

Ethics and the Code of Business

During the latter part of the 2017/2018 reporting period, it was 
resolved that Msinsi would be incorporated into the Umgeni 
Water’s Ethics Committee structure with effect from 01 July 
2018. This process of integration had been handled smoothly 
with Msinsi now fully participating in the Group Ethics 
Committee meetings commencing in 2018/2019 financial year.  
Further to this, all ethical matters will be reported through 
Umgeni Water’s processes.

The Fraud Prevention Plan was reviewed and approved during 
the reporting period.  Msinsi is now a full participant in the Fraud 
Hotline Service with Umgeni Water to enable all stakeholders to 
report suspicions of fraud or otherwise unethical conduct. This 
hotline is operated by an external service provider, subject to a 
contractual agreement with the external service provider with 
Umgeni Water. 

Furthermore, the code of conduct was reviewed in order to 
account for the organisation’s impact on the external 
stakeholders. During the year under review there were no 
unethical matters and or conflict of interest reported.
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Risk Management

Msinsi follows an integrated approach towards risk 
management. During the planning process, strategic and 
operational risks are identified. Risks are continuously 
monitored to determine, amongst other things, the emerging 
risks for the organisation. Quarterly risk review meetings were 
held during the year under review. Msinsi further participates 
fully in the Group Risk Governance Framework.  

Health, Safety and Environmental Issues

The organisation is in compliance with the Occupational Health 
and Safety Act, 1993 (Act 85 of 1993), as all requirements of the 
Act to ensure a safe and conducive working environment, were 
adhered to in respect of training and meetings. No major 
incidents or injuries were reported during the period under 
review.
 
The organisational Occupational Health and Safety policy and 
procedure was reviewed as part of strengthening the 
organisation’s health, safety and environmental management 
systems. 

3.3 Executive Authority

Umgeni Water is the sole shareholder of Msinsi. The National 
Water Act, (Act 36 of 1998) outlines the responsibility of the land 
owner or management agency of a water resource in terms of 
environmental management.  
 
The Act states that the person who owns, controls, occupies, or 
uses a water resource, is responsible for the following:

• To protect the aquatic and associated ecosystems and  
 their biological diversity;
• To reduce and prevent pollution and degradation of   
 the water resources, and
• To allow and control  access  to  the  dams  for  
 recreational  purposes,  and  make reasonable charges  
 for the use of and entry and use of the water surface.
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3.4 Composition Of The Board And 

       Members’ Profiles

3.4.1 Composition of the Board 

Msinsi Board of Directors comprises of six non-executive Board 
members and one executive Board member, the Managing 
Director. The Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) outlines the 
roles of the Board members and the Managing Director. 
Amongst other things the MOI prescribes that the Chief 
Executive of Umgeni Water or his nominee shall be the 
Chairperson of the Msinsi Board and the term of chairmanship 
will be determined by the term in office as the Chief Executive. 
Accordingly, Mr TB. Hlongwa, Umgeni Water Chief Executive is 
the Chairman of Msinsi Board.
 
The involvement of Umgeni Water executives in the Board of 
Msinsi does not negate the Board member’s fiduciary 
responsibility to Msinsi. The Board subcommittees are chaired 

by Independent non-executive Directors, of which the term of 
office was extended for further three years during the year 
under review. The non-executive Board members receive 
remunerative benefits and fees as determined by the Minister 
on an annual basis and in line with their terms of appointment. 
Therefore, no Board member is involved in determining his / her 
own remuneration. Board Members’ emoluments are fully 
disclosed in the financial statements of this report.

All Board members execute their functions ethically and in a 
professional manner.

1 Board Chairman, Governance Committee Chairman
2 Operations Committee Chairman
3 Audit & Risk Committee Chairman 
4 Managing Director
n/a Not a member

As mentioned above there are six Board members assigned to three committees as depicted in Table 3.1 below

Board MemberNo. Gender Board Operations 
Committee

Audit & Risk
Committee

Governance 
Committee

1  Mr Thami B. Hlongwa1 Male √ n/a n/a √

2 Ms Mbali Ndlovu 2 Female √ √ √ √

3 Dr Bandile Mkhize 3 Male √ √ √ √

4 Mr Siboniso Shabalala Male √ n/a √ n/a

5 Ms Manu Pillay Female √ √ n/a n/a

6 Ms Nomalungelo Mkhize Female √ √ n/a n/a

7 Mr Mboniseni Dlamini4 Male √ √ n/a n/a
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3.4.2 Board Members’ Profiles

Board members were appointed to bring a balance of skills and 
expertise in providing leadership and control to the organisa-
tion and advising top management. 

Mr Thami B. Hlongwa

Non-Executive Director

Chartered Accountant (SA); B Com Honours
• Chief Executive of Umgeni Water,
• Served in other Governance structures, including the Council of DUT and 
 Board of Petro SA, where he chaired the Audit and Risk Committees of the Board
• Completed articles with Deloitte from 2002 to 2004. 
• Audit Senior in Deloitte New York Office from 2004 to 2005. 
• Senior Manager at Siyaya Management Services from 2005 to 2007. 
• Chief Financial Officer KZN CoGTA from March 2007 to June 2013. 
• Appointed as Chief Financial Officer of Umgeni Water in July 2013.
• Appointed as the Chief Executive Umgeni Water from July 2018.
• Mr Hlongwa was appointed as a Director from 16 April 2014.

Dr Bandile Mkhize

Non-Executive Director

PhD Philosophy; Masters in Arts, BA Honours, Bachelor of Arts
• Dr Mkhize is the former Chief Executive Officer of Ezemvelo KZN Wildlife 
 from 2008 to 2015. 
• He is currently the Chairperson of Harry Gwala Development Agency. 
• He also serves on the Board of Trustees of the University of Zululand Foundation. 
• Among other boards, he has served on the Boards of the Wildlands Conservation 
 Trust, Johannesburg Tourism, Federated Hospitality Association of Southern Africa 
 (East Coast Region). 
• He has travelled extensively abroad.
• Dr Mkhize was appointed as a Director from 16 April 2014. 
 His term of office comes to an end in September 2021.

Mr Siboniso Shabalala

Non-Executive Director

Chartered Accountant (SA), B Com Honours
• Mr Shabalala is currently the Chairperson of the Ethics Committee of Umgeni Water 
 and is a seasoned chartered accountant. 
• He brings the vastly needed audit and accounting experience to the Board. 
 He is an objective professional and, having been exposed to the holding 
 company’s operations, has a good understanding of the Msinsi culture. 
• Mr Shabalala is a qualified Chartered Accountant and has extensive public and private 
 sector experience in Financial Management and Corporate Governance matters. 
• He is currently the Managing Director of Ukukhanya Advisory Services, an 
 Accounting and Auditing company based in Durban.
• Mr Shabalala was appointed as a Director from 22 September 2015.
• His term of office expires in September 2021.
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Ms Mbali TB Ndlovu

Non-Executive Director  

LLB (UKZN), Admitted Attorney of the High Court of South Africa. 
• She has a wealth of experience in Local Government having been Deputy 
 Municipal Manager for uMhlathuze Municipality between 2009 and 2014. 
• She is an avid legal and governance specialist and will bring the required balance 
 to the Audit Committee in terms of a broad understanding of the members’ fiduciary 
 responsibilities.
• She is currently the Managing Director MBASA Corporate Advisory Services 
 Consultancy. 
• Ms Ndlovu was appointed as a Director from 22 September 2015. 
• Her term of office comes to an end in September 2021. 
• Ms Ndlovu has recently been appointed as the Municipal Manager of the
  King Cetshwayo District Municipality. 

Ms Manu Pillay

Non-Executive Director

Professional Natural Scientist (SACNASP); MSc Eng (Chem)
• More than twenty (20) years of her experience has been in a senior management 
 position where she spent eleven (11) years as Manager Water and Environmental 
 Services and nine (9) years as Umgeni Water Strategy Manager.
• Has a solid range of relevant work experience that she has built on over the years 
 that includes Water Quality Management, Environmental Management, Catchment / 
 Integrated Water Resources Management, Strategy Development, Compliance 
 Monitoring and Performance Monitoring and Evaluation.
• Appointed as Executive Scientific Services at Umgeni Water in December 2018.

Ms Nomalungelo Mkhize

Non-Executive Director

Chartered Accountant (SA); B Com Hons. 
• Has held various roles including Audit Manager in one of the big four audit 
 firms (Deloitte), Commercial Manager for a packaging company (Nampak), 
 Group Assistant Finance Manager for a listed company in the agricultural 
 sector (Crookes Brothers Limited), 
• Various senior management positions in consulting firms, the latest being an 
 Executive for Product Development (Bonakude Consulting) and Senior Manager 
 in Consulting (Morar Incorporated). 
• Appointed as Executive Finance at Umgeni Water in December 2018.
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Mr Mboniseni Dlamini

Executive Director

Master of Science in Microbiology, Master of Business Administration (MBA), Diploma in 
Company Direction, Strategic Turnaround Management Certificate
• He served as a General Manager of Operations at Umgeni Water during the 
 period 2008 to 2010.
• He is the former CEO of Magalies Water from 2010 to 2015.
• He is a member of the Institute of Directors of Southern Africa and Water Institute of 
 Southern Africa. 
• He was appointed as the Managing Director in May 2017.

Mr Sbusiso Madonsela

Company Secretary

Admitted Attorney of the High Court of South Africa. 
LLM (UKZN), LLB (UZ), Postgraduate Diploma in Compliance (UJ) 
• Prior to joining Umgeni Water, he was the Competition Commission’s Legal Counsel
 and has extensive experience in private legal practice.
• Appionted as Company Secretary in January 2014.
• Prior to occupying this position, he was the head of Umgeni Water’s Legal Services   
 Department.
• He is the current Principal Officer of Umgeni Water Provident Fund.
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3.4.3 Board Members’ Demographics

Board Members’ demographics are illustrated in the following 
three Figures below.

Figure 3.1: Board Members’ Age Profile

Figure 3.2: Board Members Race Profile                                    Figure 3.3: Board Members Gender Profile
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3.5 Board Committees 

The Board Committees are formally constituted and are chaired 
by non-executive Board members. The Board Committees assist 
the Board in the performance of duties and enables effective 
decision-making through providing more detailed attention to 
matters within the terms of reference.  The committees report 
to the Board on activities at every meeting. In terms of the Water 
Services Act, the Board is authorised to delegate powers to the 
Committees established by the Board. The functions and 
powers delegated to Committees are set out in the written 
Terms of Reference which are formally approved by the Board.

The Board had four committees as a support structure in 
discharging its responsibilities namely:
 Operations Committee 
 Audit and Risk Committee
 Governance Committee
 Ethics Committee (within the Umgeni Water Group)

3.5.1 Operations Committee

The Committee is chaired by Ms Mbali Ndlovu and it consists of 
two (2) additional non-executive Board members and one (1) 
executive Board member. Committee meetings are held four 
times a year.
The Committee reviews and recommends to the Board all 
matters relating to:
• Capital Infrastructure Planning
• Capital Infrastructure Implementation Oversight 
• Health and Safety 
• Community Sustainability 
• Environmental Stewardship 
• Enterprise Development 
• Supply Chain Management
• Human Resources 
• Remuneration 

It should be noted that during the year under review there were 
changes in Board / committee membership for two members 
whose term ended and were replaced by other two members.

The attendance at the Operations Committee meetings during 
the reporting period is outlined below:

Table 3.2: Operations Committee Meetings Attendance in 2018/2019

1   Denotes Chairman
 Attendance
** Term ended
#  Absence with apology

Board Committee 
Member

Normal Meetings Special
Meetings

Gender 28/8/18 22/10/18 22/2/19 16/5/19

1.   Ms M Ndlovu1 F                                          #                           

2. Dr IB Mkhize M    

3. Mr S Gilham** M   n/a n/a

4. Ms M Phillips** F  #  n/a

5. Ms M Pillay F n/a n/a  

6. Ms N Mkhize F n/a n/a  

7. Mr OM Dlamini M    



Respect 

Professionalism 

Customer 

Centric

3.5.3 Audit and Risk Committee

The Committee consists of three (3) non-executive Board mem-
bers and the chairman is Dr Bandile Mkhize.

The Committee is mandated to achieve the highest level of 
financial management, accounting and reporting to the share-
holder and to meet the requirements prescribed in section 
51(1)(a)(ii) and 76(4)(d) of the Public Finance Management Act 
(Act 29 of 1999), as well as Treasury Regulations, 2005 (Chapter 
27.1). The Audit & Risk Committee further performs a critical 
function of risk management by ensuring the effectiveness, 
quality, integrity and reliability of Msinsi’s risk management 
processes.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Committee takes 
into account the recommendations in King IV, the Companies 
Act (Act 71 of 2008), the Public Finance Management Act (Act 29 
of 1999) as amended and Treasury Regulations, 2005, to ensure 
alignment to best practice and legislation.  

Committee meetings were held four times a year.
Roles and responsibilities
The Committee’s role and responsibilities shall include the 
following: 
• Audit Functions 
• Risk Management 

3.5.4 Governance Committee

The Governance Committee meets on an ad-hoc basis.  The 
Committee is chaired by the Chairperson of the Board and 
comprises two (2) non-executive Committee Chairs.

The Committee assists the Board in monitoring and assessing 

the performance of executive management to ensure that 
performance objectives and targets are met. Performance 
results are considered by the Operations Committee in deter-
mining the remuneration of the Managing Director and other 
executives to be recommended to the Board for approval.
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Creativity

Board Committee 
Member

Normal Meetings Special
Meetings

Gender 28/8/18 22/10/18 22/2/19 16/5/19 28/09/18

1. Dr IB Mkhize 1 F                                                                                   

2. Mr S Shabalala M     

3. Ms M Ndlovu M  #   

Creativity

Board Committee 
Member

Normal Meetings

Gender 28/8/18

1. Mr TB Hlongwa 1                                               M                            

2. Dr IB Mkhize M 

3. Ms M Ndlovu M 

Table 3.3: Audit and Risk Committee Meetings Attendance in 2018/2019

1   Denotes Chairman
 Attendance
#  Absence with apology

Table 3.4: Governance Committee
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3.5.5 Ethics Committee

Msinsi was incorporated into the Umgeni Water’s Ethics 
Committee structure with effect from 01 July 2018. Msinsi 
attends the Ethics Committee meetings commencing in 
2018/2019 financial year.  All ethical matters are reported 
through Umgeni Water’s processes.

Through the Umgeni Water’s Ethics Committee, the Board 
acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that Msinsi is a fair, 
transparent and ethical entity and will continue to exercise 
oversight through Umgeni Water’s already fully functional 
Ethics Committee as prescribed in Section 29.1.1 of the Treasury 
Regulations in the PFMA as well as in line with the requirements 
of section 72 (4) of the Companies Act (Act No.71 of 2008).

The Ethics Committee meet four times a year to execute its role 
and responsibility as prescribed by applicable legislation and 
included monitoring the entity’s activities against legal or best 
practice requirements relating to:
 Social and economic development, including, EE and   
 B-BBEE,
 Good corporate citizenship, including promotion of   
 equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, 
 Corporate Social investment and reduction of 
 corruption, sponsorship, media and advertising,
 Environment, health and public safety, including,   
 

 
 impact of the organisation’s activities, products and   
 services, biodiversity management, waste 
 management, energy efficiency and carbon footprint   
 reduction,
 Consumer relationships, including, advertising, public   
 relations and consumer protection,
 Labour and employment, including, the organisation’s  
 standing in terms of the International Labour 
 Organisation Protocol on decent work and working   
 conditions, employment relationships and 
 contribution toward education and development of its  
 employees and disciplinary handling,
 Financial ethics, including, irregular and wasteful and   
 fruitless expenditure, and
 Fraud and hotline call management.

The Fraud Prevention Plan is reviewed annually.  Msinsi shares a 
Fraud Hotline Service with Umgeni Water to enable all 
stakeholders to report suspicions of fraud or otherwise 
unethical conduct. This hotline will be operated by an external 
service provider, subject to a contractual agreement with the 
external service provider.
 
Furthermore, the code of conduct was reviewed in order to 
account for the organisation’s impact on the external 
stakeholders. 



Table 3.5: Attendance of Board meetings in 2018/2019

 Denotes Board Member
1   Board Chairman
2 Audit and Risk Committee Chairman
3 Operations Committee Chairman
4   Managing Director
# - Absence with apology
n/a – Not a Member

3.6 Summary Of Board Meetings Attendance In 2018/2019

3.6.1 Board Meetings

The attendance at the Board meetings during the reporting period is outlined below:

Board Committee 
Member

Normal Meetings Special
Meetings

Gender 14/9/18 4/12/18 5/4/19 7/6/19

1. Mr TB Hlongwa1 M    

2. Dr IB Mkhize2 M    

3. Ms M Ndlovu3 F    

4. Mr S Shabalala M    

5. Mr S Gillham M  # n/a n/a

6. Ms M Phillips F  # n/a n/a

7. Ms M Pillay F n/a n/a  

8. Ms N Mkhize F n/a n/a  

9. Mr OM Dlamini4 M    
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3.7 Delegation Of Authority

A comprehensive Delegation of Authority Framework governs 
the authority levels for the Board and management. These are 
exercised through various board and management commit-
tees. This framework assists the Board to discharge its duties 
with Board members’ accountability and responsibility. The 
Board reviewed the framework in September of the reporting 
period, and then will be reviewed every two years and or as and 
when the need arises.

3.8 Company Secretariat

The Company Secretary from the parent company (Umgeni 
Water Board) also serves the Msinsi Board. The Company Secre-
tary oversees the portfolio of secretariat, governance advisory 
services and plays a critical role in legal and governance adviso-
ry to the board, risk and compliance management, and attends 
all Board and Committee meetings as a secretary.

The Board and members of the Executive have access to the 
Company Secretary who is enjoined to provide guidance on 
how Msinsi should discharge its duties and responsibilities in 
the best interests of the Company.  The Company Secretary 
oversees the preparation and coordination of the induction and 
on-going training of Board members and assists the Board and 
its Committees in formulating annual plans, agendas, minutes, 
and terms of reference as warranted.

The Company Secretary is not the Director of the Company or its 
parent company and accordingly maintains an independent 
and arm’s length relationship with the Board and the Executives.

3.9 Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of the Managing Director 
and two (2) executives.
 
The Board has delegated the day-to-day running of the 
Company to the Managing Director who works with the two 
executives and senior management who assist in this task. 

The Executive Committee is the highest executive 
decision-making structure in the company and central to its role 
is the implementation of the Board’s strategy and policy 
direction, and ensuring that all business activities are aligned in 
this respect. 

Msinsi as an operating subsidiary works directly towards 
enabling Umgeni Water to fulfill its mandate and contracted 
obligations. 
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Mr Mboniseni Dlamini

Managing Director

Master of Science in Microbiology, Master of Business Administration (MBA), Diploma in 
Company Direction, Strategic Turnaround Management Certificate
• He served as a General Manager of Operations at Umgeni Water during the 
 period 2008 to 2010.
• He is the former CEO of Magalies Water from 2010 to 2015.
• He is a member of the Institute of Directors of Southern Africa and Water Institute of 
 Southern Africa. 
• He was appointed as the Managing Director in May 2017..

Ms Mbali Ngubane 

Divisional Head: Corporate Services

Chartered Accountant (SA), B Com Honours Accounting, Advanced Certificate (Auditing).
• She was a Senior Lecturer at the University of Zululand.
• She has also held a position as a Tax Consultant in the Business Tax Advisory 
 division of Ernst & Young where she also completed her articles. 
• Prior to joining Msinsi, she was an Audit Manager at the Auditor General of
  South Africa. 
• Ms Ngubane was appointed as the Divisional Head: Corporate Services effective
  on 01 February 2017. 

Ms Nokuthula Mthembu

Divisional Head: Operations

Master in Business Administration (MBA), Management Development Programme (MDP), 
Bachelor of Science (Geography and Hydrology).
• She worked as a GIS Officer for the then Department of Water Affairs and Forestry. 
• She has worked as a Principal, Senior and Environmental Officer for the National and
  Provincial Department of Environmental Affairs respectively.
• She also held a position of Section Head: Water and Environmental Management 
 Division at Mhlathuze Water.
• Prior to joining Msinsi, Ms Mthembu was a Quality and Environmental Manager 
 at Transnet Port Terminals (Richards Bay).
• Ms Mthembu was appointed as the Divisional Head: Operations effective on 
 01 September 2017.

3.10 Executive Committee Profiles
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OPERATIONS 
OVERVIEW 4
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4.1 Strategic Objective 1: 

Increase services and customers

Revenue Enhancement Plan was developed as a response and 
effort, to increase revenue.  The objective of the plan is to make 
Msinsi’s product offerings more attractive to the customers by 

introducing a product mix and enhancing current products and 
activities. 

The Wild Card product remains the consistent highest revenue 
generator during the year under review. Chalets/lodges, gate 
revenue and campsites indicate a decline. The Wild Card 
product is the access and loyalty programme which entitles 
Wild Card members, access to participating Protected Areas.  

This product is being administered by SANParks.  Msinsi and 
other partners of this product earn a percentage of the gross 
proceeds of the programme.  The total gross earnings of 
R3 394 912 was achieved from this product during the year 
under review.

Operations Overview

The figure below illustrates the Top 10 revenues per product in order of revenue generation comparing to the prior 

year performance:

Top 10 Revenues Per Product
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Figure 4.1:  Top 10 Revenues Per Product
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4.2 Wild Card, Accommodation, Camping and

Day Visitor Statistics

Figures 4.2 and 4.3 illustrate consolidated day visitor statistics 
based on the Wild Card product, accommodation and camping; 
and adult, child and pensioner, respectively.

 
Figure 4.2: Consolidated Wild Card, Accommodation and

Camping (activities) over a period of 4 years

 

Figure 4.3: Consolidated day visitor statistics (demographics) 

over a period of 4 years

Figure 4.2 indicates a decline in guest numbers for the 
accommodation, Wild Card product, and camping products in 
the year under review when compared to the prior year. 
The decline in visitor numbers is being addressed through the 
various initiatives being undertaken by Msinsi such as 
introducing a diverse product mix and enhancing current 
products.

Figure 4.3 indicates a decline in all three (3) categories of day 
visitors (adult, child, and pensioner) in the year under review 
when compared to the prior year.  The attributing factor for the 
decrease in day visitor numbers is due to the operation at 
Shongweni Dam & Game Reserve coming to an end in June 
2018 as a result of a land claim.  

The individual Reserves monitor visitor numbers and activities 
sold to the visitors.  A total of 96 560 day visitors were recorded 
to have accessed Msinsi’s facilities during the 2018/2019 
financial year when compared to 115 915 day visitors for the 
prior year 2017/2018.
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Situated at one of the largest dams in KZN and only 30 minutes 
from Pietermaritzburg is Albert Falls Dam and Game Reserve. 
This reserve offers accommodation, water sports, nature trails, 
bird watching and game viewing.
 
Albert Falls offers a 3-star graded accommodation in a form of 
16 (2-sleeper) and 4 (6-sleeper) chalets. There are 124 (54 electric 
and 70 non-electric) campsites with well- maintained ablutions 
that are serviced daily. The Albert Falls hall can be used for 
wedding receptions, parties, conferences etc. and the outdoor 
lovers can hold small conferences on the thatched gazebo 
situated at the Notuli site. Wildlife in the reserve includes several 
animal species such as the impala, the red hartebeest, oribi, 
giraffe, and warthog, buffalo, zebra and a wide variety of 
birdlife. Visitors can enjoy various types of water sports such as, 
boating, canoeing, skiing, sailing, fishing, etc. The reserve offers 
nature trails for adventurous visitors. The game drives offered by 
experienced tour guides afford visitors an exciting educational 
experience on wildlife.

Albert Falls Dam visitors have shown an insignificant decrease in 
the year under review in comparison to previous years. The 
adult day visitors are consistently higher than children and 
pensioners, however visitors for the period under review are 
slightly below the 4-year average. 
The Wild Card product remained constant whilst accommoda-
tion and camping have decreased when compared with the 
previous year. Overall, accommodation is sitting at its lowest in 
the year under review.
 

Albert Falls Dam & Game Reserve   

Figure 4.4: Albert Falls Dam & Game Reserve Map 

Figure 4.5: 

Albert Falls Dam & Game Reserve Day Visitor Statistics

Figure 4.6: Albert Falls Dam & Game Reserve Wild Card 
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Bon Accorde Resort is located on the western shores of Albert 
Falls Dam & Game Reserve. Set in cool tranquility overlooking 
the Karkloof Valley, Bon Accorde Resort exudes serenity. The 
Resort boasts (10) three star-graded four sleeper self-catering 
chalets situated along the water’s edge, affording commanding 
views of the dam and the distant Karkloof Hills. For those who 
prefer a more rustic experience, Bon Accorde offers 17 electrical 
and 10 non-electrical campsites designed to ensure outdoor 
lovers enjoy a peaceful night along the shoreline. 

The gazebo which is situated on the edge of the dam can be 
used for garden weddings and parties. The resort also offers 
exciting family-oriented activities which can be enjoyed by 
everyone. 

The Resort has an open level area, convenient for outdoor 
events such as jazz festivals, picnics and other functions. The 
conference centre, combined with the on-site accommodation, 
are excellent venues for hosting small or large conferences, 
weddings, year-end events, meetings, training sessions, high 
teas, baby showers, etc.  

Bon Accorde has shown a decline in visitor numbers in the 
period under review. Accommodation and camping have 
increased compared to the previous year whilst Wild Card 
reflects adecline. This decline is attributed to the low dam levels 
as most of the Wild Card holders are boat users. 

Bon Accorde Resort 

Figure 4.8: Bon Accorde Wild Card product, 
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Deep in the heart of the Valley of a Thousand Hills, less than an 
hour’s drive from both Pietermaritzburg and Durban, lies an 
African jewel. At Nagle Dam & Game Reserve, nestling in the 
foothills of KZN’s very own ‘Table Mountain’, visitors will find 
tranquil picnic spots, excellent fishing, canoeing, nature trails 
and game viewing. 

Nagle Dam & Game Reserve offers variety of accommodation 
ranging from a twelve sleeper Nagle Lodge, six sleeper Msinsi 
Lodge, three-star graded two sleepers’ modern safari tented 
accommodation, 32 non-electrical campsites. A 20-seater 
conference centre, situated on an island in the dam, offers a 
unique natural location for conferences and workshops. 

Day visitor numbers have shown an increase during the year 
under review. This is attributed to the new access control 
system. Camping and accommadation have also shown an 
increase during the year under review. This is attributed to the 
introduction of product packages. 

Nagle Dam & Game Reserve 

Figure 4.9: Nagle Dam & Game Reserve Map

Figure 4.10: Nagle Dam & Game Reserve Visitor Statistics

Figure 4.11: Nagle Dam Accommodation and Camping
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Situated on the southern bank of the Inanda Dam is the Valley of 
a Thousand Hills below Hillcrest, this resort offers all forms of 
recreational boating and is famous for bass fishing. The Inanda 
Bass Classic fishing tournament, held at this resort, attracts 
hundreds of anglers each year. Inanda is the perfect venue for 
canoeing and is a compulsory overnight stop for the famous 
Dusi Canoe Marathon. 

Inanda Dam offers 40 electrical and 51 non-electrical campsites; 
picnic sites as well as 4 x four sleeper self-catering tented 
accommodation set on the edge of the dam affording 
magnificent views of the surrounding hills which makes the 
Inanda Dam an ideal venue for water sport enthusiasts and 
nature lovers. A 35-seater Boat Cruise offers a unique experience 
to visitors who wish to host different activities 
including conferencing, weddings, birthdays, baby/bridal 
shower parties etc.

 Day visitor numbers have shown a decline under the period of 
review as compared to the previous years. The decline is 
attributed to low dam levels.
A decline was also recorded on accommodation and camping 
which is attributed to the cold weather. Wild Card recorded an 
increase when compared to the previous year.  

Inanda Dam & Resort

Figure 4.12: Inanda Dam & Resort Map

Figure 4.13: Inanda Dam & Resort Visitor Statistics

Figure 4.14: Inanda Dam & Resort Wild Card product, 
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A day’s outing at family oriented picnic spots will reward every 
nature lover with a breath of fresh air and many birds and 
butterflies to delight. Visitors can enjoy camping in 13 electrical 
and 13 non-electrical campsites and have access to the thatched 
lapa while preparing meals in the communal kitchen.  

Hazelmere is popular for hosting major events, namely Jazz 
Festival and Fun in the Sun, to mention a few. The raising of the 
dam wall offers new picnic areas with a better view of the dam.  
Visitors can enjoy variety of water sports such as: fishing, 
boating, jet skis, canoeing and sailing. 

Day visitor number show a decline for the period under review.
Wild Card sales show a decrease in the period under review 
when compared to the previous year.  During 2017/18 
accommadation was  demolished following the raising of the 
dam wall to increase the dam capacity.

Hazelmere Dam & Resort

Figure 4.15: Hazelmere Dam & Resort Map

Figure 4.16: Hazelmere Dam & Resort Visitor Statistics

Figure 4.17: Hazelmere Dam & Resort Wild Card product,
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Spring Grove Dam falls within the jurisdiction of the 
uMgungundlovu District Municipality (DC22), and is situated in 
two local municipalities, namely Mpofana Local Municipality 
(KZN223) and uMngeni Local Municipality (KZN222). 

The site co-ordinates for the dam wall are 29°58’12” east and 
29°19’12” south, which lies 8 km south of the existing Mearns 
Weir site. The dam is located 2 km south west of the Rosetta on 
the farms Rosetta and Spring Vale.

Msinsi is mainly responsible for undertaking biodiversity 
management work such as fire management, invasive alien 
plant control and monitoring. Patrols were undertaken to 
enforce Msinsi rules and regulations and control unlawful entry 
into the dam.  

Spring Grove Dam

Figure 4.18: Map of Spring Grove Dam
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Strategic Objective 2: Increase Customer and 

Stakeholder Value

Msinsi interacts with a number of stakeholders in execution of its mandate. 
The value proposition and the key stakeholders that Msinsi interacted with during the year under review is listed below:

Stakeholder engagement continuously and successfully 
created value for Msinsi’s operations and the communities 
at large, such as:
• Sourcing labour within the communities around   
 Msinsi operations created job opportunities for   
 the communities.  A total of 448 temporary jobs   
 were created with labour being sourced within   
 communities neighbouring Msinsi’s operations. 

Nature Conservation & Tourism Bodies

Msinsi Operations continued to engage with other 
stakeholders during the period under review. This 
included SANParks, KZN Wildlife and Department of 
Human Settlements, Water and Sanitation, KZN Economic 
Development, Tourism and Environmental Affairs, Umgeni 
Ecological Infrastructure Partnership and KZN Sharks 
Board.

Msinsi Employees

Recruit and retain the 
correct number of 

personnel with the right 
competencies at the 

right time, and aligned 
to achieve the vision of 

the organisation 

Suppliers

To acquire goods and 
services at the right 

quantity, quality, cost 
and at the right time

Msinsi Board of 
Directors

Ensure Good 
Corporate Governance

Tourism and 
Environmental Bodies

Collaboration for 
funding mobilisation & 

Operational 
Optimisation

Amakhosi, Councillors, 
Municipalities, Government 

Departments and  
 Communities

Collaboration to achieve 
community stability and 

sustainability

Customers

To provide product 
quality that meets 

customer expectations

Umgeni Water

Shareholder & 
Co-management of 

Water Resources

Trade Union

Collaboration to achieve 
healthy employee 

relations in the 
organisation

Media

Communication 
platforms to enhance 

Msinsi’s brand
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Umgeni Water

Co-management of the water resources takes place at the 
operational level between the Msinsi Reserve Managers, 
Umgeni Water Operations and Scientific Services Departments.  
A total of 31 meetings against a target of 16 were held between 
Msinsi’s Operations Department and dam Superintendents. The 
collaboration has been effective in managing the water 
resources in Msinsi’s area of operation.
 
Engagement with Umgeni Water at shareholder level has been 
undertaken with the Umgeni Water Executive Committee for 
the purpose of continuous review of the service level 
agreement. Msinsi achieved 96% of its service level agreement 
obligations during the year under review. Statutory submissions 
to the shareholder were all achieved during the year under 
review. 

Municipalities

Municipalities are an important stakeholder since all Msinsi’s 
operations are within the jurisdiction of municipalities.  
Municipalities also present an opportunity for collaboration in 
order to achieve community stability; they are also potential 
customers for Msinsi’s ecotourism product offerings.
  
The Albert Falls Dam & Game Reserve and Bon Accorde Resort 
are located within the jurisdiction of Umgungundlovu District 
Municipality and uMshwathi Local Municipality, whilst Nagle 
Dam is situated within the jurisdiction of the uMgungundlovu 
District Municipality (DM) and the Mkhambathini Local 
Municipality (LM). Inanda Dam & Game Reserve and  Hazelmere 
Dam & Resort are within the jurisdiction of eThekwini 
Metropolitan Municipality. 

The uMshwathi Local Municipality has utilised Msinsi’s services 
during the year under review, and Msinsi is planning to attract 
more municipalities to utilise Msinsi’s facilities in the 
forthcoming financial year. Through the relationship with 
uMshwathi Municipality, Msinsi has been exposed to tourism 
career exhibitions, advertising in the Midlands Meander, 
advertising at the Municipality and has been positioned as the 
destination of choice for events, conferences and meetings 
taking place in the uMshwathi district. 

Trade Union and Employees

The recognised worker’s union of Msinsi is NEHAWU.  
Engagement with the workers’ union is a structured 
communication, with feedback regarding the plans and 
performance of the organisation.  Co-operation by the union 
has contributed significantly towards labour stability during 
2018/19.  This co-operation is expected to continue maturing in 
the years to come.  Engagement with employees was also held 
for the same purpose of providing a platform for structured 
communication and feedback regarding the plans and 
performance of the organisation.

Strategic Objective 5: Improve All Key Systems

The result indicator for SO5 looked at the management, 
monitoring and state of biodiversity including fire management 
for each reserve.
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Alien plant eradication for aquatic and terrestrial 

systems:  
The Operations Division of Msinsi updates annually the 
terrestrial invasive alien plant management plans for the 
reserves and prioritize alien plant control activities to current 
available budget. 

No new or emerging alien plants were identified in the 
operational area of Msinsi during the period under review.   
The alien plant eradication programme was implemented over 
a total area coverage of 1 822 hectares, thus exceeding the 
planned target of 1 817 for the period under review.

  

This programme is implemented using casual labour sourced 
from the neighbouring communities.  Up to 297 people were 
employed for this activity, and the demographics of the 
employees are indicated in the table below.  

The average duration of employment created by each reserve 
was 22 days per month for 6 months, which translates to a total 
of 35 508 person workdays created. Up to 48% of the employed 
labour was the females.  The programme employed 49% of 
youth and  1% of people with disability.

Fire Management 

The Fire Management Plan was implemented and a total of 80.4 
km was achieved thus exceeding the planned target of 45.8km 
for the period under review.  

Labour for implementing the programme was sourced from the 
surrounding communities

Jobs 
Created

Females 
18 – 35

Females 
36 - 64 

Males
18 – 35

Males
36 - 64 Reserve Disabled

Albert Falls 87 15 15 34 23 0

Spring Grove 6 1 1 3 1 0

Hazelmere 40 14 10 10 6 0

Nagle 128 29 36 23 36 4

Inanda 36 7 10 12 7 0

TOTAL 297 66 72 82 73 4

Table 4.1: Casual labour sourced for alien plant eradication 
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Table 4.2 :  Casual labour sourced for Fire Management

The duration of employment by each reserve was 22 days per 
month for 3 months, which translates to an average of 726 
person workdays created.  Up to 36% of the employed labour 
were females and 64% being the youth.

Pollution Control (PC)

Pollution prevention is part of protecting water resources. The 
activities below were conducted during the review period by 
the Msinsi’s operations division to ensure that water resources 
are protected:

 Ensuring that any infrastructure developments takes   
 place with minimal environmental impacts by   
 conducting required Environmental impacts 
 assessments and scoping reports.
 Ensuring that no agricultural activities takes place   
 within the purchase line through field ranger patrols.
 Monitoring and controlling visitor activities on the   
 dam and within the purchase line.
 Conducting upstream and downstream patrols by   
 field rangers to ensure that no pollutants that are   
 deposited into the dam and report non-compliance to  
 relevant authorities.

 Engaging with Umgeni Water superintendents to   
 discuss issues of water pollution and develop 
 mitigating measures. 
 Ensuring that waste generated in the reserve is 
 collected and disposed of properly.
 Ensuring that the reserve has effective sewerage   
 disposal means with no negative impact on water   
 quality.
 Facilitated awareness campaigns to educate 
 community and schools about negative effects of   
 pollution in the water resources.
 Monitoring of illegal activities such as sand mining,   
 dumping and discharge of contaminants in the dam.

Up to 11 people were employed for this activity, and the demographics are presented in the table below:  

Jobs 
Created

Females 
18 – 35

Females 
36 - 64 

Males
18 – 35

Males
36 - 64 Reserve Disabled

Albert Falls 0 0 0 0 0 0

Spring Grove 6 1 1 3 1 0

Hazelmere 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nagle 5 1 1 2 1 0

Inanda 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 11 2 2 5 2 0
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Number Date Natural DateGame Reserve

Albert Falls  8 x Nyala 01/2019  

  47 x Impala 01/2019  

   6 x Zebra 01/2019  

   21 x Blue wildebeest 01/2019 1 x Blue wildebeest 08/2018

  10 x Warthog  01/2019  

   1 x Giraffe  01/2019  

  6 x Blesbok 01/2019  

   2 x Red Hartebeest 01/2019  

   2 x Kudu 01/2019  

  1 x Buffalo 03/2019  

Inanda Nil Nil  Nil                                                      Nil

Nagle 8 x Impala 12/2018 1 x Impala                                      12/2018

  4 x Zebra 12/2018 1 x Zebra                                        12/2018

     1 x Kudu                               01/2019

  1 x Bushbuck 12/2018 1 x Nyala                                          05/2019

  0 x Warthog 12/2018  

  3 x Blue Wildebeest 12/2018  

  0 x Grey Duiker 12/2018  

OVERALL TOTAL 120   5 

Births and Introductions Mortalities

Table 4.3: Number of mortalities and births recorded in 2018/2019

The mortalities were of natural causes and there is no concern of possible disease break-out as the cause of the recorded mortality.

Strategic Objective 2: Increase customer and 

stakeholder value

Msinsi manages the wildlife species in the reserves in a way that 
conserves, maintains and enhances the biodiversity value of the 
reserves. This is done through balancing the habitat conditions, 
the carrying capacity and stocking rate. Game mammals are 
stocked at conservative rate and numbers such that they do not 
exceed carrying capacity of each reserve in order to maintain 
ecological balance. The Stocking Rate Method expressed as AU 
(Animal Units) was used as a standard methodology to 
determine the maximum number of specific kinds and classes 
of game/ animals required in the available grazing land.

Game Count

Game counts were counted as per  the Biological Assets 
procedure. In June 2019, helicopter counts were conducted. This 
method of counting takes place every three years. This activity is 
crucial input to the management of game-carrying capacity 
and accounting for the biological assets of the entity. 

The following table indicates the number of mortalities and 
births recorded during the 2018/19 financial year: 
  



51

Annual Report 2018/19

Game Carrying Capacity Management: 

Stock counts for the year under review revealed that some of 
the animals exceeded the capacity of the habitat. The excess 
animals were recommended to the Board for disposal through 
hunting, live sales, inter-reserve transfers or culling.  The table 
below is the list of wildlife that was found to be exceeding the 
carrying capacity of Msinsi’s Game Reserves.

Wildlife exceeding carrying capacity by 124 animals combined 
in all Msinsi’s Game Reserves. 

Game Security 
Security patrols were conducted in the reporting period as per 
the patrol plan in order to identify and mitigate security risks in 
the reserves.  
 
Following the recommendations of Protected Area Ranger 
Capability and Support (PARCS) assessment at the Albert Falls 
Dam and Game Reserve, 90% of the recommendations were 
implemented through the implementation of the SHEQ 
management system. Msinsi implemented the 
recommendation and disposed of the white rhino in August 
2018. 
  
In addition, Msinsi utilised the Management Effectiveness Track-
ing Tool (METT) to assess the state of management effective-
ness. METT is used as a best practice reporting tool to assess the 
effectiveness of environmental management. Msinsi was 
assessed against the METT standards and the gaps identified 
are being addressed.  The progress in this regard is as follows:
• Short term interventions -  100% complete,
• Medium term interventions -  94% complete,
• Long term interventions – 50% complete

Total RemovalsAnimal Species Method Of Disposal

Blue Wildebeest  11

Impala 15

Blesbok 1

Kudu  2

Nyala  3

Giraffe 7

Zebra  5

White Rhino 1

TOTAL STOCK COUNT 45

11 Hunting

1 Hunting

7 Culling

1 Live Sale

15 Hunting

2 Culling

3 Culling

1 Hunting
4 Culling

Table 4.4: Game carrying capacity stock count

Sold rhino being captured



Inanda Tented Accomodation



RISK 
MANAGEMENT 5
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Risk Management Process

Section 51 (a)(i) of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), 
No 1 of 1999, requires Accounting Authorities to establish and 
maintain effective, efficient and transparent systems of 
financial, risk management and internal controls to enable 
amongst other matters, the production of annual financial 
statements as per Section 55 of the PFMA.

Msinsi Holdings defines risk as all sources of uncertainty that 
could, positively or negatively, affect the organisation’s ability to 
meet its strategic objectives and outcomes.  Risk Management 
is guided by an Integrated Risk Management Framework.  
Umgeni Water’s management process is aligned to strategy, 
which ensures a focused and integrated process of risk 
management in the organization. 

Integrated Risk Management Governance structure

• The Board is ultimately accountable for integrated risk  
 management and provides guidance and direction.   
 The Board is kept informed of the status and 
 effectiveness of the risk management system.

• The Audit Committee monitors the status of strategic  
 risks, the overall effectiveness of the entity’s risk   

 
 management function and its implementation by   
 management on a quarterly basis. The Committee   
 reports the status to the Board.

• The Corporate Risk Committee, since Msinsi Holdings  
 is a subsidiary of Umgeni Water it forms part of the   
 Corporate Risk Committee and reports on a quarterly   
 basis to Umgeni Water Corporate Risk ensures 
 implementation of the integrated risk management   
 framework in compliance with all applicable legal and  
 regulatory requirements as well as ensures there is   
 management of risks at the operational levels of the   
 entity. Risks that potentially affect the entity’s ability to  
 meet its objectives are escalated to the Corporate Risk  
 Committee. 

• The Executive and Senior Management, supported by  
 Divisional Risk Champions integrate risk management  
 into their day-to day management processes by 
 undertaking risk assessments at a departmental and   
 divisional level to continually identify emerging risks,   
 review, treat and monitor existing risks and report the   
 status of the risks assigned to them.

Risk Management

Establish the

context

What do we 

need to take

into account

and what are

our 

objectives?

Identify the

risks

What might

happen?

How, when

and why?

Analyse the

risks

What might

happen?

How, when

and why?

Evaluate the

risks

Which risks

need treating

amd our

priority for

attention?

Monitor and Review

Have any risks elements changed?
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Mitigated Risks

A mitigated risk refers to risks that have been reduced to an 
acceptable level with continual monitoring by Internal Audit, to 
ensure that the controls in place are still effective and efficient. 
Operational risks have been identified and their control 
provides a more tactical approach in mitigating identified risks. 
Mitigation Approach 
• Msinsi Holdings manages the risk as follows: 
• Business Plan for funding and state its expansion for   
 long term period 
• Regular meetings with Umgeni Water for funding   
 requirements 
• Tariff process consultation with stakeholders and   
 benchmark against the competitors 
• Assess the product mix within the organization 

Emerging Risks 

In line with the regular revision of the strategy, the organization 
regularly reviews the internal and external landscapes that 
affect Msinsi Holdings risk profile with the intention of 
identifying emerging risks. Therefore, the following emerging 
risks were identified as at end of the year under review: 
• The land claims have been the only emerging risk for   
 the period under review 

Strategic Risk

There are four strategic risks as presented in the table below 
which are sorted by risk score ranging from high to low, linked 
to strategic objectives and also indicate the appetite tolerance 
position.
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Risk 
No Risk Name, Score and Status Cause, Context and Treatment 

Main Strategic, Perspective, 
Strategic Objectives and 

Outcomes impacted 

Cause and Context:

Poaching/ breakout/
Diseases, pollution, fire, alien plant 
infestation, aquatic weed and algae
Encroachment onto the purchase line. 
Increased concentration in nutrients resulting 
in algal blooms. 
Insufficient land to keep game

Treatment approach

Interventions to mitigate this risk include the 
enforcement of rules and regulations, land 
management erosion control, community 
out-reach, fencing, security, patrolling and 
monitoring, aquatic and terrestrial aliens 
plant control as well as a fire management 
and a pollution management plan. 
             
In terms of pollution detection Msinsi is 
currently working in conjunction with DUCT 
and DWS to assist with the detection of any 
pollution occurring beyond Msinsi’s area of 
responsibility i.e. the purchase line. 
The removal of terrestrial alien plant species 
remains an integral part for Msinsi’s Biodiver-
sity.  There is a planned quarterly programme 
to remove terrestrial alien plant and the target 
set out for all reserves.

Customer and Stakeholder

Perspective:

SO2 Increase Customer and 
Stakeholder Value 

Financial Perspective:

SO3 Improve Financial Viability

Process Perspective:

SO5 Improve All Key Delivery 
Systems

Ecological Integrity Overall 
control strength: Good 85 % 
Risk Owner: MD

Score

Risk  Appetite & Tolerance

Within Appetite
Within Tolerance

1

3 - Low

Drivers (Causes/Contexts): Stakeholders
Comments: Poaching/Animal breakout/ 
Diseases management Lack of conservation 
consciousness. Crime/violence in the vicinity 
of the reserves.
Possible drowning and injuries to visitors. 
Encroachment onto the purchase line.
Limited access to areas around Spring Grove 
Dam. Fire management around dams. 
Inadequate SHEQ Management systems. 
Sub-standard customer care management 
systems.
Treatment approach:

Implementation of the formal stakeholder 
management plan, fencing, security, 
patrolling and monitoring, enforcement of 
rules and regulations, reserve management 
plans, customer engagement and interaction. 
Good relationships are maintained with 
communities to help mitigate this risk. 

Customer and Stakeholder

Perspective:

SO1 Increase Services and
Customers
Customer and Stakeholder

Perspective:

SO2 Increase Customer and 
Stakeholder Value 
Financial Perspective:

SO3 Improve Financial Viability 
Process Perspective: 

SO5 Improve All Key Delivery 
Systems
Organisational Capacity 

Perspective:

SO6 Improve Infrastructure Assets 

Reputation / Image Overall 
control strength: Good 90 % Risk 
Owner: MD

Score

Risk Appetite & Tolerance 
Within Appetite
Within Tolerance

2

3 - Low
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Risk 
No Risk Name, Score and Status Cause, Context and Treatment 

Main Strategic, Perspective, 
Strategic Objectives and 

Outcomes impacted 

Drivers (Causes/Contexts): Economic
Comments: Disease breakouts. 
Unfavourable weather/economic and social
conditions. Reduction of recreational area as a 
result of expansion/ lease
agreements and/or development around the 
reserves. Loss of reserves through
land claims. Reduction in number of visitors. 
Fruitless & wasteful expenditure.
UW management fee is a short-term financial 
possibility of sustainability.
Financial viability is driven by revenue 
enhancement plans, long term financial
sustainability is driven s driven by expansion 
as per the 2018 business plan.

Treatment Approach 

In order to achieve sustainability and growth 
Msinsi Holdings, require enhancement of 
current revenues as well as implementing 
new revenue generation plans within the 
current business model. 
Implemented the Cost Containment Plan 
Developed product packages based on 
seasonal demand
A 10 year SLA with Umgeni Water is reviewed 
annually.
Adhere to the Expansion Plan 

Diverse Product Mix Offered 

• The Edamini Lounge at Hazelmere.
• Conference Facility at Bon Accorde
• The cruise boat at Inanda Dam 

Customer and Stakeholder 

Perspective:

SO1 Increase Services and
Customers
SO2 Increase Customer and 
Stakeholder Value 

Financial Perspective:

SO3 Improve Financial Viability

Process Perspective:

SO4 Improve financial systems 

Organisational Capacity 

Perspective:

SO5 Improve  All key Delivery 
Systems 

Sustainability of the 

organisation

Overall control strength: Good 
80 % Risk Owner: MD

Score

Risk Appetite & Tolerance

Within Appetite
Within Tolerance

3

1 - Low

Drivers (Causes/Contexts): External Factors: 

Compliance: Events organisers should 
comply with legislation and municipal bylaws
Unauthorised access by local communities 
Cancellation of events and Safety and 
Security (especially access control at the gate)
Internal Factors: Capacity to hold events in 
term of space, Potential drowning and refer to 
the Sport and Recreational Act 

Treatment Approach

Increase in revenue 
Brand positioning by Msinsi 
Repeat Business 
Community: Job creation 

Customer and Stakeholder

Perspective:

SO1 Increase Services and
Customers
Customer and Stakeholder

Perspective:

SO2 Increase Customer and 
Stakeholder Value 
Financial Perspective:

SO3 Improve Financial Viability 
Process Perspective: 

SO5 Improve All Key Delivery 
Systems
 

Hosting of Events 4

Table 5.1: Strategic Risks
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Risks Outside Msinsi Holdings Risk Appetite 

And Tolerance Levels

In accordance with the IRM risk priority table, risks that have a 
total risk score >200 and or are outside the risk appetite and 
tolerance levels require immediate action to be taken in less 
than a month until the residual risk is reduced to below stated 
levels and this also requires specific sign-off by the Umgeni 
Water Board.

The hosting of events is within tolerance but outside appetite 
level. Further actions are being considered in order to bring this 
risk within appetite levels.

Treatment Of Risks Outside Appetite But Within 

Tolerance Levels

Risks that are outside the risk appetite but within the risk 
tolerance and or have a risk score of 80 – 200 require mitigation 
within keeping with the 2018 – 2019 business plan and normally 
within three months. The current intervention to mitigate the 
risk is highlighted below:

Risk 
No Risk Description Drivers (Causes and Contexts) Interventions/Mitigations

-   Compliance by event organisers to   
 relevant legislation and municipal by-laws
- Defaulting event organisers
- Unauthorised access by the local 
 communities
- Cancellation of events by the event   
 organisers
- Safety and security 
- Level of preparedness of Msinsi to hold 
 ant events
- Potential drowning
- Loss of opportunity
- Lack of enforcement of sports and   
 recreational act requirements 
- Opportunity increase in revenue
- Brand positioning by Msinsi 
- Opportunity in business
- Community job creation
- Product awareness

-   Memorandum of agreements  
     between Msinsi and event          
     organisers
-    Implementation of the Event  
     Management Procedure

Hosting of events1

Table 5.2: Risk Mitigation

The balance of Msinsi’s strategic risks are within the risk appetite and tolerance with risk scores <80.



HUMAN RESOURCES 
OVERVIEW 6
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Introduction

Msinsi Holdings is a service organisation, Human Resources (HR) 
forms part of the core of our business and service delivery. This 
report covers the HR activities for the period 01 July 2018 to 30 
June 2019. As at 30 June 2019, the Msinsi permanent staff 
establishment comprised of 117 employees.  Msinsi 
continuously partners with communities within which it 
operates.

The HR priorities for the year included inter alia filling of
vacancies with a skilled and competent workforce, employee 
development, succession planning, improvement of the 
implementation of the performance management system, and 
no repeat audit findings including irregular and wasteful 
expenditure. Furthermore, wellness continuously took priority, 
hence wellness days were held during the year under review. 
Updating of HR policies to be in line with legislation took 
precedence. 

Investment in people has been an ongoing exercise and, in this 
regard, 244 employees were trained in various programs. 
Employees are engaged through HR roadshows, employee 
surveys and staff information sessions wherein they are 
encouraged to offer input for achieving sustainability of the 
organisation. The Five-Year HR plan was implemented following 
its approval by the Board. Its implementation formed part of HR 
priorities in the year under review.

Human Resources Plan

The HR plan was developed following the four perspectives of 
the balanced scorecard linked to the HR focus areas, namely:

 Customer and Stakeholder Perspective
 Financial Perspective
 Process Perspective
 Organisational Capacity Perspective

The HR plan further comprises of ten human resources focus 
areas with specific objectives. These objectives would be 
further translated into action plans on an annual basis over a 
period of five years. The Human Resources focus areas are as 
follows:

 Employee Resourcing and Human Resources 
 Administration
 Employment Relations Management
 Leadership and Learning & Development
 Workforce Planning
 Employee Wellness
 Performance Management
 Reward and Recognition
 Continuous improvement
 Organisational Development
 Human Resources Systems and Risk Management

During the year under review the following HR milestones were 
achieved during the implementation of the Five-Year HR Plan:

Staff Establishment

As at 30 June, the Msinsi staff establishment was as follows: 
• There were 129 permanent budgeted posts, of which   
 117 were filled.
• 22 Security Officers of which 15 positions were filled.

Human Resources Overview

Figure 5.1: 

Occupational levels

Occupational 

Levels

1%
2%

6%

20%

34%

37%

Top Management

Senior Management

Professionally qualified and experienced specialists 
and mid-management

Skilled technical and academically qualified workers, junior
management, supervisors, foremen and superintendants

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making

Unskilled and defined descision making



Msinsi continues to review the demographics in order to align 
with the KZN Economically Active Population (EAP).

Human Resources Policies and Procedures

Alignment of HR processes with the organisational strategy 
remained a priority during the year under review.
The policies and procedures plan was developed and most of 
the policies are due for review in the upcoming year. During the 
year under review the following policies and/or procedures 
were developed and reviewed in order to strengthen Msinsi’s 
internal controls:

New policies and procedures:

Reviewed policies and procedures:
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Employment Status By Race And Gender

Figure 5.2 and 5.3 illustrates percentages of race and gender respectively

No Name

1   Travel Policy

2   Travel Procedure

3   Wellness and Employee Assistance Procedure

4   Recruitment and Selection Procedure

5   Bereavement Procedure

No Name

1   Performance Management Procedure

2   Disciplinary Procedure

3   Recruitment and Selection Policy

4   Wellness and Employee Assistance Policy

5   Disciplinary Policy

6   Grievance Procedure

7   Acting Policy

8   Trainee Development Policy

9   Grievance Policy

Race

2%

98%

0%0%

African

Coloured

Indian

White

Gender

42%

58%

Male

Female
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Staff Information Sessions

Management had ensured that all employees were kept up to 
date with any changes taking place in the company. Three staff 
information sessions were held during the year under review. 
Proceedings of these meetings are recorded for the purposes of 
addressing issues, as may be required. 

Labour Turnover

The labour turnover control is based on permanent employees’ 
terminations excluding natural attrition. There was a 2.3% 
labour turnover as a %-age of 129 employees in the staff 
establishment during the reporting period.   The recorded 
labour turnover is below the organisational benchmark of ≤8%.

Employment Relations Management

The framework of collective bargaining had been created by 
entering into a recognition agreement with the National Health 
and Allied Workers Union (NEHAWU).  Trade union membership 
is a voluntary association for all employees.  Up to 72% of 
employees, including contract employees were trade union 
members during the year under review.

All scheduled engagement meetings with the union were 
achieved during the year under review. There were four CCMA 
cases of unfair labour practice that took place during the 
reporting period.

The outcome of the CCMA cases was as follows:
• A settlement agreement was reached on three of the   
 cases
• CCMA ruled in favour of Msinsi in one of the cases

Leadership And Learning & Development

The Leadership and Learning and Development priority was on 
achieving employee development requirements as per the 
Individual Development Plans (IDPs) set out in the performance 
contracts. A total of 3 500 hours were spent on employee 
development. 

The reporting year saw the implementation of the SHEQ 
Management System within the organisation and as a result, 
most training programs were related to compliance with the 
SHEQ system.

Media

Recruitment and Selection

During the year under review four permanent positions were filled.

Occupational Levels
Male Female

A         C            I          W A         C            I          W

Total

Skilled technical and academically qualified workers, 
junior management, supervisors, foremen, and 

superintendents

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making

TOTAL PERMANENT ENGAGEMENTS

0           0              0            0              2            0              0             0

1           0              0            0              1            0              0             0

1           0               0             0              3             0              0             0 4

2

2

Note: A=Africans, C=Coloureds, I=Indians and W=White

Table 5.1: The demographics of the recruited employees as per the occupational levels

Figure 5.4: Reasons for labour turnover.

Voluntary : 

- Resignation

Involuntary :

- Death & 

- Dismissals

Retirement

Combined Years
of service

6

5

4

3

2

1

0
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Quarter

Years

Labour Turnover
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Employee Bursary Scheme

Employees were also given an opportunity for development 
through the bursary scheme, and 7% participated by studying 
towards approved qualifications in this regard. The skills 
acquired were critical for the company to achieve its strategic 
objectives and mandate.

Graduate Trainee / Internship Programmes

A total of eight graduate trainees were appointed during the 
year under review, of which two resigned and one was appoint-
ed into a fixed term contract position. There were five graduate 
trainees by the end of the year under review

Workforce Planning

The HR Department continuously ensures the effective 
identification of the right talent in the right place, at the right 
time in order to enable Msinsi Holdings transformation and 
growth plan. In so doing, future staffing requirements of the 
organisation are forecasted in order to ensure that optimum 
staffing levels are maintained.

During the year under review several succession planning 
interventions were undertaken in order to ensure that the 
future needs of the organisation are met.

The maintenance team was assessed for the Recognition of 
Prior Learning and the plans to close the gaps identified are 
underway.

Executive competency assessments were conducted in order to 
enhance the senior management and executive skills.

Furthermore, competency assessments were undertaken 
wherein categories of staff were assessed for suitability in their 
current positions. Interventions to address the assessment gaps 
are planned for 2019/20 financial year.

 

 

Figure 5.5: Number of trainees per quarter

Qualification Number 
Of Employees

Higher Certificate in Marketing           1

Master in Business Administration           1

National Diploma in Public Management           1

National Diploma in Environmental Management           1

Postgraduate Diploma in Business Management           1

Table 5.2: Qualifications studied

Programme Number 
Of  Trainees

Graduate Trainees (internal) 5

Internship (Mnambithi TVet) 3

Table 5.3: Interns hosted
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Managers were assessed on the following competencies:

Supervisors / Specialists were assessed on the following competencies:

Critical

Numerical

Strategic 

Focus
Logical

Critical

Verbal
Adaptavity

Customer 

Focus

Analytical

Thinking
Negotiation

People 

Management

Teamwork
Emotional 

Intelligence

Project

Management

Results

 Driven

Critical

Numerical

Strategic 

Focus
Logical

Critical

Verbal
Adaptavity

Customer 

Focus

Analytical

Thinking
Negotiation

People 

Management
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Employee Wellness

During the year under review the Wellness Policy and Procedure 
were developed and presented to all employees during the 
Human Resources road shows. The purpose is 
 To manage the provision of a supportive working   
 environment for employees experiencing
  conditions affecting their wellness in the workplace.  
 To provide guidelines on employee wellness where   
 organisational intervention is required.

Peer Educator Programme continued in conjunction with that 
of Umgeni Water. Several wellness programmes took place at 
the reserves during staff meetings, and these included amongst 
others:

 Information and awareness on HIV/AIDS
 Voluntary free testing
 Health checks prior to wellness days

Wellness programmes were held at the reserves as follows 
during the year under review:
 21 February – Izintaba
 22 February – Ulwandle

World AIDS Day was commemorated together with Umgeni 
Water on 30 November and 1 December 2018 as it normally 
happens each year and it portrayed an opportunity for every 
employee to unite in the fight against HIV/AIDS, show support 
for people living with HIV/AIDS and remember those who have 
passed on.

Furthermore, annual medicals were conducted during the latter 
part of the year and they will be completed during 2019/2020 at 
Inanda Dam & Resort and Albert Falls Dam & Game Reserve.

Performance Management

The Performance Management System of Msinsi requires that 
all employees conclude performance agreements. These are 
aligned to the strategic objectives and Annual Performance 
Plan targets applicable to the year when they are concluded. 
 
The performance system together with the performance 
management procedure was reviewed to align it with the 
performance management and performance bonus policies 
which were approved in the prior year. 

Performance bonuses were paid out during the year under 
review following Board approval of the policy and 
implementation thereof. 

Continuous improvement on performance management 
remains the priority, joining forces with Umgeni Water is 
essential. Henceforth, during the reporting period, the Senior 
Manager: Human Resources of Umgeni Water facilitated the 
performance management workshop to Msinsi management 
sharing the experience and the lessons learnt on the 
implementation of the performance management system at 
Umgeni Water. The workshop was a success and it equipped 
Msinsi in eliminating the gaps identified in the performance 
management system. 

Reward And Recognition

Remuneration Framework

Msinsi embarked on the review of the remuneration framework 
in order to ensure that it has relevance to its operating 
environment and landscape within which the organisation 
operates. However, the implementation of the remuneration 
framework was put on hold, and shall be completed following 
the completion of the Organisational Development (OD) 
project in the first quarter of the upcoming year.

Some of Albert Falls Dam & Game Reserve Staff
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Continuous Improvement

Msinsi adopted a culture of sustained improvement targeting 
the elimination of waste in all systems and processes of an 
organisation. It involves everyone working together to make 
improvements without necessarily making extensive capital 
investments.

During the year under review the Human Resources 
Department conducted a focus group study in all organisational 
sites wherein employees participated.  The participation rate 
was 77%. 

The responses were noted from the participants in order to 
obtain employees’ views on the understanding and implemen-
tation of Msinsi values and the continuous improvement in the 
organisation in general. The related report was presented to 
management for noting and implementation where possible.  

Organisational Development Project

The Organisational Development (OD) project was one of the 
HR milestones during the year under review.
The project was aimed at achieving a holistic organisational 
redesign and alignment of salaries to the market.

The scope was focused on the following:
 Organisational Design
 Job analysis
 Skills Audit & Individual Competency Profiling

At the end of the reporting period the project was not 
completed and it will be finalized in the first quarter of the new 
financial year.

Human Resources Systems And Risk Management

Msinsi continued to be linked to Umgeni Water’s SAP 
information system which was introduced in March 2017. The 
completion and implementation of the Umgeni Water’s 
Information Communication Technology strategy will oversee 
the holistic utilization of the SAP system modules such as the 
Employee Self Service.

The HR department continued to be part of the organisational 
risk review committee meetings and interventions were done 
where required.

Figure 5.4: Year on year budget and salary costs

Salary Costs

Employee costs amounted to R34 844 687 and the cost is within budget of R42 516 000.

Years

Amount

YTD Total Salary Costs 

Against The Budget

2017 /2018 2018 /2019

37 046 000
34 581 851

42 516 000

34 844 687
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Marketing Overview

Industry competitors pose a threat in any environment there-
fore in order to improve on and achieve revenue and footfall 
targets set, industry trends were monitored. Marketing was also 
focused on advertising and promotional activities to create 
brand awareness and increase the existing awareness levels 
through nature experiences, ultimately resulting in a need and a 
desire to expose oneself to Wellness Through Nature.

Marketing Objectives

The 2018/19 Marketing objectives were to:

 To reinforce the Msinsi brand in the minds of the   
 consumer with a focus on “Wellness through Nature”;
 To strengthen the brands position within the market   
 thus creating a strong brand presence via brand   
 awareness;
 To increase revenue for all Msinsi Reserves;
 To increase visitor numbers, visitor satisfaction and   
 repeat visitors

Integrated Marketing Mediums

With the creation of the new Company Corporate Identity 
Manual, consistent application was applied across all mediums 
ensuring Msinsi was positioned with flair and remained relevant 
to the consumer. A fully engaged brand experience approach 
was therefore undertaken. 

The table below illustrates the number of marketing initiatives 
executed against each marketing medium.

Marketing And
Stakeholder Overview

Medium Number of 
initiatives

Print   14

Digital/Direct 12

Exhibitions/Tradeshows 5

Activations  11

Schools marketing 15

Influencer marketing 25

Social media posts/videography                        36 videos 
                                                                                           and 1230 posts

Table 7.1: Marketing initiatives

Meetings Africa Conference
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Following on from the Marketing mediums listed above, the 
approach taken to fully utilise these mediums were as follows:

 Print: adverts were published in the Independent   
 Newspaper, Mums Mail, Complete Fly Fisherman, On   
 Route, Mzansi Travel and What, When and Where to   
 target specific markets and to ensure that the   
 campaigns were communicated effectively.   

 Digital/Direct: the website www.msinsi.co.za was the   
 primary medium for communicating activities and   
 product offers. Quarterly newsletters were also 
 distributed to the customer database. 

 Event participation: Msinsi hosted two own events   
 which were the Stakeholder Engagement event and   
 the first annual Ladies High Tea. Both events were well  
 attended and achieved the objectives set out. 

 Exhibitions/Tradeshows: Msinsi participated in The   
 Wedding Expo and the Beauty & Bridal Show which   
 brought together thousands of new buyers and   
 helped develop a quality database. The Meetings   
 Africa Conference and Africa’s Travel Indaba was also   
 attended. These exhibitions gave Msinsi an 
 opportunity to showcase its products, promote 
 services on offer and networking. 

 Activations: forming partnerships with EDTEA, DUCT   
 and Umgeni Water enabled Msinsi to participate in   
 numerous activations such as the KZN Provincial   
 Junior Land Care Competitions, Baswe Le Meetse,   
 Arbor Day, Duzi Canoe Marathon and KZN Canoe   
 Sprint to name a few. Msinsi also teamed up with KZN   
 Sharks Board to activate at the Comrades Marathon. 

 Schools Marketing / Environmental Education: the   
 purpose of the school visits was to provide and   
 promote environmental literacy, education and   
 empowerment to the children.

 Influencer Marketing: Ms Asante Chiliza a well-known   
 vlogger and radio personality was Msinsi’s Brand   
 Ambassador until December 2018. In May 2019 Msinsi   
 welcomed its new Brand Ambassador, fitness 
 enthusiast Mr. Phumlani Dube into the family. 
 Msinsi looks forward to a successful partnership 
 with Mr Dube.  

 Social media posts/videography: Facebook, Instagram,  
 Twitter, YouTube and LinkedIn are the social media   
 platforms Msinsi used to keep audiences abreast of the  
 activities taking place and products on offer at the   
 Resorts and Game Reserves.

Marketing Achievements

For the year under review, Msinsi engaged with various 
stakeholders and undertook initiatives to improve on the 
business objectives. The Balance Scorecard objective number 1 
is to Increase services and customers. This was initiated through 
a number of marketing initiatives implemented to promote 
Msinsi products. The target was set at 40 initiatives which was 
achieved and well exceeded by an additional 31 initiatives. 
Other major achievements for Msinsi are as follows:
• Creation of the Corporate Identity Manual
• MoU with CaravanParks.Com
• MoU with Mabliza Lifestyle
• MoU with Kwa-Zulu Natal Sharks Board
• MoU with uShaka Marine World
• Implementation of the quarterly newsletter
 

Celebrating signing of the MoU with uShaka Marine World
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Stakeholder Engagement

Msinsi recognises and embraces the fact that effective 
engagement with stakeholders is key to its success in realising 
its vision as a business. Msinsi engages with various 
stakeholders in the course of undertaking its functions.  

During the reporting period Msinsi identified the stakeholders 
as illustrated in the Figure below:

On 13 July 2018, Msinsi hosted its first Stakeholder Engagement 
event. The event was well attended by shareholders, 
stakeholders and media.  In 2018/19, Msinsi entered into MoU’s 
with four stakeholders. The partnerships formed shall allow 
both parties to jointly co-operate in the field of tourism 
development, collaborate and implement joint campaigns that 

shall result in a positive contribution to the community and to 
stimulate the growth of Msinsi as a “preferred” brand and 
destination. 
More information on stakeholder engagements is discussed in 
Chapter 4.

Figure 7.1: Msinsi stakeholders
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Introduction

Corporate Social Investment (CSI) has become one of the 
standard business practices in organisations. Msinsi takes the 
CSI concept as a crucial component of enhancing the relevance 
of Msinsi to its stakeholders hence a number of initiatives that 
benefit the stakeholders have been supported in 2018/19 and 
will continue to be supported by the organisation. Msinsi aims 
at achieving a positive impact on communities in areas around 
the dams it manages. 

Msinsi invests in CSI projects falling within the following 
5 categories:
 Education and Training
 Job Creation
 Public Health, Community Development and Support
 Environmental Conservation
 Arts, Culture and Sports

CSI Committee

The CSI committee reviews, conducts investigations into the 
relevance, viability and sustainability of the proposed projects 
received. The CSI proposals are recommended for approval in 
line with Msinsi’s Delegation of Authority Framework (DOAF).
 
The table below illustrates CSI initiatives undertaken during the 
period under review

Msinsi’s contribution to the upliftment of the communities is a long term strategic commitment to 
partner with the communities where Msinsi operates.

Initiatives Undertaken

• Donated livestock towards the pre uMkhosi weLembe function
• Donated toys, educational material and planted a vegetable patch for Thandizwe Pre-School

• Donated carpets and garden equipment to Albert Falls Primary School
• Sponsored the use of the Albert Falls Hall to Albert Falls Primary School
• Donated livestock towards the Moral Regeneration and Participation in sports of youth event

• Donated sport kits to the teams representing the Thokozani Ward 
• Donated a jungle gym to Oka-Mepho Creche
• Donated sport kits to Oakford Primary School
• Sponsored the Nagle Dam and Game Reserve Conference Room to the uMgungundlovu Stakeholder Forum to host  
 the Take A Girl Child To Work Day

• Donated livestock towards the Maphephetheni Tribal Authority ritual

Table 8.1: CSI Initiatives undertaken

Corporate Social 
Investment Overview
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A number of environmental education programmes have been implemented in all reserves as detailed in the following tables:

Environmental
Education

Period Theme
Participating 
grades (age)

Number of 
learners 

participating

Lesson Learnt / 
ImprovementsInstitution

Material 
and 

Method

Conserving indigenous trees

Water Safety and Water 
Conservation

Litter and pollution 
prevention

Awareness of protecting the 
Ozone layer, the importance of 
planting indigenous plants and 
saving water.

Wildlife, species diversity and 
ecosystems

Importance of water and 
conservation

Wildlife, species diversity and 
ecosystem

Wildlife, species diversity and 
ecosystem

Wildlife, species diversity and 
ecosystem

Wetland identification and 
human factor on them

Wildlife, species diversity and 
ecosystem

Oral Presentation;
Tree planting

Water safety and 
conservation

Cleaning the Albert 
Falls Dam shoreline
 
Oral presentation

Game drive and 
nature walk
 
Oral presentation 
of water purifiction 
process by Umgeni 
water

Game drive and 
nature walk

Game drive and 
nature walk

Game drive and 
nature walk

Oral presentation, 
water containers

Game drive and 
nature walk 

Nkalishane PS

Vuka PS

Albert Falls PS

Mpolweni HS

Thandaza HS

Albert Falls 
general workers 
and Camp 
attendants

Mcothoyi HS

Our Lady of the 
Rosary Sec. S

Swelihle Sec. S

Nkalishana PS

Vikingozi Sec. S

20

40

40

300

18

14

18

18

18

12

18

Gr 1-7

Gr 6

Gr 6 & 7

Gr 8 - 12

Gr 8 & 9

Workers

Gr 8 & 9

Gr 8 & 9

Gr 8 & 9

Gr 6

Gr 8 & 9

Arbor Day

Water Safety

International 
CoastalCleaning

Ozone Layer

Biodiversity

Water is life

Biodiversity

Biodiversity

Biodiversity

Importance of 
Wetland 

Biodiversity

04/09/2018

13/09/2018

19/09/2018

26/09/2018

15/10/2018

06/11/2018

28-29/
01/2019

11-12/02/2019

25-25/
02/2019

08/03/2019

25-26/
03/2019

The primary objective of environmental education is to create 
awareness of environmental matters, using the schools as a 
platform for achieving this.  The themes for the campaigns are 
aligned with the national calendar of environmental events or 

themes.  Up to 1 840 learners and/or people from 60 schools 
and/or institutions were reached through this programme 
during the year under review.  
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Period Theme
Participating 
grades (age)

Number of 
learners 

participating

Lesson Learnt / 
ImprovementsInstitution

Material 
and 

Method

Basic hygiene, avoiding germs, 
wellness and healthy minds

Conservation and wildlife 
identification

Wildlife, species diversity and 
ecosystems

Conservation and wildlife 
identification

Effect of pollution on the 
environment and good 
practices of avoiding pollution

Oral Presentation

Game drive

Game drive and 
nature walk

Game drive

Human factor on 
the environment; 
Presentation

Bathengi PS & 
Albert Falls PS

Albert Falls PS

Brookdale Sec. S

Bathengi PS

Mpolweni HS

40

20

18

20

20

Gr 6 & 7

Gr 6 & 7

Gr 8 & 9

Gr 6 & 7

Gr 8 & 9

World Health 
Day

International 
Day of 
Biodiversity

Biodiversity

International 
day of 
Biodiversity

World 
Environmental 
Day

10/04/2019

09/05/2019

12-13/05/2019

05/06/2019

06/06/2019

Table 8.1: Initiatives undertaken by Albert Falls Dam & Game Reserve

Period:
Q1-Q4 Theme

Participating 
grades (age)

Number of 
learners 

participating

Lesson Learnt / 
ImprovementsInstitution

Material 
and 

Method

Dam Safety

Dam Safety 

Planting of trees and dam safety

The importance of trees and 
Dam Safety ease.

Dam Safety  and environmental 
pollution

Dam Safety  and 
environmental pollution

Oral presentation 
and posters

Oral presentation 
and posters

Oral presentation 
and posters

Oral presentation

Oral presentation

Oral presentation

Cotton Land PS

Golden Step SS

Umdloti PS
Sunfield Home 
School
Cotton Lands PS
Golden Steps SS
Ogunjini PS
Oakford PS
Sacred Heart
Thumbela PS
Mjoji PS
Lockhat HS

Sunfield Home 
School
 
Cotton Lands PS

Oaklands PS

60 

40 

50 

30 

55 

60 

Gr R -7

Gr R-7

Gr 6-7

Gr 7

Gr R-7

Gr 7

Dam Safety

Dam Safety

Arbor Week and 
Dam Safety

Dam Safety 

Dam Safety

Dam Safety

17/08/2018

17/08/2018

05/09/2018

12/09/2018

26/02/2019

26/02/2019

Total 634
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Media

Period:
Q1-Q4 Theme

Participating 
grades (age)

Number of 
learners 

participating

Lesson Learnt / 
ImprovementsInstitution

Material 
and 

Method

Dam Safety  and 
environmentalpollution

Dam Safety  and 
environmentalpollution 

Water Issues Pollution,  
Alien Plants and Water Safety

Water Pollution,  Alien Plants 
and Water Safety

Water Safety

Oral Presentation

Oral presentation

Oral presentation 
and posters 

Oral presentation 
and posters

Oral presentation

Thumbela PS

Ogunjini PS

Msunduze PS 

Bhovungane PS

Hazelmere 
Dam JP

50

65 

40 

45

20

Gr 7

Gr 7

Gr 7

Gr 7

Gr R 

Dam Safety

Dam Safety

National Water 
week

National Water 
week

Dam Safety

27/02/2019

27/02/2019

07/03/2019

07/03/2019

11/05/2019

Media

Period Theme
Participating 
grades (age)

Number of 
learners 

participating

Lesson Learnt / 
ImprovementsInstitution

Material 
and 

Method

Indigenous plants and veld fire 
awareness

Environmental Pollution and 
Mountain clean up campaign

Dam safety awareness

Sustainable water usage

Significant of the dams and 
dam specific legislation 

Recycled material

Oral presentation, 
top soil, tree 
seedlings and 
shovel

Gloves, pamphlets, 
black bags.

Oral presentation, 

Puzzles, charts, 
colour pens, board 
etc.

Charts

Numerous recycled 
materials

Ndlokolo PS

SANBI 
representatives, 
Msinsi & local 
community 
members

Curro HS

All community 
children from the 
various local 
primary and high 
schools

Institute of 
natural resources

Khamangwa HS
Hlahlindlela HS

50

15

10 

72 

15 

9 

Gr R -7 

Adults

Gr 10

Gr RR to 10

Youth group 
fromInstitute of 
Natural
Resources from 
Pietermaritz-
burg

Gr 8 -11

Arbor week

Inanda Dam 
Mountain Clean 
Up

Indigenous 
trees and dam 
safety

Save water leave 
no one behind

Dam Safety

Recycle fashion 
show

7/09/2018

11/12/18

13/03/2019

30/03/19

10/04/19

25/04/19

Table 8.2: Initiatives undertaken by Hazelmere Dam & Resort

Total 515
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Media

Period Theme
Participating 
grades (age)

Number of 
learners 

participating

Lesson Learnt / 
ImprovementsInstitution

Material 
and 

Method

Resources conservation

Different types of ecosystem 
and their roles to human lives

Buckets, soft balls, 
rope, pen and 
paper

Buckets, soft balls, 
rope, pen and 
paper

Laboure PS

New Germany PS

12 

15

Gr 7 & 8

Gr 4-7

Earth day

Ecosystems

10/05/19

11/05/2019

Media

Period Theme
Participating 
grades (age)

Number of 
learners 

participating

Lesson Learnt / 
ImprovementsInstitution

Material 
and 

Method

Role of indigenous trees in 
human livelihoods 

Impact of greenhouse gases on 
environment and human life

Types of wild animals

Treatment process, The role of 
students in water conservation,
Careers in the water sector

Treatment process, The role of 
employees in water 
conservation, 
Sustainable water usage

Impact of pollution on aquatic 
biodiversity, Subsistence fishing 
by local communities

Importance of wetlands in 
biodiversity conservation,
Functions of wetlands on 
regulating natural disasters

Importance of wetlands in 
community livelihood,
Sustainable harvesting of 
bulrushes and reeds 

Importance of wetlands in 
biodiversity conservation,
Traditional and cultural uses of 
wetland resources 

Potting soil
Indigenous tree 
seedlings

Oral presentation 
and audio visuals

Poster 
presentation

Oral and practical 
presentation 

Oral and practical 
presentation

Fishing lessons,
Pollution control 
around water 
courses 

Poster 
presentations,
Audio visual on 
flood regulations

Poster 
presentation, 
Wildlife audio 
visual

Poster 
presentation, 
Reed harvesting 
video for 
traditional reed 
dance

Ngabayena PS

Masijabule HS 

Nonzila PS

Inhlanhla
YabeBhuzi HS

Nagle Dam 

General public

Sansikane PS

Ngabayena PS

Mbhava PS

65

80

25

30

22

35

20

23

30

Gr 10-12

Gr 10-11

Gr 2-3

Gr 8-9

Nagle Dam staff 

Community 
members

Gr 6-7

Gr 5-6

Gr 5-6

Arbor week

World Ozone 
layer day

National Parks 
Week

Water class

Water class

World fisheries

World wetlands 
day

World wetlands 
day

World wetlands 
day

03/09/18

16/09/18

20/09/18

03/10/18

19/10/18

06/11/18

15/02/19

18/02/19

19/03/19

Table 8.3: Initiatives undertaken by Inanda Dam & Game Reserve

Total 198
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Media

Period Theme
Participating 
grades (age)

Number of 
learners 

participating

Lesson Learnt / 
ImprovementsInstitution

Material 
and 

Method

Grey water concept,
Importance of water recycling,
Watering plants using grey 
water, Planting indigenous trees 
for clean water

2019 water week theme,
Responsible use of water

Clean use of natural resources 
and facilities

Hand washing, covering food, 
washing fruits and vegetables,
Taking a bath every day,
Brushing teeth twice a day,

Safety during trails,
Respect for the natural 
resources

Sharing career aspirations,
Opportunities in environmental 
management

Waste separation, recycling 
handling of hazardous material 
and ecosystem services

Practical and oral 
presentation

Water conservation 
pamphlets

Nagle Dam 
facilities

Basic hygiene 
presentation

Nature trails

Careers in 
environmental 
management 

Waste 
management

Nonzila PS

Visitor education

Visitor education

Mpethu PS 

Nonzila PS

Banqobile HS

Msinsi and UW 

18

12

56 

15

22

20

20

Gr 4-5

Mixed group

Mixed group

Gr 2-4

Gr 3-4

Gr 10-11

Msinsi and UW 
staff

National Water 
Week

National Water 
Week

World Health 
Day

World Health 
Day

International 
Day of 
Biodiversity 

World 
Environmental 
Day

Internal 
environmental 
awareness

07/03/19

21/03/19

09/04/19

12/04/19

07/05/19

07/06/19

27/06/19

Table 8.4: Initiatives undertaken by Nagle Dam & Game Reserve

Total 493

Enviromental Awareness event at Hazelmere Dam Enviromental Education event at Nagle Dam
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10.1 Performance against predetermined 

objectives

Msinsi Holdings implements its strategy through a balanced 
scorecard, comprising four (4) Balanced Perspectives, four (4) 
Strategic Goals, and seven (7) Strategic Objectives.

The KPIs are further made up of forty-five (45) total annual 
measurable Result Indicators, for which responsibilities and 
accountabilities were agreed and targets set and approved for 
the entity during the year under review.

Collectively, the scorecard enables the organisation to achieve 
its ten (10) Outcomes and, ultimately, its mission/mandate to 
manage the water resources and the environment. 

10.2 Performance Report

The organisation achieved overall performance of 87% is an 
improvement from the  prior year (2017/2018) overall perfor-
mance of 85%.
 
The variance of 13% was due to nine (9) targets not being holisti-
cally achieved viz.:

SO 1: Increase services and customers 
 i.   Total Occupancy (accommodation and camping)   
      and % variance (achieved 19%)

SO 3:  Improve Financial Viability
 ii.   Total revenue, Rm and per cent variance 
       (from operations) (achieved 68%)

SO 4: Improve Financial ratios 
 iii.  Current ratio (achieved 79%)

SO 5: Improve all key delivery systems
 iv.  SCM turn-around times – quotations (achieved 55%)
 v.   SCM turn-around times - Preference points 
       (achieved 0%)
 vi.  SCM turn-around times – Tenders 
       (achieved 0%) 
 vii. Human Resources Plan reviewed and implemented  
       (achieved 88%)

 

 viii. Human Resources audit conducted (achieved 0%)

SO6: Improve infrastructure assets
 ix.  Infrastructure Maintenance Management Plan   
       developed, approved and implemented 
       (achieved 0%)

Performance for the period under review is illustrated 
graphically in the following Figures 10.1 to 10.5.

Organisational 
Performance Overview

Figure 10.1: Targets

Targets Met And Not Met

(Organisational)

87%

13%

% of Targets Met               % of Targets Not Met
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Figure 10.2: Performance Trends Figure 10.3 Divisional Performance Trend

Figure 10.4 Number of planned and achieved indicators per Division

The Figure below illustrate the summary of the organisational 
performance for Q4 as compared to Q1, Q2 and Q3 of the 
reporting year:

Figure 10.5: Annual Performance Illustration Figure 10.6: Year-on-Year Actual Surplus
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Actual
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Achieved Indicators 2019
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25

22,68

24

20,39

20

17

45

39,25

No. Of Indicators

MD

6

5,75

7

6,5

5

4

12

12
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17

16

15

11,37

14

12,54

28

24,22

OPS

16

13,28

14
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11

7,73

17

15,86
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A surplus of R 2.5 million has been achieved as at 30 June 2019 
against a target to breakeven. The loss that is reflected in the 
prior year has been restated from a surplus of R 117 000 in order 
to comply with the accounting standards (IFRS 15 on revenue).

The performance on revenue and expenditure is attributed to 
Msinsi’s reasonable success to enhance revenue and contain 
cost. 

The cash and cash equivalents grew by 63% from the prior year, 
which is a significant contribution to the 33% overall growth in 
current assets improvement.

The 7.4% increase in current liabilities is mainly due to 
reclassification of leave pay from Provisions to Trade Payables.

The decrease in non-current assets is due to depreciation 
however a 35% year-on-year increase in biological assets was 
achieved mainly due to additions and fair value adjustments. 

The detailed Annual Performance Report is as follows:

STRATEGIC GOALS AND BALANCED SCORECARD 

PERSPECTIVES

Strategic Goal 1: Improve services and be a key partner in the 
provision of sustainable environmental and biodiversity 
management services around water resource dams.
i. Customer and Stakeholder
 Strategic Objective 1: Increase services and customers
 Strategic Objective 2: Increase customer and stake  
           holder value

Strategic Goal 2: Improve funding and financial management.
ii. Financial
 Strategic Objective 3: Improve financial viability
 Strategic Objective 4: Improve financial ratios

Strategic Goal 3: Improve efficiency of all inputs.
iii. Process 
 Strategic Objective 5: Improve key delivery systems

Strategic Goal 4: Strengthen and develop quality human 
resources, infrastructure capacity and water resources sustaina-
bility to support growth.
iv. Organisational Capacity 
 Strategic Objective 6: Improve infrastructure assets
 Strategic Objective 7: Improve skills and competency

Figure 10.7: Year-on-Year Actual Expenditure

Figure 10.10: Year-on-Year Actual Non-Current Assets

Figure 10.8: Year-on-Year Actual Current Assets

Figure 10.9: Year-on-Year Actual Current Liabilities

30-Jun-19

Current Liabilities (R'000)

Current Liabilities

10 539

30-Jun-19

11 329

30-Jun-18

Current

Liabilities

Has Increased

By 790

30-Jun-19

Current Assets (R'000)

Current Assets

13 531

30-Jun-19

17 938

30-Jun-18

Current Assets 

Has Increased 

By 4 400

30-Jun-19

Operating Expenses (R'000)

Operating Expenses

55 164

30-Jun-19

55 479

30-Jun-18

Increased 

Expenses 

By 315

30-Jun-19

Non-Current Assets (R'000)

Non-Current Assets

21 960

30-Jun-19

19 874

30-Jun-18

Non-current 

Assets Has 

Decreaed 

By 2 100 
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Annual Performance Illustration

Organisational Annual Performance is presented in the 
following Tables with sub annexures as follows: 
 Annexure 1: Management Summary
 Annexure 2: Variance Report 

 Annexure 3: 2018/2019 Division’s Performance by   
                          Strategic Goals

Strategic Objectives

SO 1: Increase services and customers 
SO 2: Increase customer and stakeholder value
SO 3: Improve financial viability 
SO 4: Improve financial ratios  

SO 5: Improve all key delivery systems
SO 6: Improve infrastructure assets
SO 7: Increase skills and competency 

Strategic Goals

GOAL 1: Improve services and be a key partner in the provision   
                 of sustainable environmental and biodiversity 
                 management services around water resource dams.
GOAL 2: Improve funding and financial management.

GOAL  3: Improve efficiency of all inputs.
GOAL 4: Strengthen and develop quality human resources,                        
                  infrastructure capacity and water resources 
                  sustainability to support growth.

VariancePerformance

Organisational Performance 

87%

-13%

Organisational Performance 

GOAL 1

-5,08%

94,93%
Not Achieved

Achieved

GOAL 2

-2,86%

97,14%

GOAL 3

-35,70%

64,30%

GOAL 4

-25,00%

75,00%

94,93% 97,14%

64,30%
75,00%

Performance Per Strategic Objective

SO 1

-20,30%

79,70%

SO 2

0,00%

 100,00%

SO 3

-1,80%

98,20%

SO 4

-5,25%

94,75%

SO 5

-35,70%

64,30%

SO 6

-100,00%

0,00%

SO 7

0,00%

100,00%

Variance

Performance

79,70%
98,20%

-1,80%

94,75%
64,30%

-35,70%

-100,00%

-5,25%-20,30%

100,00% 100,00%
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SO 1: Increase services and customers 

x. Total Occupancy (accommodation and camping) 
 and % variance (achieved 19%)

SO 3:  Improve Financial Viability

xi. Total revenue, Rm and per cent variance 
 (from operations) (achieved 68%)

SO 4: Improve Financial ratios 
xii. Current ratio (achieved 79%)

SO 5: Improve all key delivery systems

xiii. SCM turn-around times – quotations (achieved 55%)
xiv. SCM turn-around times - Preference points 
 (achieved 0%)
xv. SCM turn-around times – Tenders (achieved 0%) 
xvi. Human Resources Plan reviewed and implemented   
 (achieved 88%)
xvii. Human Resources audit conducted (achieved 0%)

SO6: Improve infrastructure assets

xviii. Infrastructure Maintenance Management Plan 
 developed, approved and implemented (achieved 0%)

Variance Report

A total of nine (9) out of forty-five (45) Result Indicators were not 100% met.

Overall Organisational and Divisional Performance

Operations’ Performance (by Resorts and Reserves /Dams)

Parameter                            Msinsi                        MD                                  CS                            Ops

Planned Indicators

Actual Indicators

Performance

Variance

45

39.28

87.21%

-12.79%

12

12.00

100.00%

0.00%

28

24.24

86.50%

-13.50%

17

15.89

93.32%

-6.68%

Albert 
Falls

Bon 
Accorde

Spring 
GroveParameter Inanda Hazelmere Nagle

Planned Indicators

Actual Indicators

Performance

Variance

8

6.86

85.75%

-14.25%

3

1.24

41.33%

-58.67%

8

6.64

83.00%

-17.00%

8

6.99

87.38%

-12.63%

8

6.59

82.38%

-17.63%

5

5.00

100.00%

-0.00%
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Partner
DivisionsRI Description Msinsi MD CS Ops

CS

MD
MD
OPS
CS
MD
MD
OPS
MD
CS

MD, CS, OPS
OPS

OPS

MD
CS

MD, CS, OPS

CS
CS, OPS

CS
CS
CS
CS
CS
CS
CS
CS

MD, CS, OPS
MD, CS, OPS

CS, OPS
MD

CS, OPS

CS, OPS

1.00

1.00
1.00
0.19
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.00

1.00

1.00
1.00
1.00

1.00
0.84
1.00
0.79
1.00
1.00
1.00
0.55
0.00
0.00
1.00
1.00

1.00
1.00
1.00

1.00

1.00
 
 
 

1.00
 
 
 
 
1.00
1.00
 
 
 

1.00
1.00

1.00
1.00
1.00
0.79
1.00
1.00
1.00
0.55
0.00
0.00
1.00
1.00

1.00
 
1.00

1.00

 
 
 

0.19
 
 
 
1.00
 

1.00
1.00

1.00
 
 

1.00
 

0.68
 
 
 
 
 

1.00
1.00
 
1.00
 
1.00

1.00

 

1.00
1.00
 
 
1.00
1.00
 
1.00
 
1.00
 
 

1.00
 
1.00
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.00
1.00

1.00
 
 

Number of marketing initiatives implemented to promote Msinsi 
products
Msinsi Expansion Plan reviewed and  approved
Number of New Sites Assessed for inclusion in Msinsi’s scope
Total Occupancy (accommodation and camping) and % variance
Annual Report Submitted to the Board
Quarterly Performance Reports Submitted to the Board
Corporate Plan Submitted to the Board
Annual review of Reserve Management Plans
Engagement with Shareholder to review Service Level Agreement
Strategic stakeholders plan developed and approved by EXCO
Number of engagements with strategic stakeholders 
Number of planned / targeted engagements with 
Amakhosi / Councillors
Number of planned / targeted engagements with Umgeni Water 
Superintendents
Number of engagements with staff
Number of planned / targeted engagements with trade union 
Unqualified external audit report with no emphasis of matter 
(clean audit)
Total expenditure, Rm and per cent variance (*SHC)
Total revenue, Rm and per cent variance
Total surplus (loss), Rm and per cent variance
Current ratio
Debt ratio
Debt to equity ratio
Net profit margin ratio
SCM turn-around times – quotations
SCM turn-around times - Preference points
SCM turn-around times – Tenders
Number of repeat and unresolved findings
Per cent findings (both internal and external audit) resolved 
by action date
Quarterly Reports on Management of Strategic Risks
Internal audit plan implemented and findings reported
Number of new policies and / procedures developed, 
approved and implemented
Number of policies and / procedures reviewed , 
approved and implementeds, 
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Partner
DivisionsRI Description Msinsi MD CS Ops

OPS
MD, CS, OPS

OPS

OPS
OPS
CS
CS
CS

OPS

CS

OPS
CS

1.00
1.00
1.00

1.00
1.00
0.88
1.00
0.00
0.00

1.00

1.00
1.00

 
1.00
 

 
 
0.88
1.00
0.00
 

1.00
 

1.00

1.00
1.00
1.00

1.00
1.00
 
 
 
0.00

 
1.00

 
1.00
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SHEQ management system developed, approved and launched
Number of breaches in materiality and significance framework
Number of water and environmental education initiatives for 
schools / communities implemented
Number of hectares cleared of alien plants
Fire management plan developed and implemented
Human Resources Plan reviewed and implemented
Number of job profiles reviewed and aligned
Human Resources audit conducted
Infrastructure Maintenance Management Plan developed, 
approved and implemented
Number of Graduate Trainees 
(Graduates, In-service Trainees, Interns) developed
Number of temporary jobs created
Number of staff terminations as a % of the total staff complement

Bon Accorde Conference Centre
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Strategic Goal 1: 

Improve services and be a key partner in the provision of sustainable 
environmental and biodiversity management services around water resource dams.

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of marketing initiatives implemented to promote Msinsi products

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥ 40    71    Nil

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of marketing initiatives implemented to promote Msinsi products

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥ 40    71    Nil

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of Reviewed and approved expansion plan

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Expansion plan approved   Expansion plan approved   Nil
    by EXCO    by EXCO

Indicator responsibility   MD

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of Reviewed and approved expansion plan

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Expansion plan approved   Expansion plan approved   Nil
    by EXCO    by EXCO

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of New Sites Assessed for inclusion in Msinsi’s scope

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≤3    3    Nil

Indicator responsibility   MD

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of New Sites Assessed for inclusion in Msinsi’s Scope

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≤3    3     Nil

BALANCED SCORECARD PERSPECTIVE:

OUTCOMES:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CUSTOMER AND STAKEHOLDER

Stakeholder Understanding and Support

Community and Environmental Sustainability

Customer Satisfaction

SO 1: Increase services and customers

The extent to which the entity has grown its services and customers.
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Result Indicator (RI)   Actual accommodation and camping occupancy levels against the capacity 

    and % variance

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    50% occupancy     8.15% occupancy    41.85%  
    ≤10% variance   ≤10% variance   below target

Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

Departmental Indicator (DI) Total Occupancy (accommodation and camping) and % variance – Albert Falls

    50% occupancy     11.23% occupancy    38.77%
     ≤10% variance       below target
Departmental Indicator (DI) Total Occupancy (accommodation and camping) and % variance – Bon Accorde

    50% occupancy     12% occupancy     38% 
    ≤10% variance       below target
Departmental Indicator (DI) Total Occupancy (accommodation and camping) and % variance – Inanda

    50% occupancy     3.75% occupancy    46.24% 
    ≤10% variance       below target
Departmental Indicator (DI) Total Occupancy (accommodation and camping) and % variance – Hazelmere

    50% occupancy    6.13% occupancy    43.87% 
    ≤10% variance       below target
Departmental Indicator (DI) Total Occupancy (accommodation and camping) and % variance – Nagle

    50% occupancy     5.62% occupancy    44.38% 
    ≤10% variance       below target

Result Indicator (RI)   Planned / targeted engagements with Amakhosi / Councillors

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥18    25     Nil
Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of planned / targeted engagements with Amakhosi / Councillors 

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

OPS – Albert Falls   ≥ 4    4     Nil
OPS – Hazelmere    ≥ 4    6     Nil
OPS – Inanda    ≥ 4    7     Nil
OPS – Nagle    ≥ 4    6     Nil
OPS – Spring Grove   ≥ 2    2     Nil

BALANCED SCORECARD PERSPECTIVE:

OUTCOMES:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CUSTOMER AND STAKEHOLDER 

Stakeholder Understanding and Support

Product Quality 

Customer Satisfaction

Community and Environmental Sustainability

SO 2: Increase customer and stakeholder value

The extent to which customer and stakeholder needs have been met.



Result Indicator (RI)   Number of engagements with strategic stakeholders

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    2019/20 Stakeholder  2019/20 Stakeholder   Nil 
    engagement Plan approved  engagement Plan approved 
    by EXCO    by EXCO
    ≥12    82     Nil
Indicator responsibility   MD, CS, OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of engagements with strategic stakeholders

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    2019/20 Stakeholder  2019/20 Stakeholder   Nil 
    engagement Plan approved  engagement Plan approved 
    by EXCO    by EXCO
MD     ≥ 4    15     Nil
CS     ≥ 4    18     Nil
OPS     ≥ 4    49     Nil
Result Indicator (RI)   Number of engagements with staff

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥2    3     Nil
Indicator responsibility   MD

Departmental Indicator (DI)  Number of engagements with staff

MD     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥2    3     Nil
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Result Indicator (RI)   Number of planned / targeted engagements with Umgeni Water Superintendents

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥18    31     Nil
Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of planned / targeted engagements with Umgeni Water Superintendents

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

OPS – Albert Falls   ≥ 4    4     Nil
OPS – Hazelmere    ≥ 4    8    Nil
OPS – Inanda    ≥ 4    12     Nil
OPS – Nagle    ≥ 4    5      Nil
OPS – Spring Grove   ≥ 2    2     Nil

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of planned / targeted engagements with trade union

Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥4    7     Nil
Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Engagements with trade union

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥4    7     Nil



Result Indicator (RI)    Number of submissions to the Board in respect of Quarterly Performance Reports, 

    Annual Report and Corporate Plan 

Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    4 Quarterly    4 Quarterly   Nil
    Performance Reports  Performance Reports
    1 Annual Report   1 Annual Report
Indicator responsibility   MD,CS

Departmental Indicator (DI)  Quarterly Performance Reports Submitted to the Board

MD     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    4 performance Reports  4 Performance Reports   Nil
     by 30 June   by 30 June
Departmental Indicator (DI)  Annual Report Approved by EXCO

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Final Annual Report   Final Annual Report   Nil
    by 31 October   by 31 October
Departmental Indicator (DI)  Corporate Plan Submitted to the Board

MD     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Final Corporate Plan   Final Corporate Plan    Nil
    by 30 April   by 30 April
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Result Indicator (RI)   Engagement with Shareholder to review Service Level Agreement

Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥1    1     Nil
Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Engagement with Shareholder to review Service Level Agreement

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥1    1    Nil



Result Indicator (RI)   Annual review of Reserve Management Plans 

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    5 reserve management    5 reserve management     Nil 
    plans reviewed and  plans reviewed and  
    approved by EXCO  approved by EXCO 
Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI)  Annual review of Reserve Management Plans

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

OPS – Albert Falls   1 reserve management    1 reserve management    Nil 
    plan reviewed and  plan reviewed and 
     approved by EXCO  approved by EXCO
OPS – Hazelmere    1 reserve management    1 reserve management   Nil 
    plan reviewed and   plan reviewed and 
    approved by EXCO  approved by EXCO
OPS – Inanda    1 reserve management    1 reserve management   Nil 
    plan reviewed and   plan reviewed and 
    approved by EXCO  approved by EXCO 

OPS – Nagle    1 reserve management    1 reserve management   Nil 
    plan reviewed and   plan reviewed and 
    approved by EXCO  approved by EXCO
OPS – Spring Grove   1 reserve management    1 reserve management   Nil 
    plan reviewed and   plan reviewed and 
    approved by EXCO  approved by EXCO
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Result Indicator (RI)   Number of water and environmental education initiatives for 

    schools / communities implemented 

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥16    50     Nil
Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of water and environmental education initiatives for 

    schools / communities implemented

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

OPS – Albert Falls   ≥ 4    16    Nil
OPS – Hazelmere    ≥ 4    11    Nil
OPS – Inanda    ≥ 4    8    Nil
OPS – Nagle    ≥ 4    15     Nil



Result Indicator (RI)   Total revenue, Rm and per cent variance (from operations) ≥R20,871,000m

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥R20,871,000m   R13.988,160m   R6.9m below target 

Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI)  Total revenue, Rm and per cent variance: Albert Falls

Albert Falls    ≥R7,528,434m   R4.766,677m   R2.761m below target 

Bon Accorde    Total revenue, Rm and per cent variance: Bon Accorde

    ≥R3,122,267m   R2.597,647m   R524 620 below target 

Hazelmere    Total revenue, Rm and per cent variance: Hazelmere

    ≥R3,429,450m   R2.930,815m   R498 635 below target 

Inanda     Total revenue, Rm and per cent variance: Inanda

    ≥R5,022,049m   R2.817,703m   R2.204m below target 

Nagle     Total revenue, Rm and per cent variance: Nagle

    ≥R1,768,800m   R0.849,843m   R918 957 below target 

Result Indicator (RI)   Total surplus Rm and per cent variance

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Breakeven   R2.51m surplus   Nil

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Total surplus Rm and per cent variance

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Breakeven   R2.51m surplus   Nil

Result Indicator (RI)   Receive an environmental management fee from Umgeni Water 

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    R42.18m ±10%   R42.18m    Nil

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Annual Management fee received from Umgeni Water – R42.18m

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    R42.18m ±10%   R42.18m    Nil
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Strategic Goal 2: 

Improve funding and financial management

BALANCED SCORECARD PERSPECTIVE:

OUTCOMES:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

FINANCIAL PERSPECTIVE

Financial Viability

Stakeholder Understanding and Support

Customer Satisfaction

Community and Environmental Sustainability

SO 3: Improve Financial Viability

The extent to which there are sustainable financial returns for each system, area, 

region and the organisation



Result Indicator (RI)   Zero Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure and Irregular Expenditure 

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Zero Fruitless and Wasteful  R43 728.13 fruitless and   R43 728.13 fruitless  

    Expenditure and Zero   wasteful expenditure   and and wasteful 

    Irregular Expenditure.  R1 767 313.40 irregular   expenditure incurred

        expenditure    R1 767 313.40  

            irregular expenditure 
Indicator responsibility   CS, MD, OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Zero Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure and Irregular Expenditure.

CS     Number of breaches or instances of non-compliance to the approved materiality

     and significance framework

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Zero Fruitless and Wasteful  R19 055.06 fruitless and   R19 055.06 fruitless  

    Expenditure and Zero   wasteful expenditure   and and wasteful 

    Irregular Expenditure.  R449 697.67 irregular   expenditure incurred

        expenditure    R449 697.67  

            irregular expenditure

Departmental Indicator (DI)  Zero Fruitless and Wasteful  Zero Fruitless and Wasteful  Nil 

MD     Expenditure and Zero   Expenditure and Zero   

    Irregular Expenditure.  Irregular Expenditure.

Departmental Indicator (DI)  Zero Fruitless and Wasteful  R24 673.07 fruitless and   R24 673.07 fruitles

OPS     Expenditure and Zero   wasteful expenditure   and and wasteful  

    Irregular Expenditure.  R1 317 615.73 irregular   expenditure incurred

        expenditure    R1 317 615.73

            irregular expenditure  

Result Indicator (RI)   Total expenditure, Rm and per cent variance       

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    R63.260m    R56.326 m   Nil

    (≤90% of budget, R55m) 

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Total expenditure, Rm and per cent variance

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    R63.260m    R56.326 m   Nil

    (≤90% of budget, R55m) 
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Result Indicator (RI)   Unqualified external audit report with no matters of emphasis (clean audit)       

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Unqualified external audit   Unqualified external audit   Nil

    report with no matters of  report with matters of  

    emphasis (clean audit).  emphasis (clean audit). 

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Unqualified external audit report with no matters of emphasis (clean audit)

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Unqualified external audit   Unqualified external audit   Nil

    report with no matters of  report with matters of  

    emphasis (clean audit).  emphasis (clean audit). 
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Result Indicator (RI)   Number of repeat and unresolved findings       

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≤ 8    3    Nil

Indicator responsibility   MD, CS, OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of repeat and unresolved internal audit findings

MD     ≤ 2    0    Nil 

CS     ≤ 2    1    Nil

OPS     ≤ 2    2    Nil

Result Indicator (RI)   Per cent findings (both internal and external audit) resolved by action date

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥ 80% findings (total internal  97% findings (total internal  Nil

    and external) resolved within and external)  resolved within 

     target dates.   target dates.

Indicator responsibility   MD, CS, OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Internal audit plan implemented and findings reported

MD, CS, OPS    ≥ 80% findings (total internal  97% findings (total internal  Nil

    and external) resolved within and external)  resolved within 

     target dates.   target dates.

Departmental Indicator (DI) Per cent findings (both internal and external audit) resolved by action date

MD     ≤ 2    0    Nil

CS     ≤ 2    2    Nil 

OPS     ≤ 2    1    Nil

Result Indicator (RI)   Quarterly Reports on Management of Strategic Risks 

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    4 reports by 30 Jun   4 reports by 30 Jun  Nil

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Quarterly Reports on Management of Strategic Risks 

CS, OPS     4 reports by 30 Jun   4 reports by 30 Jun  Nil
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BALANCED SCORECARD PERSPECTIVE:

OUTCOMES:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

FINANCIAL

Financial Viability, Infrastructure Stability, Community Sustainability. 

SO 4:  Improve financial ratios 

The extent to which there are sustainable financial returns for each system, area, 

region and the organisation

Result Indicator (RI)   Financial ratios : surplus ratio, current ratio, debt ratio, debt to equity ratio 

    within acceptable norms      

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Current ratio: ≥2:1   Current ratio 1.58:1  1.20 below target

    Debt ratio: ≤0.5:1   Debt ratio 0.58:1   Nil 

    Debt to equity: ≤ 1.5:1  Debt to equity 1.34:1  Nil 

    Net profit margin ratio: ≤3% Net profit margin ratio 4.47% Nil 

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Financial ratios: surplus over total revenue ratio, current ratio, debt ratio 

    within acceptable norms

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Current ratio: ≥ 2:1  Current ratio 1.58:1  1.20 below target

    Debt ratio: ≤ 0.5 :1  Debt ratio 0.58:1   Nil 

    Debt to equity: ≤  1.5:1  Debt to equity 1.34:1  Nil 

    Net profit margin ratio: ≥ 3% Net profit margin ratio 4.47% Nil 
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Strategic Goal 3: 

Improve efficiency of all inputs.

BALANCED SCORECARD PERSPECTIVE:

OUTCOMES:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

PROCESS

Operational Resiliency, Operational Optimisation and Community 

and Environmental Sustainability

SO 5: Improve all key service delivery systems

The extent to which business processes, policies and systems are 

enabling strategy implementation 

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of hectares cleared of alien plants 

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥1817ha    1822ha     Nil
Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of hectares cleared of alien plants

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

OPS – Albert Falls   ≥1000    1005     Nil
OPS – Hazelmere    ≥100    100     Nil
OPS – Inanda    ≥56    56     Nil
OPS – Nagle    ≥630    630     Nil
OPS – Spring Grove   ≥31    31     Nil 

Result Indicator (RI)   Fire management plan developed and implemented

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Pre-burning Plan approved  Pre-burning Plan approved  Nil
    for upcoming fire season  for upcoming fire season 
    ≥106.8km   ≥106.8km   Nil
Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Fire management plan developed and implemented

OPS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    Pre-burning Plan approved Pre-burning Plan approved Nil  
    for upcoming fire season  for upcoming fire season 

OPS – Albert Falls   ≥15 km    15 km    Nil
OPS – Hazelmere    ≥5km    5 km    Nil
OPS – Inanda    ≥1.8km    1.8 km    Nil
OPS – Nagle    ≥15 km    15 km    Nil
OPS – Spring Grove   ≥70km    70 km    Nil
 



Result Indicator (RI)   Number of new policies and / procedures developed, approved and implemented    

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥16    18    Nil

Indicator responsibility   CS, OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of new policies and/procedures developed, approved and implemented

CS     ≥10    12     Nil

OPS     ≥6    6     Nil

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of policies and / procedures reviewed, approved and implemented  

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥14    20    Nil

Indicator responsibility   CS, OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of policies and/ procedures  developed, approved and implemented

CS     ≥11    17    Nil

OPS     ≥3    3     Nil

Result Indicator (RI)   Human Resources audit conducted

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥1    0    HR audit was not 

            conducted by yearend 

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Human Resources audit conducted

CS     ≥1    0    HR audit was not 

            conducted by yearend 

Result Indicator (RI)   Human Resources Plan reviewed and implemented       

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥8 of 8 HR Milestones   7 of 8 HR Milestones   1 HR milestone

    completed   completed    not competed

    2019/20 Human Resources  2019/20 Human Resources   Nil

     Plan approved By Board  Plan approved By Board

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Human Resources Plan reviewed and its implementation milestones approved

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥7 of 8 HR Milestones   7 of 8 HR Milestones  1 HR milestone

    completed   completed    not competed

    2019/20 Human Resources  2019/20 Human Resources   Nil

     Plan approved By Board  Plan approved By Board

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of job profiles reviewed and aligned

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥12    24     Nil

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of job profiles reviewed and aligned

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥12    24     Nil
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Result Indicator (RI)   SHEQ management system developed, approved and launched   

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥1    1    Nil

Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) SHEQ management system developed, approved and launched

OPS     Q3 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥1    1    Nil  

Result Indicator (RI)   SCM turn - around times taken to procure goods and services  

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≤10 days    15.49 days   Target turnaround 

            time exceeded 

            by 5.49 days

    ≤6 weeks    14.94 weeks   Turnaround time 

            exceeded by 

            8.94 weeks

    ≤6 weeks    31 weeks   Turnaround time

             exceeded by 

            25 weeks

Indicator responsibility   CS

    ≤10 days    15.49 days   Target turnaround 

            time exceeded 

            by 5.49 days

    ≤6 weeks    14.94 weeks   Turnaround time 

            exceeded by 

            8.94 weeks

    ≤6 weeks    31 weeks   Turnaround time

             exceeded by 

            25 weeks  
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Result Indicator (RI)   Infrastructure Maintenance Management Plan developed, approved and implemented

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    2 quarterly progress reports   0 quarterly progress reports  No quarterly 
    on implementation   on implementation   progress reports on 
      submitted   submitted   implementation 
            submitted
    2019/2020 Infrastructure    2019/2020 Infrastructure   2019/2020 Infrastructure 

    Maintenance Plan   Maintenance Plan not  Maintenance Plan
    approved by EXCO  approved by EXCO  not approved by EXCO
Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Infrastructure Maintenance Management Plan developed and implemented

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    2 quarterly progress reports   0 quarterly progress reports  No quarterly 
    on implementation   on implementation   progress reports on 
      submitted   submitted   implementation 
            submitted
    2019/2020 Infrastructure    2019/2020 Infrastructure   2019/2020 Infrastructure 

    Maintenance Plan   Maintenance Plan not  Maintenance Plan
    approved by EXCO  approved by EXCO  not approved by EXCO
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Strategic Goal 4: 

Strengthen and develop quality human resources, infrastructure capacity and water resources sustainability to support growth.

BALANCED SCORECARD PERSPECTIVE:

OUTCOMES:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

ORGANISATIONAL CAPACITY

Operational Resiliency

Operational Optimisation

Community and environmental sustainability

SO6: Improve infrastructure assets

Infrastructure maintenance within target cash flows and completion dates.
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BALANCED SCORECARD PERSPECTIVE:

OUTCOMES:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE:

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

ORGANISATIONAL CAPACITY

Leadership and Employee Development

SO 7: Increase skills and competency

Effectiveness and efficiency of employee training and development programmes

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of Trainees (Graduates, In-service Trainees, Interns) developed and contracted  

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥ 6    7     Nil

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of Trainees (Graduates, In-service Trainees, Interns) developed and contracted

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥ 6    7     Nil

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of temporary jobs created 

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥ 200    342    Nil

Indicator responsibility   OPS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of temporary jobs created

OPS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≥ 200    342    Nil

Result Indicator (RI)   Number of staff terminations as a % of the total staff complement

    Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

    ≤ 8%    2.3%    Nil

Indicator responsibility   CS

Departmental Indicator (DI) Number of temporary jobs created

CS     Q4 Target   Actual    Variance

     ≤ 8%    2.3%    Nil
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General Information
COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION AND DOMICILE South Africa

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES During the year, Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Ltd carried on the business of 
      Environmental and Conservation Management. The Company's mandate from  
      Umgeni Water is to manage the land and water surface of the dams owned or  
      managed by Umgeni Water at a fee and to provide recreational opportunities  
      for the general public.  The bulk of the Company's operations are located at 
      the individual dams namely; Albert Falls, Bon Accorde, Hazelmere, Nagle,  
      Inanda and Spring Grove.

REGISTERED OFFICE    Unit 1 and 2
      Block C
      18 Old Main Road
      Hillcrest
      3610

BUSINESS ADDRESS    Unit 1 and 2
      Block C
      18 Old Main Road
      Hillcrest
      3610

POSTAL ADDRESS    Msinsi Resorts and Game Reserves
      Private Bag X1020
      Hillcrest
      3650

BANKERS     First National Bank; Rand Merchant Bank     

AUDITORS      Auditor General of South Africa      

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER  1992/003933/30

LEVEL OF ASSURANCE    These Annual Financial Statements have been audited in compliance with the  
      applicable requirements of the International Financial Reporting Standards,   
      the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and Public Finance Management Act of 1999.

THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WERE  Denise Govender
PREPARED BY:      Financial Manager
 
THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WERE  Mbali Ngubane CA (SA)
REVIEWED  BY:     Divisional Head: Corporate Services
 

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Directors' Responsibilities 
and Approval
The directors of the company are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and the preparation and 
integrity of the Annual Financial Statements and related financial information. The Annual Financial Statements are prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the International Financial Reporting Standards, the  Companies Act 71 of 2008 and the Public 
Finance and Management Act, 1999, of South Africa ("PFMA").

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal control. These controls are designed to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance to the reliability of the financial statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify 
and maintain accountability of assets, and to prevent and detect material misstatement and losses. The systems are implemented 
and monitored by suitably trained personnel within an appropriate segregation of authority and duties. Nothing has come to the 
attention of the directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and systems has 
occurred during the period under review, however, a suspected fraud which took place in August 2016  and was discovered in
November 2018 has been reported to the South African Police Services. 

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, since the directors have every reason to believe 
that the company will continue to receive support from Umgeni Water. The letter of financial support from Umgeni Water is dated 
22 October 2019.

Msinsi Holdings continues to receive financial support from Umgeni Water for the work it conducts on behalf of Umgeni Water and 
this ensures the going concern status of Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Limited.

Approval of Financial Statements

The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 116 to 145 were approved by the Accounting Authority on 19 September 2019 
and signed on their behalf by:

         OM Dlamini                                                                                                                                                                                          TB Hlongwa 

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019  

Managing Director Board Chairman
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Declaration By The 
Company Secretary
Declaration by the Company Secretary in respect of section 88(2) (e) of the Companies Act for the year ended 30 June 2019.

I certify, in accordance with section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, that for the period ended 30 June 2019, the entity has 
lodged with  the Companies Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) all such returns as required by a state owned company in 
terms of this Act, and that all such returns are true and correct and up to date.

        S D S Madonsela
     Company Secretary
    19 September 2019

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019



T B Hlongwa Non - Executive Appointed April 2014

Dr B Mkhize Independent Non - Executive Appointed June 2014
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O M Dlamini Prescribed Officer Appointed May 2017
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Directors' Report
1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

During the year Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Ltd carried on business of Environmental and Conservation Management. The Company’s 
mandate from Umgeni Water is to manage the land and water surface of the dams owned or managed by Umgeni Water for a fee 
and to provide recreational opportunities for the general public. The bulk of the Company's operations are located at the individ-
ual reserves namely: Albert Falls, Bon Accorde, Hazelmere, Nagle, Inanda and Spring Grove.

2. SHAREHOLDER

Umgeni Water subscribes to 100% of the shareholding.

3. DIRECTORS

The directors in office at the year-end and at the date of this report are:

4. GOING CONCERN

The directors are of the opinion that the company will continue to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable future as it will 
continue to receive support from Umgeni Water. Any issues affecting the restructuring of the holding company (Umgeni Water) 
are not anticipated to affect the entity. This is supported by a  letter of financial support issued to the entity by the shareholder. 
The Accounting Authority of Umgeni Water has issued a going concern status in the entity’s Annual Financial Statements for
2018/2019 (accessible on  www.umgeni.co.za  and on request) and we support their statement in as far as it may be construed to 
extend to Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Ltd.

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019  
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5. LITIGATION STATEMENT

There is no pending litigation for 2018/2019.

6. AUDITORS

The Auditor General of South Africa is the appointed auditor for the company for 2019.

7. LIQUIDITY AND SOLVENCY

The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency test required by the Companies Act 71 0f 2008.  The Annual 
Financial Statements set out on pages 116 to 145 which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the 
board of directors on 19 September 2019, and were signed on its behalf by:

          

          OM Dlamini
     Managing Director
    19 September 2019

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee in terms of Regulation 27.1 of the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999, 

as amended

The Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its charter that adequately addresses the 
functions of an Audit Committee as set out in the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999, as amended (the PFMA).  The 
Committee has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter, and has discharged all of its responsibilities contained therein. 

In the conduct of its duties, the Committee has performed the following activities:

Accepted the Office of the Auditor General of South Africa (AGSA) as the external auditors of Msinsi Holdings SOC Ltd
In the conduct of its duties, the Committee has, inter alia, reviewed the following:

  Internal control, risk management and compliance with legal and regulatory provisions:
   the effectiveness of the internal control systems;
   the risk areas of the entity’s operations covered in the scope of internal and external audits;
   the effectiveness of the system of, and process of, risk management including the following specific risks:
  -  financial reporting;
  -  internal financial controls;
  -  fraud risks relating to financial reporting; and
  -  information technology risks relating to financial reporting;

  the effectiveness of the entity’s compliance with legal and regulatory provisions;
  the adequacy, reliability and accuracy of financial information provided by management and other users of such information; and
  the experience, expertise and resources of the finance function.
  Internal and external audit:
 -  Internal Audit and External Audit Reports;
 - the effectiveness of internal audit;
 - the activities of internal audit, including its annual work programme, co-ordination with the external auditor, the internal  
     audit findings and the management responses and implementation of recommendations to enhance internal controls.
The Committee is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management and internal audit and 
discussions with the AGSA on the result of their audits, that:
   the internal accounting controls are adequate to ensure that the financial records may be relied upon for preparing the  
      financial statements, and accountability for assets and liabilities is maintained;
  the expertise, resources and experience of the finance function are adequate;
  the system and process of risk management and compliance processes are adequate;
  the effectiveness of the assurance and internal audit is adequate; 
  there were no hindrances preventing the Committee from conducting its business in accordance with the 
      approved Internal Audit Charter; and 
  is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the Internal auditors and the AGSA.

Nothing significant has come to the attention of the Committee to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of the 
controls, procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.  The Committee is satisfied that the financial statements 
are based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. 

Audit And Risk Committee Report
For The Year Ended 30 June 2019

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019  
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The Committee has evaluated the Annual Financial Statements of Msinsi Holdings SOC Ltd and accompanying notes as well as the 
AGSA’s management letter and management’s responses for the year ended 30 June 2019 and, based on the information provided, 
the Committee considers that they comply in all material respects with the requirements of the PFMA and International Financial 
Reporting Standards.   The Committee concurs with and accept the AGSA’s report on the annual financial statements.

The Committee concurs with the Board of Directors’ conclusion that the adoption of the going concern premise in the preparation of 
the financial statements is appropriate. Any issues affecting the restructuring of the holding company (‘Umgeni Water’) are not 
anticipated to affect the entity. 

This is supported by a letter of financial support issued to the entity by the shareholder. The Board of Umgeni Water has issued a 
going concern status in the entity’s annual financial statements for 2018/2019 (accessible on www.umgeni.co.za and on request) and 
Audit and Risk Committee supports their statement in as far as it may be construed to extend to Msinsi. 

The Committee has therefore recommended the adoption of the financial statements by the Board of Directors.

   Audit and Risk Committee Chair
             20 September 2019

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Report of the auditor-general to the accounting authority of  Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

1. I have audited the financial statements of the Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Limited set out on pages 116 to 145 which comprise the  
 statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and  
 statement of cash flows for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
 significant accounting policies.
 2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Msinsi Holdings (SOC)  
 Limited as at 30 June 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International  
 Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and the Public Finance 
 Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA). 

Basis for opinion

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those 
 standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of this  
 auditor’s report. 
4. I am independent of the department in accordance with sections 290 and 291 of the International Ethics Standards Board for  
 Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA code), and parts 1 and 3 of the International Ethics Standards  
 Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
 Standards) as well as the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical   
 responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA codes.
5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Other matter

6. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Prior period audited by a predecessor auditor

7. The financial statements of the previous year were audited by a predecessor auditor in terms of section 4(3) of the Public Audit  
 Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) on 30 June 2018.

Responsibilities of accounting authority for the financial statements

8. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the  financial statements in accordance with  
 IFRS and the requirements of the PFMA and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to  
 enable the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
9. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Limited’s  
 ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern  
 basis of accounting unless the appropriate governance structure either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or  
 has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Limited
Independent Auditors’ Report For The Year Ending 30 June 2019
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Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

10. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material  
 misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is  
 a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a material  
 misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggre 
 gate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial  
 statements. 
11. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the annexure to this auditor’s  
 report.

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

Introduction and scope

12. In accordance with the PAA, and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on  
 the reported performance information against predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual 
 performance report. I performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.
13. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance planning  
 documents of the entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the performance indicators included in  
 the planning documents. My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to planned performance  
 strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be included as part of the reported performance information.  
 Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters. 
14. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the criteria developed  
 from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected 
 objectives presented in the annual performance report of the entity for the year ended 30 June 2019:

15. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and whether  
 performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed further procedures to 
 determine whether the indicators and related targets are measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported  
 performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.
16. The material findings in respect of the usefulness and reliability of the selected objectives are as follows:

Strategic objective 1 – Increase services and customers 

Number of reviewed and approved expansion plans

17. The planned target for this indicator was not specific in clearly identifying the nature and required level of performance.

Strategic objective 1 – Increase services and customers   87 - 88

Strategic objective 5 – Improve all key service delivery systems   96 - 98

Strategic objective 6 – Improve infrastructure assets   99 - 99

Strategic objective 7 – Increase skills and competency   100 - 100

Pages in the annual 
performance report

Objectives

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019



112

Annual Report 2018/19

Number of new sites added to the current scope

18. The target approved in the annual performance plan was ≤3. However, the indicator and target was not   
reported in the annual performance report.

Strategic objective 5 – Improve all key service delivery systems  

Fire management plan developed and implemented
                  
19. The planned target for this indicator was not specific in clearly identifying the nature and required level of  performance.
20. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for the reported achievement of the indicators listed below. This was  
 due to insufficient information being provided to test these indicators. I was unable to  confirm the reported achievement by  
 alternative means. Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any adjustments were required to the achievement of the  
 targets as reported in the annual performance report.

21. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for these 
 objectives:
 • Strategic objective 6 – Improve infrastructure assets  
 • Strategic objective 7 – Increase skills and competency

Other matters

22. I draw attention to the matters below. 

Achievement of planned targets

23. Refer to the annual performance report on pages xx to xx for information on the achievement of planned targets for the year 
 and  explanations provided for the under and over achievement of a significant number of targets. This information should be  
 considered in the context of the material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in  
 paragraphs 17 to 20 of this report.

Adjustment of material misstatements

24. I identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material misstatements 
 were on the reported performance information of Increase services and customers and Improve all key service delivery systems.  
 As management subsequently corrected only some of the misstatements, I raised material findings on the usefulness and   
 reliability of the reported performance information. Those that were not corrected are reported above.

Number of hectares cleared of alien plants   1817 Hectares

Fire Management Plan developed and implemented   106,8 Kilometres

Indicators Planned target
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Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope

25. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on  
 the compliance of the entity with specific matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather  
 evidence to express assurance. 
26. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislations are as follows: 

Procurement and contract management

27. Sufficient appropriate audit evidence could not be obtained that all contracts are awarded in accordance with the legislative  
 requirements as information relating to competitive bidding process followed in appointing service providers was not provided  
 for audit.
28. Some of the goods, works or service were not procured through a procurement process which is fair, equitable, transparent and  
 competitive, as required by section 51(1)(a)(iii) of the PFMA

Annual financial statements

29. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial reporting 
 framework, as required by section 55(1)(b) of the PFMA. Material misstatements of non-current liabilities, current liabilities, 
 provisions, revenue and disclosure items identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statements were corrected, 
 resulting in the financial statements receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

Expenditure management

30. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure amounting to R4,65 million as disclosed in note  
 37 to the annual financial statements, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The majority of the irregular expenditure 
 was  caused by non-compliance with the supply chain management laws and regulations and policies.
31. Effective steps were not taken to prevent fruitless and wasteful expenditure amounting to R43 728, as disclosed in note 36 to 
 the annual financial statements, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The majority of the fruitless and wasteful 
 expenditure was caused by the entity incurring interest on late payments.

Other information

32. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in  
 the annual report which includes the director’s report, the audit committee’s report and the company secretary’s certificate as  
 required by the Companies Act, 2008. The other information does not include the financial statements, the auditor’s report  
 thereon and those selected objectives presented in the annual performance report that have been specifically reported on in  
 the auditor’s report. 
33. Our opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and compliance with legislation  
 do not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
34. In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other  
 information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the selected objectives presented in the annual 
 performance report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
35. I did not receive the other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. After I receive and read this information, and if I  
 conclude that there is a material misstatement, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance 
 and  request that the other information be corrected. If the other information is not corrected, I may have to retract this auditor’s  
 report and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. However, if it is corrected this will not be necessary. 
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Internal control deficiencies

36. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported performance information and 
 compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. The matters  
 reported below are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the opinion, the findings on the annual  
 performance report and the findings on compliance with legislation included in this report.
37. Management did not fully apply the requirements of the financial reporting framework as financial statements contained   
 misstatements that were subsequently corrected. The lack of reviews and monitoring of legislation resulted in non-compliance  
 with legislation. Furthermore, management has not implemented proper record keeping controls over procurement 
 documentation to ensure that information is readily available for audit.
38. Management did not implement adequate review processes over performance reporting to ensure that performance 
 information was useful and supported by reliable information.

Other reports

39. I draw attention to the following engagement conducted by various parties that had, or could have, an impact on the matters  
 reported in the entity’s financial statements, reported performance information, compliance with applicable legislation and  
 other related matters. These reports did not form part of my opinion on the financial statements or my findings on the reported  
 performance information or compliance with legislation.
40. One investigation is being conducted by the South African Police Services and was initiated in November 2018. The investigation  
 related to suspected fraud and is still in progress as at the date of this report. 

Pietermaritzburg
16 September 2019
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism through 
 out my audit of the financial statements, and the procedures performed on reported performance information for selected  
 objectives and on the entity’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also: 
 • identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error, design and  
  perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide  
  a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting  
  from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal  
  control
 • obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in  
  the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control
 • evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related  
  disclosures made by the accounting authority.
 • conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
  preparation of the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
  uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Limited  
  ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my  
  auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures 
  are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the financial statements. My conclusions are based on the information available  
  to me at the date of this auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause a entity to cease continuing as a  
  going concern.
 • evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether  
  the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Communication with those charged with governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and  
 significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 
4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and  
 communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my independence and,  
 where applicable, related safeguards. 
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Statement Of 
Financial Position As At 30 June 2019

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2019 2018

Assets

Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 3 15 201 383 18 359 835
Biological Assets 4 4 358 292 3 223 691
Intangible Assets 5 90 531 185 743
Trade and Other Receivables 8 223 345 190 724

19 873 551 21 959 993

Current Assets
Umgeni Water: Intercompany Receivable 6 7 477 392 5 557 635
Trade and Other Receivables 8 1 113 392 2 250 356
Cash and Cash Equivalents 9 9 347 006 5 723 258

17 937 790 13 531 249
Total Assets 37 811 341 35 491 242

Equity and Liabilities

Equity
Share capital 10 100 100
Equity Contribution from Parent 11 - 172 804
Retained income 16 123 162 13 435 509

16 123 262 13 608 413

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions : Corporate Social Investment 14 1 010 137 1 010 137
Loan Account Umgeni Water 7 9 348 579 10 333 793

10 358 716 11 343 930

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 12 8 506 569 7 227 406
Provision for Performance Bonus 13 1 007 525 1 546 279
Loan Account Umgeni Water 7 1 815 269 1 765 214

11 329 363 10 538 899
Total Liabilities 21 688 079 21 882 829
Total Equity and Liabilities 37 811 341 35 491 242
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2019 2018

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Revenue 15 56 177 160 53 608 053
Other income 16 800 245 1 474 294
Fair value adjustment 17 1 344 514 (562 217)
Lease of Land - Albert Falls 19 (147 190) (239 659)
Employee Cost 20 (35 366 291) (34 581 851)
Auditors Remuneration 19 (911 364) (1 004 550)
Depreciation and Amortisation 19 (3 536 015) (3 950 224)
Repairs and Maintenance 18 (2 258 458) (1 486 559)
Other operating expenses 18 (13 259 461) (13 901 212)

Operating profit 2 843 140 (643 923)
Finance income 21 519 152 392 673
Finance costs 22 (847 443) (840 239)

Profit (loss)
Other Comprehensive Income

2 514 849
-

(1 091 489)
-

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) for the period 2 514 (1 091 489)

Statement of 
Changes in Equity

Figures in Rand

Share capital Equity 
contribution 
from parent

Retained 
income

Total equity

849

Figures inRand

Share capital Equity 
contribution 
fromparent

Retained 
income

Totalequity

Balance at 01 July 2017                                                                          100       2 034 887 12 267 712 14 302 699
Profit for the year                                                                                         -                      -          116 617          116 617
Release of Equity Contribution                                                                      -      (1 862 083)      1 862 083                      -
Release of Equity Contribution from the Parent Company                     -      (1 862 083)      1 862 083                      -

Opening balance as previously reported                                                  100          172 804 14 246 412 14 419 316
Correction of Error - Note No 38                                                                    -                      -         (810 903)        (810 903)
Balance at 01 July 2018 as restated                                                      100          172 804 13 435 509 13 608 413
Profit for the year                                                                                         -                      -       2 514 849       2 514 849
Release of equity Contribution from the Parent Company                            -         (172 804)         172 804                      -
Release of Equity Contribution from the Parent Company                     -         (172 804)         172 804                      -
Balance at 30 June 2019                                                                         100                      -     16 123 162 16 123 262
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 40 3 178 572 2 699 268
Finance income 21 519 512 392 673

Net cash from operating activities 3 698 084 3 091 941

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (190 640) (548 101)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 3 - -
Purchase of intangible assets 5 (93 609) (200 932)
Proceeds from the sale of game 4 80 000 -
Proceeds received from hunting 4 129 913 -

Net cash from investing activities (74 336) (749 033)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Total cash movement for the period 3 623 748 2 342 908
Cash at the beginning of the period 9 5 723 258 3 380 350

Total cash at end of the period 9 9 347 006 5 723 258

Statement of 
Cash Flows

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2019 2018
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Accounting Policies
1. Principal Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
the Annual Financial Statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

1.1   Basis of Presentation

The  Annual  Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA), 
and the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The Annual Financial 
Statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention and is presented in South African rand.

1.2   Revenue

Revenue comprises of gate entry fees charged at the reserves 
gates, accommodation, rental and environmental management 
fees charged to Umgeni Water in order to meet the 
environmental management expenditure.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised according to the 
requirement of IFRS 15.

Revenue from interest income is accrued from the Investment 
Call Account maintained at Rand Merchant Bank.

1.3   Financial Instruments

Financial instruments consist mainly of borrowings, finance 
lease liabilities, listed and unlisted investments, cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial 
asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest of 
another entity.

Initial Recognition and Measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

The company determines the classification of its financial assets 
at initial recognition and classifies financial instruments, or their 
component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a 
financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, 
for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any 
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent Measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently measured at fair value, with gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value being included in profit or loss 
for the period. Loans and receivables are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method, less accumulated impairment losses. Financial 
liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Impairment of Financial Instruments

At the end of each reporting period, financial assets measured 
at cost or amortised cost are reviewed for objective evidence of 
impairment. If so, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss for the period. If the objective evidence reverses in a 
subsequent period, impairment losses are reversed in the profit 
or loss of subsequent periods.

De-recognition of Financial Instruments

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights 
to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired or 
have been transferred and the company has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial 
liabilities are de-recognised when, and only when, they are 
extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the 
contract is either discharged, cancelled or expired.
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Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at the invoice 
amount less an allowance for any unallocated amounts. 
Provision is made when there is an objective evidence that the 
company will not be able to collect the debts. Bad debts are 
written off when identified.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 
deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are 
initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Loans to (from) Holding Company

These loans are recognised initially at fair value plus direct 
transaction costs. A loan to the holding company is classified as 
a loan and receivable. A loan from the holding company is 
classified as a loan payable and is measured at amortised cost.

1.4   Operating Leases.

The company is the Lessee:

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the company  
has substantially transferred all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. Assets held under 
finance lease agreements are capitalised. Such assets are 
depreciated in terms of the lease term relating to the relevant 
lease agreement, provided that such term of lease is shorter 
than the assets’ useful lives. Finance leases are capitalised at the 
inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased 
property and the present value of the minimum future lease 
payments. Lease finance charges are allocated to accounting 
periods over the duration of the leases by the effective rate 

method, which reflects the extent and cost of the lease finance 
utilised in each accounting period. All other leases are treated as 
operating leases and the relevant rental expenses are 
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

The Company is the Lessor:

Assets held for the operating leases are presented in the 
Statement of Financial Position according to the nature of the 
asset. Rental income is recognised over the lease term on a 
straight-line basis, unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which use benefit is 
derived from the leased asset.

1.5   Provisions and Contingencies

Provisions are reviewed at reporting date and the amount of a 
provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be 
required to settle the obligation:
 
Provisions are recognised when:

- the company has a present  obligation (legal or constructive)              
   as a result of a past event;
- it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying        
   economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and;
- reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. 
Contingencies are disclosed in the notes.

1.6   Property, plant and equipment.

Initial Recognition and Measurement

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets 
(including infra-structure assets) that are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods and service,  rental to others, or 
for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used 
during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

- it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the item will flow to the company; and
- the item can be measured reliably

Accounting Policies
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Vehicles Straight line 3 to 5 years

Boats Straight line 4 to 5 years

Plant Equipment and Tools Straight line 2 to 6 years

Radios Straight line 5 years

Cruise Boat Straight line 4 years

Garden Equipment Straight line 4 to 5 years

Accommodation Facilities Straight line 2 to 10 years

Cleaning and Catering Straight line 5 to 6 years

Security Straight line 2 to 10 years

Office Equipment Straight line 2 to 6 years

Displays / Exhibitions Straight line 2 to 3 years

Buildings Straight line 40 years

Item                                                        Depreciation Method                     Average Useful Life
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1.6   Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the 
purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended.

Cost include cost incurred initially to acquire or construct an 
item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a 
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of 
the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the 
item and restoring the site on which it is located is also included 
in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is 
obligated to incur such expenditure, and where the obligation 
arises as a result of acquiring the asset.

Subsequent Measurement

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.  
Substantial improvements to property, plant and equipment 
are capitalised whilst maintenance and repairs are written off as 
they occur.

Depreciation

Depreciation on assets other than land is provided on a straight 
line basis so as to write-off the cost of each asset to its residual 
value over its expected useful life.  The depreciation method 
used reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic 
benefits or service potential are expected to be consumed by 
the company.

Plant and equipment of less than R 2 000 is written off on 
acquisition.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:
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The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of 
each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting date. If the 
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is 
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Derecognition

Property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the 
asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit 
when the item is derecognised.

Gains and losses are calculated as the difference between the 
carrying value of assets (cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses) and the disposal proceeds is 
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as a gain 
or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

1.7   Intangible assets.

Initial Recognition

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset 
without physical substance. Intangible assets are initially 
recognised at cost.

The useful life of intangible assets has been assessed as follows:

Subsequent Measurement

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses. Intangible assets, 
including intangible assets not yet available for use, are  
assessed annually for impairment indicators.  When items of 
intangible assets have been impaired,  the carrying value is 
adjusted by the impairment loss, which is recognised as an 
expense in the period that the impairment is identified.  The 
impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount 
and the recoverable amount.

The estimated useful life, residual values and amortisation 
method are reviewed annually at the end of the financial year. 
Any adjustment arising from the annual review is applied 
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Derecognition

Intangible assets are derecognised:
- on disposal; or
- when no future economic benefits or service potential are             
  expected from its use or disposal

1.8   Biological Assets

Biological assets are measured at initial recognition and at each 
reporting date at their fair values less estimated point of sale 
costs. The fair value of livestock is determined by reference to 
prevailing market prices of similar age, genes, and genetic merit 
after considering its highest and best use. All changes in fair 
values are recognised and in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the period in which they arise.

1.9   Employee Benefits  

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 
12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation 
leave and bonuses are recognised in the period in which the 
service is rendered, are not discounted and are based on current 
wage and salary rates.

1.10 Retirement Benefits

The company contributes to a defined contribution plan for the 
provident fund. These contributions are recognised as an 
expense when employees have rendered services entitling 
them to contributions.

1.11 Comparatives Figures

When the presentation or classification of items in the Annual 
Financial Statements is amended, prior period comparative 
amounts are restated. The nature and reason for the 
classification is disclosed.  Where accounting errors have been 
identified in the current year, the correction is made 
retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the prior year 
comparatives are restated accordingly

Item                                         Average Useful life 

Computer software                                                  1 year 
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1.12 PFMA Disclosure.

Irregular Expenditure

Irregular expenditure means, expenditure, other than 
unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of or not 
in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, 
including:

- The PFMA
- The State Tender Board Act, 1968 act no. 86 of 1968, or any               
  regulations made in terms of that Act, or
- Any provisional legislation providing for procurement 
  procedures in that provincial government

Irregular expenditure is accounted for as an expense in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period it occurred 
and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as 
revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is expenditure which was 
made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable 
care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is 
recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The 
expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the 
expense and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

1.13 Capital Commitments

Capital commitments are items classified as commitments 
where the entity commits itself to future transactions that will 
normally result in the outflow of resources.

Capital commitments are not recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position as a liability but are included in the disclosure 
notes in the following cases:
 
- Approved and contracted commitments, where the 
 expenditure has been approved but  the contract has been       
 awarded at the reporting date
- Approved but not yet contracted commitments, where the     
  expenditure has been approved and the contract has not yet    
  being awarded or is awaiting finalisation at the reporting date.
  Contracts that are entered into before the reporting date, but    
  goods and services have not yet been received, are disclosed in  
  the disclosure note to the financial statements.

1.14 Share Capital

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as 
'share capital' in equity. Any amounts received from the issue of 
shares in excess of par value are classified as 'share premium' in 
equity. Dividends are recognised as a liability in the year in 
which they are declared.

1.15 Value Added Tax (VAT)

The entity is registered with the South African Revenue Services 
for VAT on the invoice basis in accordance with Section
15(2) (a) of the Value Added Tax Act, No. 81 of 1991.

The entity is exempted from tax in terms of s10 (1) (cA) (ii) of the 
Income Tax Act.

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity 
that is preparing its financial statements ( referred to as the 
reporting entity).

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to 
a reporting entity if that person:

- has control or joint control of the reporting entity;
- as significant influence over the reporting entity; or
- is a member of the key management personnel of the 
   reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting entity.

An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following 
conditions applies:

- The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same   
  group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow   
  subsidiary is related to the others).
- One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or  
  an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which   
  the other entity is a member).
- Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
- One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other   
  entity is an associate of the third entity.
- The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of  
  employees of either the reporting entity or an entity related to    
  the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan,      
  the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting   
  entity.
- The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person 
   identified above.
- A person identified above has significant influence over the 
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the 
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1.15 Value Added Tax (VAT)  (continued) 
  entity (or of a parent of the entity).
- The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,   
  provides key management personnel services to the reporting   
  entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or 
obligations between a reporting entity and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family mem-
bers who may be expected to influence or be influenced by that 
person in their dealings with the entity and include:

- that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
- children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
- dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic 
partner.

Significant related party relationships and transactions are 
disclosed in the Annual Financial Statements as required by 
IFRS.
 

1.16 Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Annual  Financial Statements in conform-
ity with IFRS standards requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise 
their judgment in complying with policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgment or complexity or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the Annual Finan-
cial Statements are disclosed in the relevant sections of the 
Annual Financial Statements. Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of current events and 
actions they may undertake in the future, actual results 
ultimately may differ from those estimates.

1.17 Key Sources of Uncertainty

There are no assumptions concerning the future, and other 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 
have significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next finan-
cial year.

Accounting Policies
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2.      New Standards and Interpretations

2.1   Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial 
year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard Details of amendment

A final version of IFRS 9 has been issued which replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The completed standard 
comprises guidance on Classification and Measurement, Impairment 
Hedge Accounting and Derecognition:

IFRS 9 introduces a new approach to the classification of financial assets, 
which is driven by the business model in which the asset is held and its 
cash flow characteristics. A new business model was introduced which 
allows certain financial assets to be categorised as “fair value through 
other Comprehensive Income” in certain circumstances.

The new standard introduces a single “expected credit loss” impairment 
model for the measurement of financial assets.

The requirements for financial liabilities are mostly carried forward 
unchanged from IAS 39. However, some changes were made to the fair 
value option for financial liabilities to address the issue of own credit risk.  
IFRS 9 contains a new model for hedge accounting that aligns the 
accounting treatment with the risk management activities of an entity, in 
addition enhanced disclosures will provide better information about risk 
management and the effect of hedge accounting on the financial 
statements.  IFRS 9 carries forward the derecognition requirements of 
financial assets and liabilities from IAS 39.

New standard that requires entities to recognise revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services.
This core principle is achieved through a five step methodology that is 
required to be applied to all contracts with customers.

The new standard will also result in enhanced disclosures about revenue, 
provide guidance for transactions that were not previously addressed 
comprehensively and improve guidance for multiple-element arrange-
ments.

The new standard supersedes:

(a) IAS 11 Construction Contracts;
(b) IAS 18 Revenue;
(c) IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes;

1 January 2018
Applied  in current year

1 January 2018
Applied in the current 
year

IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments

IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts 
from Customers

Annual periods 

beginning on or after
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Standard Details of amendment

(d) IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; 
(e) IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers; and
(f) SIC-31 Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee 
to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 
months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to 
recognise a right- of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying 
leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease 
payments. A lessee measures right- of-use assets similarly to other 
non-financial assets (such as property, plant and equipment) and lease 
liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities. As a consequence, a lessee 
recognises depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease 
liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a 
principal portion and an interest portion and presents them in the 
statement of cash flows.

IFRS 16 contains expanded disclosure requirements for lessees.

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements 
in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating 
leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases 
differently.

IFRS 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that 
will improve information disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, 
particularly to residual value risk.

IFRS 16 supersedes the following Standards and Interpretations: 
(a) IAS 17 Leases;
(b) IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
(c) SIC-15 Operating Leases—Incentives; and
SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form 
of a Lease.

Disclosure Initiative: The amendments clarify and align the definition of 
‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the 
application of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS Standards.

Disclosure Initiative: The amendments clarify and align the definition of 
‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the 
application of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS Standards.

1 January 2019
The entity will adopt
IFRS 16 in
2019/2020

1 January 2020
The entity will adopt
IAS 1 in 2020/2021

1 January 2020
The entity will adopt
IAS 8 in 2020/2021

IFRS 16 Leases

IAS 1 Presentation 
of Financial 
Statements

IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes 
in Accounting 
Estimates and 
Errors

Annual periods 

beginning on or after
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Standard Details of amendment

Disclosure Initiative: Amendments requiring entities to disclose 
information about changes in their financing liabilities. The additional 
disclosures will help investors to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including changes from cash flows and non-cash 
changes (such as foreign exchange gains or losses).

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19): 
The amendments require an entity to use the updated assumptions from 
a remeasurement net defined benefit liability or asset resulting from a 
plan amendment, curtailment or settlement to determine current service 
cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the 
change to the plan.

Annual Improvements 2015 -2017 Cycle: The amendments clarify that if 
any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset are 
ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the 
funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation 
rate on general borrowings.

1 January 2017

1 January 2019
IAS 19 will be adopted in
2019/2020

1 January 2019
IAS 23 will be adopted in
2019/2020

IAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows

IAS 19 Employee
Benefits

IAS 23 Borrowing
Costs

Annual periods 

beginning on or after
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
3. Property, Plant And Equipment

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2019

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2018

2019 2018
Cost Accumulated Carrying value Cost Accumulated Carrying value

depreciation depreciation
Accommodation Facilities 6 120 972 (4 389 408) 1 731 564 6 160 356 (3 657 077) 2 503 279
Boats 1 986 167 (1 280 236) 705 931 1 986 167 (988 918) 997 249
Buildings 11 500 000 (1 078 369) 10 421 631 11 500 000 (796 619) 10 703 381
Firearms 9 735 (9 735) - 9 735 (9 735) -
Cleaning and Catering 568 826 (531 965) 36 861 588 747 (506 902) 81 845
Displays 103 400 (103 400) - 105 689 (103 484) 2 205
Fencing and Signage 1 132 707 (1 023 052) 109 655 1 132 706 (778 177) 354 529
Garden Equipment 1 086 685 (783 774) 302 911 1 104 484 (628 746) 475 738
Radios 54 117 (54 117) - 54 117 (54 117) -
Motor Vehicles 5 401 638 (4 611 234) 790 404 5 973 808 (4 544 724) 1 429 084
Office Equipment 2 143 930 (1 705 120) 438 810 1 995 357 (1 457 400) 537 957
Plant and Machinery 2 855 621 (2 708 897) 146 724 3 065 141 (2 409 103) 656 038
Security 501 942 (493 634) 8 308 501 942 (491 915) 10 027
Visitor Facilities 794 458 (285 874) 508 584 794 458 (185 955) 608 503
Total 34 260 198 (19 058 815) 15 201 383 34 972 707 (16 612 872) 18 359 835

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals/Wri Depreciation Total 
te-Offs

Displays 2 205 - - (2 205) -
Buildings 10 703 381 - - (281 750) 10 421 631
Accommodation Facilities 2 503 279 - - (771 715) 1 731 564
Plant and Machinery 656 038 - - (509 314) 146 724
Fencing and Signage 354 529 - - (244 875) 109 655
Motor Vehicles 1 429 084 - - (638 680) 790 404
Office Equipment 537 957 190 640 - (289 787) 438 810
Security 10 027 - - (1 719) 8 308
Visitor Facilities 608 503 - - (99 920) 508 584
Cleaning and Catering 81 845 - (1 900) (43 085) 36 861
Boats 997 249 - - (291 317) 705 931
Garden Equipment 475 738 - - (172 827) 302 911
Firearms - - - - -
Radios - - - - -

18 359 835 190 640 (1 900) (3 347 194) 15 201 383

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Displays 4 724 - - (2 519) 2 205
Buildings 10 983 458 - - (280 077) 10 703 381
Accommodation Facilities 3 391 669 - (4 103) (884 288) 2 503 279
Plant and Machinery 1 157 582 - - (501 544) 656 038
Fencing and Signage 660 485 - - (305 956) 354 529
Motor Vehicles 1 943 485 278 857 (155 568) (637 690) 1 429 084
Office Equipment 673 425 148 711 (4 025) (280 154) 537 957
Security 138 310 - - (128 283) 10 027
Visitors Facilities 629 506 70 789 - (91 792) 608 503
Cleaning and Catering 158 707 7 368 (24 530) (59 700) 81 845
Boats 1 300 392 35 365 - (338 508) 997 249
Garden Equipment 674 557 7 013 (7 969) (197 864) 475 738
Firearms - - - - -
Radios - - - - -

21 716 300 548 103 (196 195) (3 708 375) 18 359 835

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
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Following an annual assessment of useful lives which was done by management, the useful lives of the assets was found to be correct 
and did not require a change in estimate. The following assets relate to assets which have reached their useful lives and are however 
still in use due to budget constraints:

Asset Type                                                 Cost                             Accumulated Depreciation Book Value

4. Biological Assets

Opening Additions Fair Value Live Sales Hunting Total
balance Adjustments

3 223 691 770 967 573 547 (80 000) (129 913) 4 358 292

2019 2018
Cost / 

Valuation
Fair Value

Adjustment
Carrying value Cost / 

Valuation
Fair Value

Adjustment
Carrying value

Biological assets 3 784 745 573 547 4 358 292 3 785 908 (562 217) 3 223 691

Reconciliation of biological assets - 2019

Biological assets

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

9 735.00

2 662 748.54

731 284.84

435 401.85

103 399.55

395 376.87

393 192.00

1 133 630.07

1 263 767.90

54 116.50

484 751.05

2 846 916.49

10 514 320.66

9 735.00

2 662 748.54

731 284.84

435 401.85

103 399.55

395 376.87

393 192.00

1 133 630.07

1 263 767.90

54 116.50

484 751.05

2 846 916.49

10 514 320.66

Firearm

Accommodation

Boat

Cleaning & Catering

Display

Garden Equipment

Fencing

Office Equipment

Plant & equipment

Radio

Security

Vehicles

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
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The total is based on an estimate count of game reflected per year as follows: (2019: 633) and (2018: 503). The current period of fair 
value disposal relates to game that was hunted and through live sales.  The fair value of the game is based on the market related 
prices and is therefore classified as level 2 fair values in terms of IFRS 13. The fair value of the game relates to the price adjustment of 
the buffalo and other biological species. The addition is based on the physical count performed at year end. The most significant 
categories are the Buffalo, Giraffe, Zebra, and Wildebeest.

The amount payable to Umgeni Water is unsecured, bears an interest at 8.10% per annum,  (2018: 7.34%) and  there is a repayment 
plan in place. The amount received from Umgeni Water was used to purchase the Head Office building for R 11,5 million. There is a  
long term payment plan in place which commenced in August 2016.

5. Intangible Assets

6. Umgeni Water - Intercompany Receivable 

7. Non - Current Liabilities

Reconciliation of biological assets - 2018

Opening 
balance

Fair Value on
Disposals

Fair Value
Adjustment

Biological 
Assets -

Disposals 
Shongweni

Total

Biological assets 4 244 242 (86 634) (562 217) (371 700) 3 223 691

2019 2018
Cost / Accumulated Carrying value Cost / Accumulated Carrying value

Valuation Amortisation Valuation Amortisation
Computer software 1 016 484 (925 952) 90 531 922 875 (737 132) 185 743

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2019
Opening 
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 185 743 93 609 (188 821) 90 531

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018

Opening 
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 226 660 200 932 (241 849) 185 743

Current

Umgeni Water: Intercompany Receivable 7 477 392 5 557 635
7 477 392 5 557 635

Umgeni Water - Loan Account (11 163 848) (12 099 007)

The loan account is made up of:
Due within one year 1 815 269 1 765 214
Due within two - ten years 9 348 579 10 333 793

11 163 848 12 099 007

2018Figures in Rand 2019
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8. Trade And Other Receivables

9. Cash And Cash Equivalents

Accrued Income 54 273 34 971
Deposits 237 537 204 917
Prepaid Expenses 72 060 12 496
Sundry Debtors 216 320 256 302
Trade Receivables 890 063 808 999
VAT
Allowance for Credit Losses

-
(133 516)

1 123 395
-

1 336 737 2 441 080

Non-current assets 223 345 190 724
Current assets 1 113 392 2 250 356

1 336 737 2 441 080

The company estimates that the carrying value of the above trade receivables approximates their fair values. All trade and other 
receivables are expected to be received within one year. The company's exposure to credit risk is inherent in this trade receivables. 
Credit periods differ with  credit risk profiles to the extent that receivable amounts are estimated to be less than their associated 
carrying values. The entity has opted to account for loans and receivables on an amortised cost basis which is the same as the 
previous accounting standard and therefore the changes in IFRS 9 do not have an impact.

The amount receivable from SARS for VAT is offset between the input and output VAT.

Trade and other receivables impaired

The Debtors Age Analysis was analysed and debt was provided for as follows: The ageing of this debt is as follows:

2018Figures in Rand 2019

   180 Days 150 Days 120 Days 90 Days 60 Days 30 Days Current Total
Balance 116 998.00 4 378.00 12 140.00 2 100.00 72 144.00 4 195.00 678 108.00 890 063.00
Loss Rate 70% 59 % 60 % 10 % 10 % 10 % 5 % -
Expected 81 899.00 2 584.00 7 284.00 210.00 7 214.00 420.00 33 905.00 133 516.00
Credit
Losses

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Opening Balance - -
Allowance for Credit Losses (133 516) -
Closing Balance (133 516) -

Cash and Cas hEquivalents consist of:

Bank Balances 587 331 603 516
Cash on Hand 34 138 62 005
Investment - RMB 8 725 537 5 057 737

9 347 006 5 723 258
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10.    Share Capital

11.    Equity Contribution From Parent

12.    Trade And Other Payables

13.    Provisions 

The amount of R 30 million related to once-off funding received from Umgeni Water in 2014. It was specified that this money will be 
utilised for the upgrading and improvements of the Eco-Tourism business and the Infrastructure elements of the business. The total 
budget was spent in 2018/2019. During each financial year the amount spent was released to the Income Statement for minor 
improvements and purchasing of assets were recorded under Plant and Equipment.

The entity has opted to account for loans and payables on an amortised cost basis which is the same as the previous accounting 
standard and therefore the changes in IFRS 9 do not have an impact. All trade and other payables are expected to be repaid 
within 1 year.

Performance Bonus

The organisation has provided for performance bonuses as a benefit to all its employees based on the performance of
the organisation which will be approved at the discretion of the Board. The liability for the performance bonus is based on the policy.

2018Figures in Rand 2019

Authorised
1000 Ordinary shares of R1 each 1 000 1 000

Issued
100 ordinary shares of R1 each 100 100

The unissued shares remain under the control of the directors.

Trade Payables 2 520 361 1 974 586
Revenue Received in Advance 1 703 334 1 344 075
VAT 557 196 -
Accrued Bonus 941 364 956 737
Accrued Expense 269 017 609 624
Accrued Leave Pay 2 515 297 2 342 384

8 506 569 7 227 406

Reconciliation of provisions - 2019

Opening 
balance

Additions Utilised 
during the

year

Total

Performance Bonus 1 546 279 434 204 (972 958) 1 007 525

1 546 279 434 204 (972 958) 1 007 525

Reconciliation of provisions - 2018

Opening 
balance

Additions Utilised 
during the

year

Total

Performance Bonus 1 303 580 1 488 055 (1 245 356) 1 546 279

1 303 580 1 488 055 (1 245 356) 1 546 279
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2018Figures in Rand 2019

14.  Corporate Social Investment

15.    Revenue

Provisions: CSI - Long Term

Opening 
Balance

1 010 137

Additions     Utilised
during the 
year

Total

1 010 137

1 010 137 1 010 137

The Corporate Social Investment for an amount of R 1 010 137.00, relates to Community Levy amounts that were levied in the prior 
years from the customers entering Msinsi reserves and for the benefit of communities surrounding the dams which Msinsi operates, 
these funds will be used for Community projects that will be outlined in the plan.

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The entity has elected to apply IFRS 15 for the current financial year, with no restatement of comparative information.
The entity applied the five step model as per the IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customer, to determine when to recognise 
revenue and at what amount. The following approach was used:

1. Identify the contract with a customer
2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract
3. Determine the transaction price
4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation in the contract; and
5. Recognise revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf 
of third parties.

The entity provides for various revenue streams.

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised and has 
replaced IAS 18.

The entity has adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method, with the effect of initially applying this standard at the date of 
initial application (January 2019).

Revenue is made up of the following:

Chalets/Lodges - Eco Tourism 2 967 355 2 809 587
Campsite - Eco Tourism 1 675 037 1 978 239
Eco Tourism - Other 936 484 1 207 539
Boat Registration - Eco Tourism 487 174 443 251
Tented Accommodation - Eco Tourism 332 322 554 182
Boat Lockers - Eco Tourism 414 528 552 446
Conference - Eco Tourism 589 762 328 358
Environmental Management Fees 42 189 000 40 180 000
Wild Card Revenue - Eco Tourism 3 394 912 1 830 930
Special Events Area - Eco Tourism 636 137 583 359
Gate Revenue - Eco Tourism 2 554 450 3 140 163

56 177 160 53 608 054
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2018Figures in Rand 2019

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods or service. Determining the timing of the transfer 
of control at a point in time or over time.

The details of the new significant accounting policies and the nature of the change to previous accounting policies in relation to the 
entity’s various goods and services are set below.

Type of Product 
or Service

Contract with 
a customer

When performance 
obligation was Satisfied? Transaction Price

Performance 
obligations 

in the contract

Performance obligations are 
satisfied monthly as services are 
rendered and reported on a 
quarterly basis i.e. they are 
therefore fully satisfied by 30
June. Payments are received in 
the quarter subsequent to the 
one where services were 
rendered after confirmation of 
the balances with the Parent 
Company.

Performance obligations are 
satisfied monthly as services are 
rendered and reported on a 
quarterly basis i.e. they are 
therefore fully satisfied by 
30 June.
Tax invoice are raised at the 
beginning of the month and are 
payable within seven days of 
receipt.

The performance obligation is 
met over time since the access 
control to Msinsi Holdings parks 
is  for the duration of one year 
from purchase date of the 
membership therefore revenue
is recognised over time.

Management Fee A  Service Level 
agreement was 
signed

Provide 
Water Resource 
Management

R 42 189 000

Rental Income Entered into an
agreement to lease 
office space

Use of office space
and parking

R 603 578

Wildcard Revenue Entered into an
agreement
with Sanparks to be 
one of the wild card 
partner

Access control and
sale of wildcards 
into Msinsi 
managed dams 
and other dams 
controlled by other 
partners.

R 3 394 912
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2018Figures in Rand 2019

Type of Product 
or Service

Contract with 
a customer

When performance 
obligation was Satisfied? Transaction Price

Performance 
obligations 

in the contract

Performance obligations are 
satisfied monthly as services are 
rendered and reported on a 
quarterly basis i.e. they are 
therefore fully satisfied by 
30 June.
The tax invoice is raised at the 
beginning of the month and 
payment is received in the 
following month.

Performance obligations are 
satisfied monthly as services are 
rendered and reported on a 
quarterly basis i.e. they are 
therefore fully satisfied by 
30 June. 
Payments were received before 
the events and revenue was 
recognised after the event.

Boat Locker Entered    into    an
agreement with 
customer to store 
their boat

Providing space for
customers to store 
their boats

R 414 528

Special Events Hire out venue for
events

Providing venue for
organisers to hold 
events

R636 137

Management Fee R 42 189 000 Yes None

Rental Income R 603 578 Yes None

Wildcard Revenue R 3 394 912 Yes Yes

Boat Locker R 414 528 Yes None

Special Events R636 137 Yes None

Type of Product or
Service

Allocation of 
Transaction Price

Recognise Revenue Impact

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

R 42 189 000

R 603 578

R 3 394 912

R 414 528

R636 137
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2018Figures in Rand 2019

16.    Other Operating Income

17.    Fair Value Adjustments

18 Other Operating Expenditure

Other Rental Income 603 578 609 832
Sundry Income 196 667 864 462

800 245 1 474 294

Biological assets 1 344 514 (562 217)

Other operating expenses are made up of the following:
Advertising and Promotions 524 026 270 449
Alien Plant 1 122 951 1 306 201
Animal expenses 29 890 20 585
Bank charges 352 520 418 217
Body Corporate Levies 135 224 132 932
Conference Expenses 233 611 154 091
Conference - staff 78 089 6 977
Consulting fees 247 907 127 754
Consumables 32 563 21 826
Directors Emoluments 379 723 345 752
Directors Expense 7 089 28 186
Displays/exhibitions 87 865 30 192
Donations - 371 700
Electricity/Water and Rates 1 799 512 1 951 553
Environmental Education 1 581 61
Events 36 549 7 616
Interest Paid 6 729 311 787
Fuel 1 105 904 1 074 872
Gas Supplies 62 075 59 567
Hunting - 1 436
Insurance 99 060 176 712
Kiosk Purchases 105 838 143 365
Laundry and Cleaning 344 084 341 195
Lease of office equipment 245 299 236 610
Legal costs 356 309 68 791
Licenses 87 851 85 296
Allowance for Credit Losses 133 516 -
Postage 72 864
Printing and Stationery 286 213 228 044
Private Security 1 617 905 1 610 527
Protective Clothing and Uniforms 240 946 217 749
Public Relations 18 700 171 340
Security levy (PSIRA) 7 664 -
Skills Development Levy 309 089 288 308
Staff Bursary 29 300 77 690
Staff Recruitment 5 190 48 285
Staff Training & Development 465 222 460 624

Notes to the Annual Financial StatementsMSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019  
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE (continued)
Staff Welfare 98 965 124 838
Subscriptions and Membership 239 914 293 176
Sundry expenses 193 636 216 870
Telephone and Fax 565 955 717 133
Travel and Accommodation- local 117 539 117 372
Visitor facilities 113 085 144 549
WCA Contributions 416 756 413 312
Wild Card expenses 915 647 793 982
Loss on write off on biological assets - 86 634
Write off on moveable assets 1 900 196 195

13 259 461 13 901 212

19.    Operating Profit

Operating profit for the year is stated after charging / (crediting) the following, amongst others:

20.    Employee Cost 

Employee costs

Leases

Operating lease charges
Lease of land Albert Falls 147 190 239 659

Auditor's remuneration - external
Audit Fees - External Auditors 270 494 377 328
Audit Fees - Internal Auditors 640 870 627 222

911 364 1 004 550

Depreciation and Amortisation
Amortisation of intangible assets 188 821 241 849
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3 347 194 3 708 375
Total Depreciation and Amortisation 3 536 015 3 950 224

Employee Costs

Salaries, Wages, Bonuses and Other Benefits 35 366 291 34 581 851

Number of Employees
117 117

Basic 19 065 392 18 429 080
Bonus 1 410 533 1 530 701
Medical aid - company contributions 3 927 871 3 438 705
UIF 211 160 230 139
Standby Allowance 156 580 147 001
Cellphone Allowance 70 106 62 602
Provision for performance and leave pay 1 181 289 1 360 384
Overtime 803 210 767 158
Security Guards - Fixed Term Contract 1 242 385 1 535 921
Travel Allowance 1 626 924 1 538 697
Casual Employees 752 813 891 591
Housing Allowance 2 074 522 1 958 408
Retirement benefit plans 2 843 506 2 691 464

35 366 291 34 581 851

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
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21.    Finance Income

22.    Finance Costs

23.    Taxation

24.    Capital Commitments

Finance Income - Bank 519 152 392 673

Finance Cost - Umgeni Water 847 443 840 239

The entity is exempt from tax in terms of s10(1)(cA)(ii) of the Income Tax Act.

Opening Balance 172 804 947 356
Amount Spend - 30 June 2019 (172 804) (774 552)
Total capital commitments will be spent in June 2019 - 172 804

Capital Commitments are made up of:
Approved and contracted for commitments - 172 804
Approved and not yet contracted for commitments - -

- 172 804

25.   Operating Lease Commitments   
Operating leases are recognised on a  straight-line basis over the period of the lease as per the requirement of IFRS.

Lessee

Lease of Photocopier Machine

The company entered into an agreement with Leaf Technology for the rental of the photocopier machine. The rental contract was 
over a period of 5 years with an annual escalation rate of 10%.  The office equipment rental agreement expired on 31 August 2018.  
As per the agreement in Clause 1 after the contract expires a further 90 days’ notice period was given and the contract official 
terminated on the 30 November 2018 from the date of the initial contract.  Currently the company is operating on a month to month 
contract.

Lease of Land - Albert Falls

The company entered into an agreement with EPW Solomon for the rental of the Farm Otto's Bluff No. 16112, situated in the 
Administrative District of Natal, Province of KwaZulu-Natal. The rental contract is over a period of 25 years with an annual escalation 
rate of 10%. The farm rental agreement will expire on 30 June 2022.

Lessor

Rental of Head Office Premises    
 The company entered into an agreement with Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd for the rental of Block C - Section 8 and Section 9,
18 Old Main Road, Hillcrest. The rental contract is over a period of 3 years with an annual escalation rate of 10%. The building rental 
agreement will expire on 31 August 2019 and this agreement will not be renewed going forward.

Up to one year - 98 752

Up to one year 289 990 263 630
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 669 880 959 870

959 870 1 223 500

Notes to the Annual Financial StatementsMSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
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26.    Risk Management

The company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fair value and interest rate risk), credit risk, 
liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The company's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 
the financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the company's financial performance.

The directors provide principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as, interest rate risk, 
credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative instruments and investment of excess liquidity.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a contractual counterparty will default on its contractual obligations to the company and that the company 
would suffer financial loss as a consequence of such a default. The company's credit risk is mainly limited to their related party 
transactions and sundry receivables.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

Exposure to credit risk 

The company manages its liquidity risk by regularly monitoring its projected cash flow requirements against its cash resources and 
unutilised borrowing facilities. Surplus cash resources are only invested with large institutions with strong credit ratings. Forecast 
liquidity represents the company's expected cash inflows, principally generated from the ordinary course of the business, less the 
company's contractually determined cash flow inflows and outflows rests in the expected ageing profiles of the underlying assets 
and liabilities. The maturity profile is presented below:

Liquidity Risk

The maturity profile  is within 1 year.

Cash Flow and interest rate risk

The company's only significant interest-bearing asset/liability is the intercompany payable which bears interest at 8.1% per annum.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for the intercompany loan account. The 
analysis is prepared assuming that the liability at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year. If interest rates had been 50 
basis points (0,5%) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the company's loss for the period ended 30 June 2019, 
would increase/decrease.

2018Figures in Rand 2019

Net Intercompany receivables 7 477 392 5 557 635
Trade and other receivables 1 113 392 2 250 356
Cash and cash equivalents 9 347 006 5 723 258

17 937 790 13 531 249

Trade Creditors and other Payables 5 049 908 3 928 285
Accrued Bonuses 941 364 956 737
Accrued Leave Pay 2 515 297 2 342 384

8 506 569 7 227 406

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Up to one year 101 031 551 078
Later than one year and not later than 5 years - 101 031

101 031 652 109
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2018Figures in Rand 2019

Capital Risk Management

The Company reviews their total capital employed on a regular basis and makes use of several indicative ratios which are appropriate 
to the nature of the company's operations and consistent with conventional industry measures. The principal ratios used in this 
review are:

 Gearing, defined as net debt divided by total capital employed; and
 Return on capital  employed, defined as underlying operating profit before tax divided by average capital employed.

27.    Related Parties

Msinsi Holdings is wholly owned by  Umgeni Water.  Umgeni Water Services SOC Ltd, the Department of Water and Sanitation and 
Durban Water Recycling (Pty) Ltd are part of the Umgeni Water group structure; whilst Msinsi Holdings therefore has a relationship 
with the entities, Msinsi Holdings does not transact directly with them.

Material Related Party Transactions and Balances

28.    Fair Value Adjustments  
This note provides information about how the company determines fair value of various financial assets and liabilities. Fair values of 
financial assets are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Biological assets are measured at the fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. There have been no transfers between level 1 and 2 during the period.

Auction prices for similar assets in similar condition.
The carrying amount of the following assets and liabilities are not fair valued on a recurring basis as they are considered to 
approximate fair value.

Umgeni Water
Intercompany Receivable - Current 7 477 392 5 557 635
Loan Account - Current 1 815 269 1 765 214
Interest Paid 847 443 840 239
Environmental Management Fee 42 189 000 40 180 000
Intercompany Payable - Non Current 9 348 579 10 333 793

Financial Assets/Liabilities Fair value as 
at 30 June

2019

Fair value as 
at 30 June

2018

Fair value
Hierarchy

Valuation 
Techniques 

Inputs

Unobservable
Inputs

Biological Assets 4 358 292 3 233 691 Level 2 Auction prices N/A

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Related Party - Current 7 477 392 5 557 635
Trade and Other Receivables 1 336 737 2 441 080

8 814 129 7 998 715

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Related party - Non Current 9 348 579 10 333 793
Trade and Other Payables 8 506 569 7 227 406
Related party - Current 1 815 269 1 765 214

19 670 417 19 326 413

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Msinsi Holdings SOC Limited

2019 Directors Fees

T B Hlongwa

Designation
Non-Executive

Salary Benefits Other
- - -

Total
-

P N Mkhize
S Shabalala

Non-Executive
Independent Non-Executive

- - -
- - 113 537

-
113 537

M Ndlovu Independent Non-Executive - - 132 215 132 215
Dr B Mkhize
M Pillay

Independent Non-Executive
Non-Executive

- - 133 971
- - -

133 971
-

- - 379 723 379 723

2018 Directors Fees

T B Hlongwa

Designation
Non-Executive

Salary Benefits Other
- - -

Total
-

SW Gillham
S Shabalala

Non-Executive
Independent Non-Executive

- - -
- - 100 816

-
100 816

M Ndlovu Independent Non-Executive - - 122 162 122 162
Dr B Mkhize Independent Non-Executive - - 122 774 122 774

- - 345 752 345 752

29.    Retirement Benefits  
Defined Contribution Plan  
The company contributes to a defined contribution plan which is governed by the Pension Fund Act (No.24 of 1956). The only 
obligation of the company is to make the specified contribution to the scheme. The total contributions as at 30 June 2019, amounted 
to R 2 843 506.08 (2018: R 2 691 464.46).

30.    Directors' Emoluments

The directors of the company who are executives of Umgeni Water do not receive any director's remuneration from the company.
Details of the Remuneration of Directors of Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Ltd are disclosed below:

31.    Prescribed Officer's Emoluments

Details of the Remuneration of Prescribed Officers of Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Ltd are disclosed below:

Prescribed officers
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2018Figures in Rand 2019

2019

M Dlamini

Designation
Executive

Salary
1 519 131

Benefits Other
- 249 988

Total
1 769 119

M Ngubane Executive 976 534 - 167 038 1 143 572
N Mthembu Executive 939 563 - 93 821 1 033 384

3 435 228 - 510 847 3 946 075

2018

M Dlamini

Designation
Executive

Salary
1 249 939

Benefits Other
- 166 477

Total
1 416 416

M Ngubane Executive 929 847 - 36 208 966 055
N Mthembu Executive 746 617 - 11 386 758 003

2 926 403 - 214 071 3 140 474

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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32.    Discontinuation Of Operations - Shongweni Dam

The land claim at Shongweni Dam and Game Reserve has been concluded in 2014.  An exit plan for Shongweni Dam was prepared 
and approved by the Board as a result Msinsi Holdings has discontinued operations or management of Shongweni Dam with effect 
from 1 July 2018. This will result in a reduction of revenue thus affecting the cash generated from operations in the cash flow 
statement. It must be noted that Shongweni Dam is not a significant operation of Msinsi Holdings with the dam generating 7.5 % of 
total revenue including the management fee. The profit/loss generated from Shongweni Dam for the period ended 30 June 2018 is 
as follows:

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure amounting to R 43 728.00 was incurred in the current year and can be summarised as    
follows:

An amount of R 20 191.92 relates to interest charged on the late payment of utility accounts, late payment to Sanlam and payment of 
traffic fines. An amount of R 13 463.00 was recovered from the employees who were found to be negligent. The outstanding balance 
will be recovered from staff in the following financial year.

33.    Going Concern

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

34.    Contingent Liabilities

The contingent liabilities that were pending for 2017/2018 were resolved in 2018/2019. There are no contingent liabilities identified in 
the current year.

35.    Subsequent Events

A Fence Minder whose contract was terminated at the end of June 2018 due to all casual posts needing to be advertised went to 
report the matter to the Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA). Notices for conciliation which took place on 
1 August 2018 and arbitration which took place on 18 September 2018 were sent directly to one of the Msinsi sites and not to Head 
Office resulting in the company not being represented by the Human Resources department at the hearings which took place. The 
CCMA issued default arbitration and awarded a settlement of R19 200 to the employee, being 6 months compensation. The matter 
was brought onto the attention of the Human Resources department in July 2019 when a Sheriff of the court visited the office and 
ex-employee. The legal team advised that the award be settled as the cost of challenging will exceed the amount awarded 
by the CCMA.

36.    Fruitless And Wasteful Expenditure

The company has incurred the following Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019:
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Revenue - 4 089 883
Expenditure - (4 089 883)
Profit/Loss - -

Opening balance at 1 July 2018 10 579 4 416
Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure relating to current year 43 728 14 561
Amount recovered from staff (13 463) (3 982) 
Amounts condoned by appropriate authority - (4 416)
Closing balance at 30 June 2019 40 844 10 579

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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An amount of R 20 519.03 relates to a payment made to Vodacom for a 3G card that was used for private purposes. This matter is 
currently under investigation.

An amount of R3 017.05 relates to a payment made to an ex-employee whose parent cover was not cancelled in 2014 from the funeral 
scheme following the passing of the parents. The HR Department is liaising with Sanlam to recover this amount.

37.    Irregular Expenditure

The company has incurred the following Irregular Expenditure from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019:

Irregular expenditure has been incurred due to non-compliance with the Supply Chain Management laws and regulations/policy.  
Upon investigation it was resolved that all expenditure is valid company expenses which was incurred in support of business 
requirements.

An amount of R 19 780.00 relates to payment for the purchase of Livestock for the Inanda Dam Community. The Corporate Social 
Investment Policy and Supply Chain Management Policy were not adhered to. This will be recovered from the employee.

38.    Correction Of Errors 

Property Plant and Equipment 

In 2017/2018 Msinsi Holdings (SOC) Ltd discontinued operating at Shongweni Dam and the Board approved the exit plan. The assets 
that were donated to Shongweni Dam were still appearing on the Fixed Asset Register as at 30 June 2018. A prior year adjustment of 
an amount of R4 102.00 was done to remove these assets from the Fixed Asset Register.

A correction of R 12 227.84 relates to a reversal of depreciation for 2017/2018, on assets with a value of less than R 2000.00 
which were incorrectly included in the Fixed Asset Register.

A prior year adjustment of R 16 371.00 relates to all assets that had a value of less than R 2000.00 on the fixed asset register which were 
removed by adjusting the cost and the accumulated depreciation.

In 2017/2018, the depreciation for assets were understated due to incorrect purchase date recorded on the fixed asset module for an 
amount of R 7 913.00.

The cost and accumulated depreciation for radios and firearms were not included in the prior year annual financial statements.

Municipal   Rates

In 2016/2017 there was an oversight in terms of recording an accrual for an amount of R 17 010.00 which relates to the rates account 
for the Head Office building which was in dispute with the municipality. This amount was paid in 2018/2019 resulting in an 
adjustment being made in the prior year opening balance.
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Opening Balance at 1 July 2018 433 893 1 588 334
Recovery of salary paid in error (7 428) 7 428
Irregular expenditure relating to the current year 1 767 313 426 465
Irregular expenditure relating to prior years identified in the current year 2 884 750 -
Amounts condoned by appropriate authority (426 465) (1 588 334)
Closing balance at 30 June 2019 4 652 063 433 893

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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In 2017/2018 there was an oversight in terms of recording an accrual for an amount of R 86 737.00 which relates to rates account for 
the Head Office building which was in dispute with the municipality. This amount was paid in 2018/2019 resulting in an adjustment 
being made in the prior year opening balance.

Intangible   Assets

Intangible Assets relating to the annual renewal of licenses for 2017/2018 had an incorrect useful life which resulted in a prior year 
adjustment of R 19 895.00 being done with the change in the amortisation period from 2 years to 1 year.

Capital  Commitments 

The amount spent during the year was overstated by R89 249; however, the balance is correct.

Corporate Social  Investment 

An amount of R 685 201.00 relating to 2% of revenue allocated to corporate social investment projects was incorrectly disclosed 
under Trade and Other Payables instead of as a contingent liability, as there was no specific projects or initiatives which were 
identified.

39.    Deviations

The SCM policy and procedure allows for deviations from the SCM process in cases where it is impractical to follow the SCM process 
for the required goods and services and for emergencies. Paragraph 6.6 (i) of the SCM procedure further allows for exemptions from 
following the SCM process for items where it has been proven impractical and which are procured on a regular basis. Deviations and 
exemptions have been incurred as follows for 30 June 2019:
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The correction of error can be summarised as follows:

Effect on Statement of Changes in Equity 2019
Decrease in Retained Income 810 903

Effect on Statement of Financial Position
Decrease in Property Plant and Equipment

-
(199 175)

Decrease un Accumulated Depreciation 195 073
Decrease in Property Plant and Equipment (57 268)
Decrease in Accumulated Depreciation 40 897
Increase in Accumulated Depreciation 7 913
Increase In Trade and Other Payables (103 747)

Capital Commitments
Opening Balance 947 356
Amount spent in June 2018 (774 548)
Total Capital Commitment to be spent in June 2019 172 808

Deviations for the current year 7 199 727 2 088 700
- -

Total 7 199 727 2 088 700

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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41.    Reclassification Of Opening Balances

RECLASSIFICATION OF OPENING BALANCES FOR THE PRIOR YEAR PERIOD:

Trade and Other Receivables

An amount relating to Electricity Deposit was split between current and non-current assets due to the nature of the deposit refund 
being long-term.
Non-Current Assets      190 724.00
Current Assets                                                                                                                 (190 724.00)

Finance Cost

Interest Paid due to the late payment of accounts was reclassified from Finance Costs to penalties as that does not relate to any form 
of finance.
Interest Paid       311 787.00
Finance Cost       (311 787.00)

Leave Pay

The leave pay amount has been reclassified from leave pay provision to accruals as the liability is owed to the employee.
Leave Pay Provision      (2 342 384.00) 
Trade and Other Payable – Accrued Leave     2 342 384.00

Corporate Social Investment – Long Term

The Corporate Social Investment Long Term liability was reclassified to a Long Term Provision as while the amount levied to the 
customer in previous years was incorporated in the tariffs, there were no identified projects relating to this amount.
Long Term Provision      1 010 137.00
Non-Current Liability      (1 010 137.00)
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40.    Cash Generated From Operations

Profit / (Loss) for the year 2 514 849 (1 091 489)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 3 347 194 3 708 375
Fair Value (Gain )/ Loss (1 344 514) 562 217
Amortisation 188 821 241 849
Finance Income (519 512) (392 673)
Finance Cost 847 443 840 239
Movement in Provisions (538 753) (1 709 031)
Allowance for Credit Losses 133 516 -
Biological Asset Disposal - Shongweni Dam - 371 700
Write off on Moveable Assets 1 900 196 195
Write off on biological assets - 86 634
Changes in working capital:
Trade and Other Receivables 970 827 (91 691)
Movement in Loan Account (3 702 360) (1 008 557)
Trade and Other Payables 1 279 161 985 500

3 178 572 2 699 268
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Detailed Income Statement

Revenue
Boat Registration - Eco Tourism 487 174 443 251
Campsites- Eco - Tourism 1 675 037 1 978 239
Chalets/Lodges - Eco Tourism 2 967 355 2 809 587
Conferences - Eco Tourism 589 762 328 358
Eco - Tourism - Other 936 484 1 207 539
Gate Revenue - Eco Tourism 2 554 450 3 140 163
Boat Locker 414 528 552 446
Environmental Management Fees 42 189 000 40 180 000
Special Events Area - Eco Tourism 636 137 583 359
Tented Accommodation - Eco Tourism 332 322 554 182
Wild Card Revenue - Eco Tourism 3 394 912 1 830 930

56 177 160 53 608 054

Other Operating Income
Rental Income 603 578 609 832
Sundry Income 196 667 864 462

800 245 1 474 294

Other Operating Gains
Fair Value Adjustment 1 344 514 (562 217)

Other operating expenses
Advertising and Promotions 524 026 270 449
Alien Plant 1 122 951 1 306 201
Amortisation 188 821 241 849
Animal expenses 29 890 20 585
Audit fees 911 364 1 004 550
Allowance for Credit Losses 133 516 -
Bank charges 352 520 418 217
Body Corporate Levies 135 224 132 932
Conference - local 78 089 6 977
Conferences expenses 233 611 154 091
Consulting fees 247 907 127 754
Consumables 32 563 21 826
Depreciation 3 347 194 3 708 375
Directors Emoluments 379 723 345 752
Directors Expense 7 089 28 186
Displays/exhibitions 87 865 30 192
Donations - 371 700
Electricity/Water and Rates 1 799 512 1 951 553
Environmental Education 1 581 61
Events 36 549 7 616
Interest and penalties 6 729 311 787
Fuel 1 105 904 1 074 872
Gas Supplies 62 075 59 567
Hunting - 1 436
Insurance 99 060 176 712
Kiosk Purchases 105 838 143 365
Laundry and Cleaning 344 084 341 195
Lease of office equipment 245 299 236 610

MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
(Registration number 1992/003933/30) Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019  
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Lease rentals on operating lease 147 190 239 659
Legal costs 356 309 68 791
Licenses 87 851 85 296
Loss on write of on moveable assets 1 900 196 195
Loss on write off on biological assets - 86 634
Postage 72 864
Printing and Stationery 286 213 228 044
Private Security 1 617 905 1 610 527
Protective Clothing and Uniforms 240 946 217 749
Public Relations 18 700 171 340
Repairs and Maintenance 2 258 458 1 486 559
Salaries & Wages 35 366 291 34 581 851
Security levy (PSIRA) 7 664 -
Skills Development Levy 309 089 288 308
Staff Bursary 29 300 77 690
Staff Recruitment 5 190 48 285
Staff Training & Development 465 222 460 624
Staff Welfare 98 965 124 838
Subscriptions and Membership 239 914 293 176
Sundry expenses 193 635 216 868
Telephone and Fax 565 955 717 133
Travel and Accommodation- local 117 539 117 372
Visitor facilities 113 085 144 549
WCA Contributions 416 756 413 312
Wild Card expenses 915 647 793 982

55 478 780 55 164 055

Finance Income 519 152 392 673
Finance Cost (847 443) (840 239)
Total Comprehensive Profit / (Loss) for the period 2 514 849 (1 091 489)

 

Detailed Income Statement MSINSI HOLDINGS (SOC) LIMITED
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Msinsi was established in 1992 by the late Dr. Ian Player.  Dr. 
Player had approached Umgeni Water and proposed to look 

biodiversity value around the dam.
Dr. Ian player had an isiZulu language mentor Mr. Magqubu 
Ntombela (who’ll be referred hereafter as “Magqubu).  
Magqubu is one of the pioneer Field Rangers of Imfolozi Game 
Reserve.  The name for the newly acquired wilderness area was 
inspired by Mr. Ntombela who brought an Erythrina 
lysistemon-Common coral tree leaf and suggested that the 
organisation be named “Msinsi”.  Msinsi is the isiZulu name for 
coral tree. 
The Msinsi tree holds a significant spiritual meaning of the 
relationship between human and nature in that the three petals 
on the leaf symbolize the connection of the earth, people and 
environment.  Magqubu went on further to explain that the 
Msinsi tree thrived both in rural and urban areas and therefore 
the name was befitting for areas of wilderness in semi- urban 
areas such as Shongweni, Albert Falls etc.   

Information extracted from: 
Ian Player Magqubu Ntombela Foundation website
African Conservation Foundation

In the year 2000 Umgeni Water took Msinsi over from the 
Wilderness Foundation and expanded to Nagle Dam in 1993, 
Albert Falls and Hazelmere in 1996 and later Inanda Dam.

Some of the most valuable uses of the Msinsi Tree

The Common Coral Tree: 
Erythrina lysistemon is not just a decorative tree: 
It is an important component of the ecosystem, 
Providing food and shelter for a variety of birds, animals and 
insects, 
Many birds and insects feed on its nectar, 
Vervet monkeys eat its flower buds,
Kudu, klipspringer, black rhino and baboons graze on its leaves,
Black rhinos, elephants and baboons eat the bark,
Bush pigs eat its roots,
The brown-headed parrot eats and disperses its seed, 
Birds such as barbets and woodpeckers nest in the trunks of 
dead trees, 
Swarms of bees often inhabit its hollow trunks.

Erythrina lysistemon is also widely used and 

enjoyed by mankind:

It is regarded as royal tree, and were planted on the graves of 
Zulu chiefs. 
Planted as living fences around kraals, homesteads and
waterholes
The flowering of the trees has been, and still is, a good signal to 
the people that it is time to plant their crops.
It is thought to have both medicinal and magical properties by 
many people. 
The tribal chiefs believe that they could command respect of 
the people if they wash in the Msinsi bark soaked water. 
It is believed to make the birth process easier by tying a sliver of 
bark around the bundle of herbs before being boiled.
The seeds are used as lucky charms. 
The seeds also contain toxic alkaloids as well as anti-blood-clot-
ting substances that may be of value in the treatment of throm-
boses.Photo: Magqubu Ntombela- the historian Field 

Ranger who gave Msinsi Holdings its name and 
meaning.  In this photo he is wearing a hat that is 

decorated with the Msinsi leaf.
Source: Portrait of my friend by Ian Player. 

History Of Msinsi Holdings And Its Origin
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